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Forward-looking Statements

Portions of the narrative set forth in this docutrtbat are not statements of historical or curfanots are forwardeoking statements. O

actual future performance may materially diffemfrthat contemplated by the forwaabking statements as a result of a variety ofdiectThes
factors include, in addition to those mentione@wlsere herein:

Actual sales, operating rates and margins for -

Uncertainties relating to the fourth quarter 201%gical inventory and possible theft at our Albugues facility, including (i) th
outcome of our investigations and (ii) the timinglamount, if any, of any insurance proceeds tlamight receive;

The global econom

The condition of the markets that we serve, whetledfined geographically or by segment, with the anaparket segments bei
consumer electronics, industrial components andnoertial aerospace, defense and science, medi@lyerautomotive electroni
telecommunications infrastructure and appliance;

Changes in product mix and the financial condittbgustomer:

Our success in developing and introducing newdpets and new product ramip-rates

Our success in passing through the costs of ravermabg to customers or otherwise mitigating flutitug prices for those materie
including the impact of fluctuating prices on intety values;

Our success in integrating acquired businessdsiding EIS Optics Limited (EIS) and Aerospace M&almposites Limited (AMC
Our success in completing the announced facilitysotidations and achieving the expected ben

Our success in implementing our strategic pkams the timely and successful completion and siaref any capital projects, includi
the new primary beryllium facility in EImore, Ohio;

The availability of adequate lines of credit and #ssociated interest ra

Other financial factors, including the cost andilmmlity of raw materials (both base and precioustals), physical inventory valuatic
(including the impact of losses due to theft), éteancing fees, tax rates, exchange rates, per@iets and required cash contribut
and other employee benefit costs, energy costalategy compliance costs, the cost and availabdftinsurance, and the impact of
stock price on the cost of incentive compensatiang

The uncertainties related to the impact of warptést activities and acts of G¢

Changes in government regulatory requirements leémnactment of new legislation that impacts oligatons and operatior

The conclusion of pending litigation matters in@clance with our expectation that there will benmaterial adverse effec

The timing and ability to achieve further efficiéeg and synergies resulting from our name chandepesduct line alignment under
Materion name and Materion brand; and

The risk factors set forth elsewhere in ltemdfAhis Form 10K.
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Item 1. BUSINESS

Materion Corporation, through its wholly owned sdigies, is an integrated producer of high perfance advanced engineered mate
used in a variety of electrical, electronic, thelrawad structural applications. Our products arel $olo numerous markets, including consu
electronics, industrial components and commeraebspace, defense and science, medical, energynaiiNe electronics, telecommunicati
infrastructure and appliance. As of December 3122W0e had 2,833 employees.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has opersiiio the United States, Europe and Asia. The Cagnpas four reportable segme
Advanced Material Technologies, Performance All@eryllium and Composites and Technical Materials.

All Other includes our parent company expenseserotiorporate charges and the operating results aiefibn Services Inc., a wha
owned subsidiary that provides administrative @ndricial oversight services to our other businessea cosplus basis. Corporate employ
not included in a reportable segment totaled 108f &ecember 31, 2012.

We use our Investor Relations web site, http://ni@tecom, as a channel for routine distribution of impottariormation, including new
releases, analyst presentations and financialrirdtion. We post filings as soon as reasonably igedie after they are electronically filed w
or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,rtprly, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-QJ &8&K; our proxy statements; and ¢
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on our Invefelations web site. In addition, this web
allows investors and other interested persons do sp to automatically receiveneail alerts when we post press releases and fial
information on our web site. The SEC also maintaingeb site, www.sec.ggwhat contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and oth
information regarding issuers who file electrorligalith the SEC. The content on any web site reféiio in this Form 16 is not incorporate
by reference into this Form 10-K unless expresstga.

ADVANCED MATERIAL TECHNOLOGIES

Sales for this segment were $847.8 million, or 66%otal sales, in 2012; $1,051.8 million, or 69%tatal sales, in 2011 and $87
million, or 67% of total sales, in 2010. As of Dadger 31, 2012, Advanced Material Technologies hd8demployees.

Advanced Material Technologies manufactures pregioonprecious and specialty metal products, includingovadeposition targe
frame lid assemblies, clad and precious metal pmefp high temperature braze materials, Uitna- wire, advanced chemicals, opt
performance coatings and microelectronic packadémse products are used in wireless, semicondugtootonic, hybrid and oth
microelectronic applications within the consumercaionics and telecommunications infrastructureketar Other key markets for these prod
include medical, defense and science, energy, iridlusomponents and automotive electronics. Adednilaterial Technologies also has m
cleaning operations and in-house refineries thatvdlor the reclaim of precious metals from intdiypwgenerated or customers’ scrap.

Advanced Material Technologieproducts are sold directly from its facilities thghout the U.S., Asia and Europe, as well as th
direct sales offices and independent sales repaseass throughout the world. Principal competitimeludes companies such as East
Chemical Company, Heraeus Inc., Honeywell Inteamati Inc., JDS Uniphase Corporation, Johnson Mugtfile, Praxair, Inc., SainfBobair
S.A., Solar Applied Materials Technology Corp., $tamo Metals Industries, Ltd., Tanaka Holding Add., and a number of smaller regic
and national suppliers.

Advanced Material Technologies — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Advanced Matérechnologies as of December 31, 2012, 2011 840 Zvas $54.3 million, $7&
million and $55.4 million, respectively. Backlogdenerally represented by purchase orders thatbmagrminated under certain conditions.
expect that substantially all of our backlog ofengifor this segment at December 31, 2012 williledfduring 2013.

Sales are made to over 3,000 customers. Goverrsatag accounted for less than 1% of the sales wlor2012, 2011 and 2010. Si
outside the United States, principally to Europd Asia, accounted for approximately 23% of sale20ad2, 16% of sales in 2011 and 199
sales in 2010. Other segment reporting and geogragbrmation is contained in Note M to the Condated Financial Statements, which ca
found in Item 8 of this Form 10-K and which is imgorated herein by reference.

Advanced Material Technologies — Research and Dewgiment

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as processations. Expenditures 1
research and development for Advanced Material i@clgies amounted to $8.0 million in 2012, $6.7lionl in 2011 and $4.0 million in 201
A staff of 45 scientists, engineers and technicigas employed in this effort as of year-end 2012.
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PERFORMANCE ALLOYS

Sales for this segment were $292.4 million, or 28%otal sales, in 2012; $335.3 million, or 22%taffal sales, in 2011 and $293.8 milli
or 23% of total sales, in 2010. As of DecemberZBiL2, Performance Alloys had 884 employees.

Performance Alloys manufactures and sells three maiduct families:

e Strip products the largest of the product families, include thauge precision strip and thin diameter rod arré \iihese copper a
nickel alloys provide a combination of high condvity, high reliability and formability for use asonnectors, contacts, switct
relays and shielding. Major markets for strip praguinclude consumer electronics, telecommunicatiofrastructure, automoti
electronics, appliance and medical. PerformanceyAllprimary direct competitor in strip form berylliuni@ays is NGK Insulator:
Ltd. of Nagoya, Japan, with subsidiaries in thetethiStates and Europe. Performance Alloys also etgspwith alloy syster
manufactured by Global Brass and Copper, Inc., &l Electric, Inc., Stolberger Metallwerke GmbH ppbn Mining, PM>
Industries, Inc. and also with other generally lespensive materials, including phosphor bronzanketss steel and other speci
copper and nickel alloys, which are produced bgrgety of companies around the world;

¢ Bulk productsare copper and nickélased alloys manufactured in plate, rod, bar, ardik other customized forms that, depen
upon the application, may provide superior strengtinrosion or wear resistance, thermal condugtimitlubricity. While the majorit
of bulk products contain beryllium, a growing portiof bulk products' sales is from non-berylliwontaining alloys as a result
product diversification efforts. Applications foullk products include oil and gas drilling comporseriearings, bushings, weld
rods, plastic mold tooling and undersea telecomoatitins housing equipment. Major markets for bulkdpcts include industri
components and commercial aerospace, energy agcbhemunications infrastructure. In the area of piéducts, in addition
NGK Insulators, Ltd., Performance Alloys competdthvgeveral smaller regional producers such agrat®nal Beryllium Corp
Ningxia Orient Tantalum in China and LeBronze Irtdesin Europe; an

»  Beryllium hydroxideis produced at our milling operations in Utah froor bertrandite mine and purchased beryl ore. Hdedxide it
used primarily as a raw material input for strigddulk products and, to a lesser extent, by thglem and Composites segme
Sales of beryllium hydroxide to NGK Insulators, Lidbm the Utah operations were less than 4% doReance Alloys'total sales i
each of the four most recent years.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at féeslitn Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributéermationally through a network
company-owned service centers and outside distniband agents.

Performance Alloys — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Performanceyallas of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was$ $@@lion, $99.6 million an
$98.9 million, respectively. Backlog is generalgpresented by purchase orders that may be terrdinatier certain conditions. We expect
substantially all the backlog of orders for thigment as of December 31, 2012 will be filled dur2g 3.

Sales are made to over 2,000 customers. Performfdime had government sales accounting for leas th% of segment sales in 2C
2011 and 2010. Sales outside the United States;ipally to Europe and Asia, accounted for appratety 54% of sales in 2012, 51% of s
in 2011 and 58% of sales in 2010. Other segmemdrtiag and geographic information is contained iote&NM to the Consolidated Financ
Statements, which can be found in Iltem 8 of thisiFd0-K and which is incorporated herein by refeg=n

Performance Alloys — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as proceswations. Expenditures 1
research and development amounted to $2.2 milic@012, $2.1 million in 2011 and $1.8 million in1#D A staff of 10 scientists, engineers
technicians was employed in this effort as of yered-2012.

BERYLLIUM AND COMPOSITES

Sales for this segment were $60.0 million, or 5%otdl sales, in 2012; $60.6 million, or 4% of tatales, in 2011 and $61.9 million, or
of total sales, in 2010. As of December 31, 201&ylium and Composites had 265 employees.

Beryllium and Composites manufactures beryllibased metals and metal matrix composites (MMCspdh sheet, foil and a variety
customized forms. These materials are used inagijans that require high stiffness and/or with ld@nsity, and they tend to be premipnicec
due to their unique combination of properties. Bagment also manufactures beryllia
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alumina ceramic products. The acquisition of AMGvydes a complementary family of non-beryllilrased alloys and composites. Defense
science is the largest market for Beryllium and @osites, while other markets served include inéhlstomponents and commercial aerosg
medical, energy and telecommunications infrastmectiProducts are also sold for acoustics, opticahsing and performance automo
applications. While Beryllium and Composites is tidy domestic producer of metallic beryllium, d@rpetes primarily with designs utilizi
other materials including metals, MMCs and orgarimposites. Our aluminum powder metal MMCs competke DWA Composites and c:
MMCs made by Duralcan USA. Electronic componeniizintg beryllia and alumina ceramics are usedhia telecommunications infrastructt
medical, industrial components and commercial geros and defense and science markets. Direct cionpenclude American Beryllia In¢
CBL Ceramics Limited and CoorsTek, Inc.

Manufacturing facilities for Beryllium and Compasstare located in Ohio, California, Arizona and I&nd.
Beryllium and Composites — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Beryllium arahfposites as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 208®2@&5 million, $16.9 millio
and $26.1 million, respectively. Backlog is genlgraépresented by purchase orders that may bernated under certain conditions. We ex
that substantially all of our backlog of orders tlois segment at December 31, 2012 will be filledry 2013.

Sales are made to over 400 customers. Governmiestaszcounted for less than 2% of Beryllium and @osites’sales in 2012 and 20:
and less than 1% of sales in 2011. Sales outselé&tlited States, principally to Europe and Asizoaoted for approximately 31% of sale
2012, 28% of sales in 2011 and 22% of sales in 2QtAer segment reporting and geographic informaitsocontained in Note M to t
Consolidated Financial Statements, which can badan Item 8 of this Form 10-K and which is incorpied herein by reference.

Beryllium and Composites — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as proceswations. Expenditures 1
research and development amounted to $2.4 miltic20il2, $2.2 million in 2011 and $1.3 million in1ZD A staff of nine scientists, engine
and technicians was employed in this effort as edrgnd 2012. Some research and development projeqisnditures for which are r
material, were externally sponsored and funded.

TECHNICAL MATERIALS

Sales for this segment were $72.7 million, or 6%otdl sales, in 2012; $78.7 million, or 5% of tctales, in 2011 and $67.5 million, or
of total sales, in 2010. As of December 31, 20 hHhical Materials had 195 employees.

Technical Materials' capabilities include clad jnénd overlay metals, precious and base metalrefdated systems, electron beam wel
systems, contour profiled systems and solder-coatgdl systems. These specialty strip metal preducivide a variety of thermal, electrical or
mechanical properties from a surface area or pdaticection of the material. Our cladding andiptatapabilities allow for a precious metal or
other base metal to be applied in continuous &irim only where it is needed, reducing the matexist to the customer as well as providing
design flexibility and performance. Major applicats for these products include connectors, contpotger lead frames and semiconductors
while the largest markets are automotive electaitd consumer electronics. The energy and madaddets are smaller but offer further
growth opportunities. Technical Materials' prodwats manufactured at our Lincoln, Rhode Islandifg@nd are sold directly and through its
sales representatives. Technical Materials' majompetitors include Heraeus Inc., AMI Doduco, Ined @ther North American continuous strip
plating companies.

Technical Materials — Sales and Backlog

The backlog of unshipped orders for Technical Materas of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 wa$$hiflion, $16.3 million an
$16.3 million, respectively. Backlog is generalgpresented by purchase orders that may be terrdinatier certain conditions. We expect
substantially all of our backlog of orders for teesgment at December 31, 2012 will be filled du204d3.

Sales are made to over 200 customers. TechnicarMst did not have any sales to the governmern2@d2, 2011 or 200. Sales outsic
the United States, principally to Europe and Aaiounted for approximately 22% of Technical Malstisales in 2012, 27% of sales in 2
and 26% of sales in 2010. Other segment reportidggaographic information is contained in Note Mhe Consolidated Financial Stateme
which can be found in Item 8 of this Form 10-K awtuich is incorporated herein by reference.




Technical Materials — Research and Development

Active research and development programs seek medupt compositions and designs as well as processations. Expenditures 1
research and development for Technical Materialeweminal in 2012, 2011 and 2010.

GENERAL
Availability of Raw Materials

The principal raw materials we use are aluminunyltiem, cobalt, copper, gold, nickel, palladiumagnum, ruthenium, silver and t
Ore reserve data can be found in Item 7 of thisrFa0K. The availability of these raw materials, as wasl other materials used by us
adequate and generally not dependent on any opdiesup

Patents and Licenses

We own patents, patent applications and licendesirrg to certain of our products and processesilaMur rights under the patents |
licenses are of some importance to our operatimmspusiness is not materially dependent on anypatent or license or on all of our patt
and licenses as a group.

Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a variety of laws that regulhgerhanufacture, processing, use, handling, stoteagesport, treatment, emission, rele
and disposal of substances and wastes used oratgthér manufacturing. For decades we have opecatefhcilities under applicable stande
of inplant and outplant emissions and releases.iftie@ation of airborne beryllium particulate maggent a health hazard to certain individuals.

Standards for exposure to beryllium are under vevig the United States Occupational Safety and tHef&diministration (OSHA) and t
other governmental and private standsetting organizations. One result of these revieilldikely be more stringent worker safety standts
Some organizations, such as the California OccopaliHealth and Safety Administration and the Aweami Conference of Governmel
Industrial Hygienists, have adopted standardsatemore stringent than the current standards ¢fA0She development, proposal or adop
of more stringent standards may affect the buyiagisions by the users of berylliucontaining products. If the standards are made
stringent and/or our customers or other downstrasens decide to reduce their use of beryllitontaining products, our results of operati
liguidity and financial condition could be matelyjahdversely affected. The impact of this potensidierse effect would depend on the n:
and extent of the changes to the standards, theandsability to meet the new standards, the exdéany reduction in customer use and ¢
factors. The magnitude of this potential adver$ecetannot be estimated.
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Name

Richard J. Hipple

John D. Grampa

Gregory R. Chemnitz

Age

60

65

55

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Positions and Offices

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeu@fficer. In May 2006, Mr. Hipple was nam
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officér Materion Corporation. He had served
President since May 2005. He was Chief Operatirfg@ffrom May 2005 until May 2006. Mr. Hipp
served as President of Performance Alloys from @92 until May 2005. He joined the Compan)
July 2001 as Vice President of Strip Products,d®erfince Alloys and served in that position untily
2002. Prior to joining Materion, Mr. Hipple was Bigent of LTV Steel Company, a business unit o
LTV Corporation (integrated steel producer and ifataricator). Prior to running LT\S steel busines
Mr. Hipple held numerous leadership positions igieeering, operations, strategic planning, salet
marketing and procurement since 1975 at LTV. Mpg has served on the Board of Director
Ferro Corporation since 2007 and as its Lead Diresince April 2010. Mr. Hipple also was appoin
to the Board of Directors of KeyCorp in July 2012.

Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financidfi@®@r . Mr. Grampa was named Senior V
President Finance and Chief Financial Officer irc&aber 2006. Prior to that, he had served as
President Finance and Chief Financial Officer sibmember 1999 and as Vice President Fin
since October 1998. Prior to that, he had servedi@sPresident, Finance for the Worldwide Matex
Business of Avery Dennison Corporation (producerpr#ssure sensitive materials, office prodt
labels and other converted products) since Marctd18nd held other various positions at Av
Dennison Corporation from 1984,

Vice President, General Counsdlir. Chemnitz joined Materion Corporation in Septeer 2007 as it
Vice President, General Counsel. Prior to thathd served in various roles in the Law Departmé
Avery Dennison Corporation beginning in 1992, imlthg most recently, as Assistant General Cou
Americas, where he had responsibility for the lexfédirs of Avery Dennisos’ business units in Nor
and South America.




Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, results of opers and cash flows can be affected by a numbé&abdrs, including, but not limited -
those set forth below and elsewhere in this ForaK,1l@ny one of which could cause our actual regoltgary materially from recent results
from our anticipated future results. Thereforejrarestment in us involves some risks, including tis&s described below. The risks discu:
below are not the only risks that we may experietfcany of the following risks occur, our busingsssults of operations or financial condi
could be negatively impacted.

Natural disasters, equipment failures, work stopgsg bankruptcies and other unexpected events magl feur customers to curtail productic
or shut down their operations.

Our customersimanufacturing operations are subject to conditlmggnd their control, including raw material shgets, natural disaste
interruptions in electrical power or other energyvices, equipment failures, bankruptcies, worlpgémges due to strikes or lockouts, inclur
those affecting the automotive industry, which e @f our major markets, and other unexpected sv€otr example, the tsunami that hit Je
in March 2011 caused widssale destruction of the Tohoku region and led matufacturers in the area, most notably thosheratitomotiv
and consumer electronics markets, to slow or haliyction. Similar events could also affect othgu@iers to our customers. Such events ¢
cause our customers to curtail production or td glown a portion or all of their operations, whiobuld reduce their demand for our prod
and reduce our sales.

Unexpected events and natural disasters at our nineld increase the cost of operating our business.

A portion of our production costs at our mine dxed regardless of current operating levels. Owarating levels are subject to conditi
beyond our control that may increase the cost afingifor varying lengths of time. These conditionslude, among other things, fire, nati
disasters, pit wall failures and ore processingigea. Our mining operations also involve the hawigdind production of potentially explos
materials. It is possible that an explosion coelslit in death and injuries to employees and otaedsmaterial property damage to third pa
and us. Any explosion could expose us to adverbéiqity or liability for damages and materially agely affect our operations. Any of th
events could increase our cost of operations.

We have a limited number of manufacturing facilitse and damage to those facilities could interruptraperations, increase our costs of
doing business and impair our ability to deliver oproducts on a timely basis.

Some of our facilities are interdependent. Forainse, our manufacturing facility in ElImore, Ohidige on our mining operation for
supply of beryllium hydroxide used in production miost of its berylliumeontaining materials. Additionally, our Reading,nRsylvania
Fremont, California and Tucson, Arizona manufactirfacilities are dependent on materials producgdlr Elmore, Ohio manufacturi
facility and our Wheatfield, New York manufacturifegility is dependent on our Buffalo, New York nodacturing facility. See Item 2 of tt
Form 10K. The destruction or closure of any of our mantfeng facilities or our mine for a significant paal of time as a result of fit
explosion, act of war or terrorism or other natulighster or unexpected event may interrupt ourufa@turing capabilities, increase our caj
expenditures and our costs of doing business apdiinour ability to deliver our products on a timélasis. In such an event, we may ne¢
resort to an alternative source of manufacturingpadelay production, which could increase our €a@stdoing business. Our property dan
and business interruption insurance may not caef aur potential losses and may not continubecavailable to us on acceptable terms,
all.

Equipment failures and other unexpected events at tacilities may lead to manufacturing curtailmestor shutdowns

The manufacturing processes that take place imining operation, as well as in our manufacturiaglities, depend on critical pieces
equipment. This equipment may, on occasion, beobaervice because of unanticipated failure, amdesequipment is not readily available
replaceable. In addition to equipment failures, fagilities are also subject to the risk of los& do unanticipated events such as fires, explo
or other disasters. Material plant shutdowns oucédns in operations could harm our ability tofifubur customers’demands, which cou
harm our sales and cause our customers to find stippliers. Further, remediation of any interraptin production capability may require u:
make large capital expenditures, which may havegative effect on our profitability and cash flov@ur business interruption insurance |
not cover all of the lost revenues associated intgrruptions in our manufacturing capabilities.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or waiay directly harm our operations.

Terrorist attacks or other acts of violence or weay directly impact our facilities. For exampley @&imore, Ohio facility is located ne
and derives power from, a nuclear power plant, Wwigiould be a target for a terrorist attack. In &ddj terrorist attacks, related armed conf
or prolonged or increased tensions in the Middlst Ba other regions of the world could cause corsuronfidence and spending to decre
decreasing demand for consumer goods that contaiiproducts. Further, when the United States arfoexs are involved in active hostilit
or largescale deployments, defense spending tends to fmous on meeting the physical needs of the troopd, @anned expenditures
weapons and other systems incorporating our preduct




may be reduced or deferred. Any of these occureencald also increase volatility in the United 8saand worldwide financial markets, wr
could negatively impact our sales.

Many of our manufacturing facilities are dependenh single source energy suppliers, and interruptionenergy services may cau
manufacturing curtailments or shutdowns.

Many of our manufacturing facilities depend on @oeirce for electric power and for natural gas. &ample, Utah Power is the s
supplier of electric power to the processing facifor our mining operations in Utah. A significaimterruption in service from our enel
suppliers due to equipment failures, terrorism y ather cause may result in substantial lossesatenot fully covered by our busin
interruption insurance. Any substantial unmitigatetérruption of our operations due to these caowlét could harm our ability to meet «
customers’ demands and reduce our sales.

If the price of electrical power, fuel or other engy sources increases, our operating expenses cauldease significantly

We have numerous milling and manufacturing faelitand a mining operation, which depend on eledtgower, fuel or other ener
sources. See Item 2 of this Form KOOur operating expenses are sensitive to chaingelectricity prices and fuel prices, includingtural ga:
prices. Prices for electricity and natural gas rimayease and can fluctuate widely with availabibtyd demand levels from other users. Dt
periods of peak usage, supplies of energy may Hailed, and we may not be able to purchase eratrgjstorical market rates. While we h
some longterm contracts with energy suppliers, we are exphésdluctuations in energy costs that can affestroduction costs. Although
enter into forwardixed price supply contracts for natural gas aratteicity for use in our operations, those consaae of limited duration a
do not cover all of our fuel or electricity needslditionally, price increases in fuel and electsiciosts, such as those increases which may
from climate change legislation or other environtabmandates, may increase our cost of operations.

The availability and prices of some raw materialg wse in our manufacturing operations fluctuate, drincreases in raw material costs can
adversely affect our operating results and our fimgial condition.

We manufacture advanced engineered materials wsirigus precious and n@recious metals, including aluminum, beryllium, att)
copper, gold, nickel, palladium, platinum, ruthenjwsilver and tin. The availability of, and prides, these raw materials are subject to vola
and are influenced by worldwide economic conditjasEeculative action, world supply and demand laaninventory levels, availability
substitute metals, the U.S. dollar exchange raijyztion costs of United States and foreign coitgrst anticipated or perceived shortages
other factors. Precious metal prices, includinggsifor gold and silver, have increased signifigaint recent years. These higher prices
cause adjustments to our inventory carrying valudgther as a result of quantity discrepanciesmabmanufacturing losses, difference
scrap rates, theft or other factors, to have atgrempact on our profitability and cash flows. dlghe price of our products has increase
tandem with the rising metal prices, as a resulth@nges in precious metal prices that are passedgh to our customers, which could d
them from purchasing our products and adversegcaffur sales.

Further, we maintain some precious metals on aigwed inventory basis. The owners of the precioetaia charge a fee that fluctuz
based on the market price of those metals and &dtars. A significant increase in the market @rid precious metals or the consignmen
could increase our financing costs, which couldéase our operating costs.

We are dependent on our new primary beryllium fatgilfor our future supply of pure beryllium.

In 2008, we entered into an agreement with the Byt of Defense to share in the cost of a newllpen plant for primary berylliur
feedstock. Installation and stamp of our new beryllium facility continued throughto2012 at the Elmore, Ohio plant site. The resg
additional operating and material costs and manurfimg inefficiencies reduced gross margin by atimegted $5.2 million in 2012 and
estimated $5.3 million in 2011.

Construction is now complete, and we are rampingngaluction, but any delay in further transitionithge operation to run at requil
production levels could negatively impact our saad/or cost structure as would unexpected quatitplems in qualifying the new beryllit
feedstock in our beryllium metal product lines.

The availability of competitive substitute matersafor beryllium-containing products may reduce oaustomers’ demand for these products
and reduce our sales.

In certain product applications, we compete wittnofacturers of non-berylliurnentaining products, including organic compositasta
alloys or composites, titanium and aluminum. Owstemers may choose to use substitutes for beryltiamaining products in their products
a variety of reasons, including, among other thinlys lower costs of those substitutes, the headthsafety concerns relating to these prou
and the risk of litigation relating to beryllium+t@ining products. If our customers use substitfeseryllium-containing products in the
products, the demand for our beryllium-containingducts may decrease, which could reduce our sales.




The markets for our products are experiencing ragtianges in technology.

We operate in markets characterized by rapidly gimgntechnology and evolving customer specificatiamd industry standards. N
products may quickly render an existing productotdte and unmarketable. For example, for many yéemsnal and mechanical performa
have been at the forefront of device packagingiMioeless communications infrastructure deviceseltent years, a tremendous effort has
put into developing simpler packaging solutions posed of copper and other similar components. @uwitp and future results of operati
depend in part upon our ability to enhance existirgfucts and introduce newly developed producta timely basis that conform to prevail
and evolving industry standards, meet or exceelntdogical advances in the marketplace, meet chgngiustomer specifications, achi
market acceptance and respond to our competitodugts.

The process of developing new products can be tdopically challenging and requires the accurattcgation of technological at
market trends. We may not be able to introduce pislucts successfully or do so on a timely baéisel fail to develop new products that
appealing to our customers or fail to develop potelon time and within budgeted amounts, we mawrimble to recover our research
development costs, which could adversely affecthoargins and profitability.

Our products are deployed in complex applicatiormslamay have errors or defects that we find onlyeaftieployment.

Our products are highly complex, designed to belogend in complicated applications and may contaidatected defects, errors
failures. Although our products are generally t@sdaring manufacturing, prior to deployment, they only be fully tested when deployec
specific applications. For example, we sell bewytiicopper alloy strip products in a coil form to sooustomers, who then stamp the alloy fo
specific purpose. On occasion, it is not until ssastomer stamps the alloy that a defect in theya#l detected. Consequently, our custol
may discover errors after the products have beetoged. The occurrence of any defects, errorsaiures could result in installation dele
product returns, termination of contracts with oustomers, diversion of our resources, increasediceeand warranty costs and other loss:
our customers, end users or to us. Any of thesaromeces could also result in the loss of, or délaynarket acceptance of our products
could damage our reputation, which could reducesales.

Our lengthy and variable sales and development eyolakes it difficult for us to predict if and whes new product will be sold to customers.

Our sales and development cycle, which is the geriom the generation of a sales lead or new prioidiea through the developmen
the product and the recording of sales, may tylyidake up to two or three years, making it verffidlilt to forecast sales and results
operations. Our inability to accurately predict timaing and magnitude of sales of our productseeiglly newly introduced products, co
affect our ability to meet our customegg'oduct delivery requirements or cause our resflteperations to suffer if we incur expenses
particular period that do not translate into salesng that period, or at all. In addition, thea@ures would make it difficult to plan future ctgd
expenditure needs and could cause us to fail ta owecash flow requirements.

Our business could be adversely impacted if we faidequately address information security issues.

We have taken measures to protect the integrityuoftechnology infrastructure and the privacy affaential information. However, o
technology infrastructure is potentially vulneratite physical or electronic breaks, viruses or similar problems. If a person otitg
circumvents our security measures, they could jebpa the security of confidential information sdron our systems, misappropr
proprietary information or cause interruptions ir @perations. We may be required to make subataediditional investments and efforts
protect against or remedy security breaches. Sgduneaches that result in access to confidenti@rination could damage our reputation
expose us to a risk of loss or liability.

A portion of our revenue is derived from the salédefens-related products through various contracts and sobtracts. These contracts mi
be suspended or canceled, which could have an astvé@npact on our revenues.

In 2012, 10% of our revenue was derived from stdesustomers in the defense and science markebr#op of these customers ope
under contracts with the U.S. Government, whichvaleerable to termination at any time, for conesmie or default. Some of the reason:
cancellation include, but are not limited to, butdgg constraints or rappropriation of government funds, timing of contrawards, violations
legal or regulatory requirements, and changes litiqad agenda. If cancellations were to occueyduld result in a reduction in our revenue.

Additionally, the impact of sequestration is yetb® fully determined. Significant additional redoos to defense spending could o«
over the next decade, which could have a signifieaiverse impact on us. While congressional leadeis considering a variety of options
avoid sequestration, it remains uncertain as totlvenethe government will actually do so. In the @vthe sequestration is implementer
currently mandated, there could be a material adveffect on our business and results of operations
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Disruptions or volatility in global financial markés could adversely impact our financial performanc

Global economic conditions may cause volatility atisiuptions in the capital and credit markets. #thalobal economic conditio
deteriorate or access to credit markets be reduredtipmers may experience difficulty in obtainirdpquate financing, thereby impacting
sales. Our exposure to bad debt losses may alsease if customers are unable to pay for produetsiqusly ordered. The recent glo
economic crisis and the resulting recession hase ehused higher unemployment rates, which cowe ha adverse impact on demanc
consumer electronics, which comprised 41% of olessim 2012. Any additional negative or uncertairaficial and macroeconomic conditi
may have a significant adverse impact on our sgleditability and results of operations. For exdepf the current economic conditions
Europe further deteriorate, it could trigger a globconomic downturn similar to the one experienite@008 and 2009. This could hav
negative impact on our sales to Europe, which atenlfor approximately 11% of our sales in 2012.

The businesses of many of our customers are subjedignificant fluctuations as a result of the dycal nature of their industries and their
sensitivity to general economic conditions, whicbutd adversely affect their demand for our produ@sd reduce our sales and profitabilit

A substantial number of our customers are in thesemer electronics, telecommunications infrastmectdefense and science, indus
components and commercial aerospace, automotiegaiés and appliance industries. Each of thedastmies is cyclical in nature, influenc
by a combination of factors which could have a tiggampact on our business, including, among othergs, periods of economic growttk
recession, strength or weakness of the U.S. ddHarstrength of the consumer electronics, autoraatlectronics and computer industries
the rate of construction of telecommunicationsasfructure equipment and government spending @ansdef

Also, in times when growth rates in our marketsavstiown, there may be temporary inventory adjustsidiyt our customers that
negatively affect our business.

Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in sales, our quarterly results will fluctuate, and oannual performance will be affected
the fluctuations.

We expect seasonal patterns to continue, which caage our quarterly results to fluctuate. For exanthe Christmas season genel
increased demand from our customers that manuéactmsumer products. If our revenue during anytquavrere to fall below the expectatit
of investors or securities analysts, our shareeprauld decline, perhaps significantly. Unfavoradgenomic conditions, lower than normal le
of demand and other occurrences in any of the ajbarters could also harm our results of operatibos example, toward the end of 2(
customers were building inventory in anticipatiohimcreased demand, whereas in the same perio®bf, Zlemand decreased becaust
customers had excess inventory.

We conduct our sales and distribution operations amvorldwide basis and are subject to the risksaasated with doing business outside the
United States.

We sell to customers outside of the United Statas four United States and international operativ¥is.have been and are continuin
expand our geographic reach in Europe and Asign$its to customers outside of the United Statesusmted for approximately 31% of
sales in 2012, 25% in 2011 and 28% in 2010. Wecigatie that international shipments will accountdasignificant portion of our sales for
foreseeable future. Revenue from international atfmrs (principally Europe and Asia) amounted tpragimately 16% of our sales in 20
14% in 2011 and 17% in 2010. There are a numbesks associated with international business dwsyiincluding:

« burdens to comply with multiple and potentially @ianting foreign laws and regulations, includingpaxt requirements, tariffs and ot
barriers, environmental health and safety requirgsand unexpected changes in any of these factors;

« difficulty in obtaining export licenses from the ited States Governme
« political and economic instability and disruptioms;luding terrorist attack

+ disadvantages of competing against companies framtdes that are not subject to U.S. laws andlatigms, including the Forei
Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA);

« potentially adverse tax consequences due to oyengpr differing tax structures; a
« fluctuations in currency exchange ra

Any of these risks could have adverse effect on our international operationsdnucing the demand for our products or reducin
prices at which we can sell our products, whichld¢wasult in an adverse effect on our businessnfifal position, results of operations or ¢
flows.
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In addition, we could be adversely affected byafioins of the FCPA and similar worldwide anti-bripéaws. The FCPA and similar anti-
bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally priolhicompanies and their intermediaries from makingroper payments to ndd-S. officials fo
the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. @alicies mandate compliance with these antdery laws. We operate in many parts of
world that have experienced governmental corruptiiosome degree and, in certain circumstancest soimpliance with antbribery laws ma
conflict with local customs and practices. We cdragsure you that our internal controls and promsialways will protect us from the reckl
or criminal acts committed by our employees or &gelfiwe are found to be liable for FCPA violatinwe could suffer from criminal or ci
penalties or other sanctions, which could have terishadverse effect on our business.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangges, which may negatively affect our financiabgormance.

A significant portion of our sales is conductedriternational markets and priced in currencies rothan the U.S. dollar. Revenues fi
customers outside of the United States (principgilyope and Asia) amounted to 31% of sales in 2@%% in 2011 and 28% in 2010.
significant part of these international sales areeg in currencies other than the U.S. dollarn8igant fluctuations in currency values relatio
the U.S. dollar may negatively affect our finang@arformance. In the past, fluctuations in curreexkghange rates, particularly for the euro
the yen, have impacted our sales, margins andtgiodfiy. The fair value of our net asset relatiogoutstanding foreign currency contracts
$0.3 million at December 31, 2012, indicating tti&t average hedge rates were favorable compartbd @ctual yeaend market exchange ra
While we may hedge our currency transactions tagatié the impact of currency price volatility onraarnings, hedging activities may no
successful. For example, hedging activities mayameer the Compang’ complete exposure which could have an unfavoratpact on ot
results of operations.

We may not be able to complete our acquisition &gy or successfully integrate acquired businesses.

We have been active over the last several yegrarsuing niche acquisitions. For example, we cotegdli¢he acquisition of AMC in 20.
and EIS in 2011. We intend to continue to consfdether growth opportunities through the acquisitiof assets or companies and routi
review acquisition opportunities. We cannot predidiether we will be successful in pursuing any &itijan opportunities or what tl
consequences of any acquisition would be. Futugeisitions may involve the expenditure of signifitdunds and management time. Depen
upon the nature, size and timing of future acqois#t, we may be required to raise additional fimagcwhich may not be available to us
acceptable terms. Further, we may not be able ¢oessfully integrate any acquired business with existing businesses or recognize
expected advantages from any completed acquisition.

In addition, there may be liabilities that we fait, are unable, to discover in the course of parfiog due diligence investigations on
assets or companies we have already acquired oaotpyre in the future. We cannot assure thatsighindemnification by the sellers of th
assets or companies to us, even if obtained, wikktforceable, collectible or sufficient in amouwstdope or duration to fully offset the poss
liabilities associated with the business or propadquired. Any such liabilities, individually an the aggregate, could have a materially ad
effect on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

The terms of our indebtedness may restrict our ggt@ns, including our ability to pursue our growthnd acquisition strategies.

The terms of our credit facilities contain a numbémestrictive covenants, including restrictiomsdur ability to, among other thin
borrow and make investments, acquire other buskseaad consign additional precious metals. Thesenemts could adversely affect
business by limiting our ability to plan for or otao market conditions or to meet our capital seext well as adversely affect our abilit
pursue our growth, acquisition strategies and ditrategic initiatives.

Our failure to comply with the covenants contain@dthe terms of our indebtedness could result in ament of default, which could material
and adversely affect our operating results and durancial condition.

The terms of our credit facilities require us tomdy with various covenants, including financialveoants. If the global econor
downturn returns, it could have a material advérggact on our earnings and cash flow, which couldeasely affect our ability to comply w
our financial covenants and could limit our borrog/icapacity. Our ability to comply with these cogets depends, in part, on factors over w
we may have no control. A breach of any of theserants could result in an event of default unaer @ more of the agreements governing
indebtedness which, if not cured or waived, coule ghe holders of the defaulted indebtednessitie to terminate commitments to lend
cause all amounts outstanding with respect torttielitedness to be due and payable immediately I&etien of any of our indebtedness cc
result in cross defaults under our other debtumsénts. Our assets and cash flow may be insuffie@efully repay borrowings under all of ¢
outstanding debt instruments if some or all of ¢hieéstruments are accelerated upon an event afillefawhich case we may be required to
legal protection from our creditors.
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A major portion of our bank debt consists of varie-rate obligations, which subjects us to interestedluctuations.

Our credit facilities are secured by substantiallyof our assets (other than norining real property and certain other assets).v@rking
capital line of credit includes variabtate obligations, which expose us to interest rigtes. If interest rates increase, our debt serghd@gation:
on our variableate indebtedness would increase even if the ammmbwed remained the same, resulting in a deergasur net income. V
have developed a hedging program to manage theaggdociated with interest rate fluctuations, lbmtggogram may not effectively eliminate
of the financial exposure associated with interas# fluctuations. Additional information regardingr market risks is contained in Item 74
this Form 10-K.

We may be unable to access the financial marketdarorable terms.

The inability to raise capital on favorable termparticularly during times of uncertainty in thedircial markets, could impact our ability
sustain and grow our business and would increaseanpital costs. In particular, the substantialatibty in world capital markets due to 1
global economic crisis has had a significant negatnpact on the global financial markets.

We rely on access to financial markets as a siganiti source of liquidity for capital requirementgt ratisfied by cash on hand or opere
cash flow. Our access to the financial marketsatbel adversely impacted by various factors, incgdi

» changes in credit markets that reduce availablditave the ability to renew existing credit fad#is on acceptable terr
e adeterioration of our crec

« adeterioration in the financial condition of thenks with which we do busine

« extreme volatility in our markets that increasesgireor credit requirements; a

« the collateral pledge of substantially all of ossets in connection with our existing indebtednesch limits our flexibility in raisin
additional capital.

These factors have adversely impacted our accefisetdinancial markets from time to time. Negatiwe uncertain global econon
conditions may make it difficult for us to accese tcredit market and to obtain financing or refiriag, as the case may be, to the e
necessary, on satisfactory terms or at all.

A lower interest rate environment coupled with lebsn expected investment performance may requiseta increase our pension liability at
expense, which may require us to fund a portionafr pension obligations and divert funds from othppotential uses.

We provide defined benefit pension plans to elgibinployees. Our pension expense and our requirgdhiutions to our pension ple
are directly affected by the value of plan asgbtsprojected rate of return on plan assets, theabmate of return on plan assets and the act
assumptions we use to measure our defined bergfitign plan obligations, including the rate at \Whiature obligations are discounted 1
present value, or the discount rate.

Lower investment performance of our pension plaetsresulting from a decline in the stock markeid significantly increase the defi
position of our plans. Should the pension asseirmefall below our expectations, it is likely thiature pension expenses would increase.
actual return on our plan assets for the year efdszember 31, 2012 was a gain of approximately 1B86.2013, for pension account
purposes, we assumed a 7.50% expected rate af @iysension assets.

We establish the discount rate used to determiagthsent value of the projected and accumulatadfibebligation at the end of e
year based upon the available market rates for tigtlity, fixed income investments. An increaseha discount rate would reduce the fu
pension expense and, conversely, a lower discat@twould raise the future pension expense. Aseaeihber 31, 2012, for pension accour
purposes, we assumed a 4.00% discount rate fatamnestic defined benefit plan compared to 4.75%Heryear ended December 31, 2011.

Based on current guidelines, assumptions and dstmiacluding stock market prices and interesgs;aive anticipate that we will me
cash contributions of approximately $13.0 milliam @ur pension plan in 2013. If our current assuomstiand estimates are not cori
contributions in 2013 and beyond may be greater tha current or future projections.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecamaonditions, regulatory changes or other factaitsfurther increase our pensi
expenses or funding obligations, diverting fundsweeild otherwise apply to other uses.
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Our expenditures for postetirement health benefits could be materially highthan we have predicted if our underlying assurigpis prove tc
be incorrect.

We provide postetirement health benefits to eligible employeesr @tiree health expense is directly affectedhsydssumptions we
to measure our retiree health plan obligationdutting the assumed rate at which health care sufitincrease and the discount rate use
calculate future obligations. For retiree healtbcamting purposes, we maintained the assumedtratieieh health care costs will increase for
next year at 8% for both December 31, 2012 and Dbee 31,2011. In addition, we have assumed that this heath cost increase trend |
will decline to 5% by 2019.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifieffect on the amounts reported for the hezdtle plans. A one percentage p
increase in assumed health care cost trend ratekl wave increased the pasrployment benefit obligation by $0.8 million atdaenber 3!
2012.

We cannot predict whether changing market or ecamaonditions, regulatory changes or other facteils further increase our retir
health care expenses or obligations, diverting $umd would otherwise apply to other uses.

Utilizing precious metal in the manufacturing pross creates challenges in physical inventory valoas that may impact earnings.

We manufacture precious, non-precious and speaiadtial products and also have metal cleaning dpasaand inhouse refineries th
allow for the reclaim of precious metals from imt&lly generated or customer scrap. We refine toapsthrough our internal operations
externally through outside vendors.

When taking periodic physical inventories in ouinery operations, we reconcile the actual precimasals to what was estimated pric
the physical inventory. Those estimates are basexbsays or samples of precious metals taken dtméngefining process. If those estimates
inaccurate, we may have an inventory long (moresjglay precious metal than what we had estimatedport (less physical precious metal 1
what we had estimated). These fluctuations coule lramaterial impact on our financial statements may impact earnings. For example,
reported a net inventory valuation loss of $3.6iamlin the fourth quarter 2011 as a result of theonciliation of the amount of metal on h
with amounts financed. Higher precious metal priv@y magnify the value of any inventory long orrsho

Because we maintain a significant inventory of pieas metals, we may experience losses due to erapleyror and theft

Because we manufacture products that contain preaisetals, we maintain a significant amount of joex metals at certain of ¢
manufacturing facilities. Accordingly, we are setdtj to the risk of precious metal shortages resulfrom employee error and theft.
example, in December 2012, the Company became afar@otential theft of precious metal from itsbAfuerque, New Mexico refinery. .
investigation ensued, an arrest was made and arramount of stolen material was recovered. The Gompbegan further investigatio
including an analysis of the fourth quarter phykioaentory results, and engaged an outside teafarefsic experts and criminal investigat
While the results of these investigations are mbdtcpmplete, preliminary indications are that soamell, of this yeaend inventory short may
due to theft.

While we maintain controls to prevent employeetthatluding physical security measures, if ourtcols do not operate effectively or
structured ineffectively, our profitability coulcetadversely affected, including any charges thamight incur as a result of the shortage of
inventory and by costs associated with increasedrigg, preventative measures and insurance.

Our financial results are likely to be negativelynpacted by an impairment of goodwill should our skholder equity exceed our market
capitalization for a number of quarters.

A goodwill impairment charge may be triggered bseduction in actual and projected cash flows, witchld be negatively impacted
the market price of our common shares. Our goodvdlance at December 31, 2012 was $88.8 milliory Peguired norcash impairmel
charge could significantly reduce this balance laank a material impact on our reported financiaitpm and results of operations.

Changes in laws or regulations or the manner of thanterpretation or enforcement could adversely jpact our financial performance and
restrict our ability to operate our business or exge our strategies.

New laws or regulations, or changes in existingslawregulations or the manner of their interpretabr enforcement, could increase
cost of doing business and restrict our abilityoperate our business or execute our strategies. ifitludes, among other things, the pos
taxation under U.S. law of certain income from fgreoperations, compliance costs and enforcemenigrutne Dodd-rank Wall Street Refor
and Consumer Protection Act, and costs associatdd complying with the Patient Protection and Affable Care Act of 2010 and -
regulations promulgated thereunder.
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We are exposed to lawsuits in the normal coursédwos$iness, which could harm our business.

During the ordinary conduct of our business, we rhbagome involved in certain legal proceedings,uditlg those involving produ
liability claims, thirdparty lawsuits relating to exposure to berylliundafaims against us of infringement of intellectpedperty rights of thir
parties. Due to the uncertainties of litigation, @@ give no assurance that we will prevail atdbeclusion of future claims. Certain of th
matters involve types of claims that, if they résalan adverse ruling to us, could give rise tbssantial liability which could have a mate
adverse effect on our business, operating resuftaancial condition.

We are presently uninsured for beryllium-relategimk where the claimantfitst exposure to beryllium occurred on or aftenuay 1
2008, and we have not undertaken to estimate thadtrof such claims, which have yet to be assehtedddition, some jurisdictions preclt
insurance coverage for punitive damage awards. Wougly, our profitability could be adversely affed if any current or future claima
obtain judgments for any uninsured compensatorgumitive damages. Further, an unfavorable outcomsetilement of a pending berylli
case or adverse media coverage could encouragertmmencement of additional similar litigation.

Health issues, litigation and government regulatiemelating to our beryllium operations could sigitantly reduce demand for our product
limit our ability to operate and adversely affeatioprofitability.

If exposed to respirable beryllium fumes, dustpawder, some individuals may demonstrate an atlesgction to beryllium and may la
develop a chronic lung disease known as chronigllhen disease, or CBD. Some people who are diaggiagith CBD do not develop clinic
symptoms at all. In others, the disease can leaddring and damage of lung tissue, causing eliigmptoms that include shortness of bre
wheezing and coughing. Severe cases of CBD care chsebility or death.

Further, some scientists claim there is evidencanofissociation between beryllium exposure and damger, and certain standarekting
organizations have classified beryllium and bemptlicompounds as human carcinogens.

The health risks relating to exposure to beryllihave been, and will continue to be, a significasue confronting the beryllium-
containing products industry. The health risks eisged with beryllium have resulted in product il claims, employee and thirgarty
lawsuits. As of December 31, 2012, we had one C&d# outstanding.

The increased levels of scrutiny by federal, statesign and international regulatory authoritiesiid lead to regulatory decisions rela
to the approval or prohibition of the use of bewyti-containing materials for various uses. Concerns GBD and other potential adverse he
effects relating to beryllium, as well as concemgarding potential liability from the use of béiyin, may discourage our customeuse of ou
beryllium-containing products and significantly uvee demand for our products. In addition, adversdiancoverage relating to our beryllium-
containing products could damage our reputatiocaoise a decrease in demand for beryllzontaining products, which could adversely a
our profitability.

Our bertrandite ore mining and beryllium-related mafacturing operations and some of our customersidinesses are subject to extensive
health and safety regulations that impose, and veitintinue to impose, significant costs and liakigis, and future regulation could increase
those costs and liabilities or effectively prohilpitoduction or use of beryllium-containing products

Our customers and we are subject to laws regulatorger exposure to beryllium. Standards for expes$a beryllium are under review
OSHA, the Department of Energy and by other govemtal and private standasetting organizations. One result of these revisilldikely be
more stringent worker safety standards. Some argtions, such as the California Occupational Healll Safety Administration and -
American Conference of Governmental Industrial leyggts, have adopted standards that are moreesttitigan the current standards of OS
The development, proposal or adoption of more gt standards may affect buying decisions by #eesuof berylliumeontaining products.
the standards are made more stringent and/or atoroers or other downstream users decide to retheie use of berylliuncontaining
products, our results of operations, liquidity dmgncial condition could be materially adverseffeaeted. The impact of this potential adve
effect would depend on the nature and extent ofcttanges to the standards, the cost and abilityeet the new standards, the extent of
reduction in customer use and other factors. Thgnitade of this potential adverse effect canno¢fténated.

Our bertrandite ore mining and manufacturing operiahs are subject to extensive environmental regidas that impose, and will continue
impose, significant costs and liabilities on us, &future regulation could increase these costs diabilities or prevent production of
beryllium-containing products.

We are subject to a variety of governmental reguratrelating to the environment, including thoskting to our handling of hazarde
materials and air and wastewater emissions. Someoemental laws impose substantial penalties fon-compliance. Others, such as
federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Casagion, and Liability Act, or CERCLA, impose stricetroactive and joint and seve
liability upon entities responsible for releasedatardous substances. Bertrandite ore mining@ssalbject to extensive governmental reguli
on matters such as permitting and licensing reqmerds, plant and wildlife protection, reclamatiamdaestoration of mining properties,
discharge of materials into the environment and the
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effects that mining has on groundwater quality awailability. Future requirements could impose @arsignificant additional costs or obligatir
with respect to our extraction, milling and prodegsf ore. If we fail to comply with present anddre environmental laws and regulations
could be subject to liabilities or our operatiorild be interrupted. In addition, future environtzédaws and regulations could restrict
ability to expand our facilities or extract our tsendite ore deposits. These environmental lawsragdlations could also require us to acc
costly equipment, obtain additional financial asswe, or incur other significant expenses in cotimeaevith our business, which would incre
our costs of production.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate manufacturing plants, service and ddwdlities throughout the world. During 2012, we dreeffective use of our product
capacities at our principal facilities. We belighat the quality and production capacity of ouiilfées is sufficient to maintain our competiti
position for the foreseeable future. Informatiorod®ecember 31, 2012, with respect to our sigaififacilities that are owned or leased, ani
respective segments in which they are includesketiorth below:

Location

Corporate and Administrative Offices

Owned or Leased

Approximate
Number of
Square Feet

Mayfield Heights, Ohio (1)(2)(3)(5) Leased 79,00(
Manufacturing Facilities

Albuquerque, New Mexico (1) Owned/Leased 13,000/80,20
Bloomfield, Connecticut (1) Leased 23,40(
Brewster, New York (1) Leased 75,00(
Buellton, California (1) Leased 35,00(
Buffalo, New York (1) Owned 97,00(
Delta, Utah (2) Owned 86,00(
Elmore, Ohio (2)(3) Owned/Leased 681,000/191,0C
Farnborough, England (3) Leased 10,00(
Fremont, California (3) Leased 40,00(
Limerick, Ireland (1) Leased 18,00(
Lincoln, Rhode Island (4) Owned/Leased 130,000/12,00
Lorain, Ohio (2) Owned 55,00(
Milwaukee, Wisconsin (1) Owned/Leased 99,000/7,30
Newburyport, Massachusetts (1) Owned 30,00(
Reading, Pennsylvania (2) Owned 123,00(
Santa Clara, California (1) Leased 5,80(
Shanghai, China (1) Leased 101,40(
Singapore (1) Leased 30,00(
Subic Bay, Philippines (1) Leased 5,00(
Suzhou, China (1) Leased 22,40(
Taipei, Taiwan (1) Leased 11,50(
Tucson, Arizona (3) Owned 53,00(
Tyngsboro, Massachusetts (1) Leased 38,00(
Westford, Massachusetts (1) Leased 75,00(
Wheatfield, New York (1) Owned 35,00(
Windsor, Connecticut (1) Leased 34,70(
Service and Distribution Centers

Elmhurst, lllinois (2) Leased 28,50(
Fukaya, Japan (2)(3)(4) Owned 35,50(
Reading, England (2)(3) Leased 9,70(
Singapore (2)(3)(4) Leased 2,50(
Stuttgart, Germany (2) Leased 24,80(
Tokyo, Japan (2)(3)(4) Leased 7,20C
Warren, Michigan (2) Leased 34,50(

(1) Advanced Material Technolog

(2) Performance Alloy

(3) Beryllium and Composit:
(4) Technical Material

(5) All Other

16




In addition to the above, the Company holds cemaiimeral rights on 7,500 acres in Juab County, Wtaim which the berylliunbearing
ore, bertrandite, is mined by the open pit meti#odortion of these mineral rights are held undesé& Ore reserve data can be found in Iten
this Form 10-K.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our subsidiaries and our holding company are stibfien time to time, to a variety of civil and adnstrative proceedings arising out
our normal operations, including, without limitatioproduct liability claims, health, safety and eammental claims and employmermtatec
actions. Among such proceedings are cases allghiaigplaintiffs have contracted, or have been mlaae risk of contracting, berylliu
sensitization or chronic beryllium disease or otherg conditions as a result of exposure to benylli(“beryllium cases”)The plaintiffs ir
beryllium cases seek recovery under negligencevaridus other legal theories and demand compensatat often punitive damages, in m
cases of an unspecified sum. Spouses of someifftaataim loss of consortium.

Beryllium Claims

As of December 31, 2012, our subsidiary, MaterionsB Inc., was a defendant in one beryllium caseo(ving one plaintiff, plus or
spouse with a consortium claim) in the federalristourt in Philadelphia. This case was filedidgrSeptember 2012. On January 16, 201:
Company filed a motion for judgment on the pleadiimgthis case. The Company has some insuranceag®/esubject to an annual deductible.

As of December 31, 2011, there were no pendingllherycases, and as of December 31, 2012, thereomaspending beryllium ca
(involving two plaintiffs).

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Information concerning mine safety violations ohet regulatory matters required by Section 1508fadhe DoddFrank Wall Stree
Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 10Regfulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in Bxh®5 to this Form 10-K.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividends

The Company's common shares are listed on the Nank Stock Exchange under the symbol “MTRMS of February 20, 2013, the
were 1,183 shareholders of record. The table bed@summary of the range of market prices witpeesto common shares during each qu
of fiscal years 2012 and 2011 and the dividend$aded per common share.

Stock Price Range

Fiscal Quarters High Low Dividends
2012
First $ 3291 $ 2477 $ —
Second 29.3i 20.3i 0.07¢
Third 25.5i 17.5¢ 0.07¢
Fourth 25.9: 18.8¢ 0.07¢
2011
First $ 449 % 33.9¢ $ —
Second 44.0( 33.0z —
Third 42.0¢ 21.11 —
Fourth 30.1¢ 19.5: =

We did not pay any dividends in 2011, but begaringpglividends in June 2012. We expect to pay coatparcash dividends in the futt
subject to the continuing determination by our Boaf Directors that paying dividends remains in Hest interest of our shareholders.
agreements governing our credit facilities resttiet amount of cash dividends that we can pay. detgrminations by our Board of Director:
pay cash dividends in the future will take into @aat various factors, including our financial cdiafi, results of operations, current .
anticipated cash needs, plans for expansion atcteEms under the agreements governing our cffaditities and any agreement governing
future debt. We cannot provide assurance that eindd will be paid in the future or that, if paibetdividends will be at the same amour
frequency.
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Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the cumulative shatder return on our common shares as comparduetoumulative total return of t
S&P SmallCap 600 Index and the Russell 2000 IndeMaterion Corporation is a component of thesecesli

$200
—0— Mlsterion Corporaticn
—#r— 54 SmallCap 600
$150 —a— Pz 112000

100 M
T~ |

$30 \:’///_/u

Dollars

%0 T T T T
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Materion Corporation $100 $34 $50 $104 $66 $70
S&P SmallCap 600 $100 $69 $87 $109 $110 $128
Russell 2000 $100 $66 $84 $107 $102 $119

The above graph assumes that the value of our consimares and each index was $100 on December G7,&@l that all dividends,
paid, were reinvested.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

(Thousands except per share data) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
For the year
Net sales $ 1,273,000 $ 1,526,73 $ 1,302,31. % 715,18t % 909,71:
Cost of sales 1,074,29! 1,311,40! 1,079,66! 623,76 757,83t
Gross margin 198,78: 215,32: 222,64t 91,42 151,87!
Operating profit (loss) 36,77t 57,07¢ 73,63 (29,485 28,07:
Interest expense - net 3,13¢ 2,81: 2,66¢ 1,29¢ 1,99¢
Income (loss) before income taxes 33,64: 54,26¢ 70,96¢ (20,789 26,07¢
Income taxes (benefit) 8,97¢ 14,28" 24,54 (8,429 7,71¢
Net income (loss) 24,66¢ 39,97¢ 46,42 (12,355 18,35:
Earnings per share of common stock:
Basic 1.21 1.9¢ 2.2¢ (0.67) 0.9C
Diluted 1.1¢ 1.9: 2.2t (0.61) 0.8¢

Dividends per share of common stock 0.22¢ — — — —
Depreciation and amortization 37,69¢ 44,19 35,93 32,36¢ 34,20«
Capital expenditures 34,08¢ 28,18’ 42,31 44,17: 35,51¢
Mine development expenditures 10,57: 56C 11,34¢ 80¢ 421
Year-end position
Working capital 251,92: 231,23( 208,36! 140,48: 189,89
Ratio of current assets to current liabiliti 2.7t01 27t0: 24t0° 20to: 28to:
Property and equipment:

At cost $ 779,78" 3 752,72t  $ 719,950 % 665,36. $ 635,26t

Cost less depreciation, amortization

and depletion 272,54. 263,39¢ 265,86! 227,76t 207,25:
Total assets 814,91 772,10: 735,41( 621,95: 581,89
Long-term liabilities 203,33! 184,14 157,57: 131,63( 116,52
Long-term debt 44,88( 40,46 38,30¢ 8,30t 10,60:
Shareholders’ equity 414,99! 405,98. 384,35t 339,85! 347,09

Weighted-average number of shares of
stock outstanding:

Basic 20,41¢ 20,36 20,28: 20,19: 20,33¢
Diluted 20,67¢ 20,75« 20,59( 20,19: 20,54:

Capital expenditures shown above include amourgatspnder government contracts for which reimbuesgmwere received from 1
government in the amounts of $1.0 million in 2082.4 million in 2011, $21.9 million in 2010, $28llion in 2009 and $8.0 million in 2008.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are an integrated producer of high performamb@rced engineered materials used in a varietyeotreeal, electronic, thermal a
structural applications. Our products are sold intmnerous markets, including consumer electronigdystrial components and commer
aerospace, defense and science, medical, enetgyative electronics, telecommunications infrasiutes and appliance.

Sales of $1.3 billion in 2012 were 17% lower tham cecordhigh sales of $1.5 billion in 2011. Market condisoand the associa
demand levels were mixed during 2012. We were eagea by the continuing improvement of our medinatket sales and shipments into
industrial components and commercial aerospaceeahationsumer electronics sales were adversely i@gpdry changes within the LED sec
while energy sales softened due to a reductioheéncil and gas rig count and the weakness of ther saergy sector. Within the defense
science market, sales for defense applicationersedt as a result of government budget cuts antintlirey of programs while sales for scie
applications improved. Our sales in 2012 were aféected by differences in the metal price pasettgh, the use of customsupplied metal ar
our discontinuation of a product line.

Gross margin of $198.8 million in 2012 was $16.5iam lower than the gross margin in 2011. Margimsre negatively impacted by
lower volumes in 2012 but benefitted from a favéeabhange in product mix and improved pricing. Tdress margin in 2012 was a
negatively impacted by a physical inventory lossorded in the fourth quarter. Implementation arattstp of the new beryllium facili
continued in 2012 and, while the associated additicosts reduced margins, improvements in theuvwtpd manufacturing efficiencies w
made throughout the year.

During 2012, we announced the consolidation ofoterioperations that included the closing of threalkfacilities and the relocation
their businesses to other facilities. These actioei® designed to improve customer service levaisogperating efficiencies while reducing c
over the long term. One-time costs associated thiérconsolidation plan totaled $4.8 million in 2012

As a result of the lower gross margin and the ifgoflonsolidation costs, as well as an increasexjpenses, operating profit declined fi
$57.1 million in 2011 to $36.8 million in 2012. Bargs per share were $1.19 in 2012 and $1.93 iA.201

Cash flow from operations was solid once againwasgenerated $38.6 million in 2012. Cash flow ie flourth quarter 2012 w
particularly strong.

We declared a quarterly dividend on our commoneshatarting in the second quarter 2012 and patlr$illion to shareholders during 1
year.

In the first quarter 2012, we acquired the outstamdtock of Aerospace Metal Composites Limited (AM@)small manufacturir
operation that produces metal matrix composites. AMC acquisition followed the acquisition of thetstanding stock of EIS Optics Limit
(EIS), a producer of optical filters and relatedenials, in the fourth quarter 2011.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Millions except per share amounts) 2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 1,273  $ 1,526.° $ 1,302.:
Operating profit 36.¢ 57.1 73.€
Income before income taxes 33.6 54.% 71.C
Net income 24.7 40.C 46.4
Diluted earnings per share 1.1¢ 1.9¢ 2.2t

Saleswere $1.3 hillion in 2012, a decline of $253.6 iill, or 17%, from sales of $1.5 billion in 2011 l&%ain 2011 were $224.4 millic
or 17%, higher than sales of $1.3 billion in 20IBe decline in sales in 2012 was partially due lmager metal price pagsiough, an increase
the use of customer-supplied metal and the diszoation of a non-strategic product line, while tha@nges in sales by market were mixed.

Sales to theonsumer electronics markebur largest market, improved slightly in 2012 02811 after adjusting for differences in m
price pass-through and use of custosgoplied metal. The growth was primarily due to d@lequisition of EIS. Sales to the consumer eleats
market in 2012 were negatively affected by sof@es for LED applications due to changes in madatditions. Sales to the consui
electronics market grew approximately 10% in 2044r®010, but this growth was mainly due to higietal pass-through prices.

End-use applications for our materials in the camsuelectronics market include cell phones, tabbgsing systems and other harele
devices, and the market's demand for increasedmpaneeminiaturization in these applications favibiss use of our higlperformance materia
As a material supplier, we sell to stamping hows®s subassembly shops so we are several steps removedHheofimal consumer. Our sales
this market in a given period, therefore, are affedy downstream inventory levels and producthredules and changes in market share ¢
intermediaries within the supply chain and not sse€ly by changes in sales of the final produdnazonsumer demand in that period. W
our marketing staff works closely with various demagenerators to develop new applications, teclydocan be closely guarded
competitive reasons and we do lose applications time to time due to rapid changes in technologiesapplications that have short life spi

Underlying volumes sold to thiedustrial components and commercial aerospace gtardntinued to grow in both 2012 and 2011.
growth in both years was driven by higher salesnaferials for heavy equipment, as a result of prodevelopment and market penetra
efforts, and improved aerospace market conditiSages of xray windows for industrial applications also cdntitied to the sales growth in 2(
over 2010but sales of these products softened in 2012. $aldw industrial components and aerospace marbet approximately 12% of ¢
total sales in 2012.

Defense and scienararket sales, which were approximately 10% of otaltsales in 2012, declined at a doudhigi rate in 2012 fror
2011 primarily as a result of government delays sgmehding cuts. The majority of the decline wasptics and precious metal application
our traditional berylliumbased defense and science sales showed a more deiclare. Defense and science sales in 2011 wéntvedy
unchanged from 2010.

Sales to thenedical markegrew in 2012 and 2011 over the respective prior Jagely due to increased sales for blood gludesestri
applications. Medical sales, which also includex+window applications, accounted for approxima@y of our total sales in 2012.

Energy markesales softened in 2012 from 2011 after growingificantly in 2011 over 2010. Sales for oil and ggplications, whic
were a main driver for the growth in 2011, declime®012 due to a reduction in the rig count. Safesaterials for solar energy, fuel cells
other alternative energy applications contributethe growth in 2011 but declined in 2012 due takez market conditions. Energy market s
were 8% of our total sales in 2012.

Automotive electronicsales declined slightly in 2012 from 2011 aftervgrag at a doubleligit rate in 2011 over 2010. The growtt
beryllium copper strip sales, primarily in the U.Bas partially offset by softer demand in Europd weaker sales of optics. The growth in Z
was largely due to solid demand in the domestic Emdpean markets. Automotive electronics saleewapproximately 6% of total sales
2012.

The order entry rate strengthened in the first bBB012 over a weak fourth quarter 2011, but theftened in the second half of the y
Total order entry was 2% higher than sales in 2@L&ilar to 2012, order entry rates started 20XXaofly strong, but weakened in the sec
half of the year and in the fourth quarter in garr. The total order entry level in 2011, whilgher than the order entry level in 2010,
approximately 3% lower than sales in 2011.
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Our sales are affected by metal prices, as changd® prices we pay for precious metals and varioase metals, primarily copper,
passed on to our customers. The average pricethdometals we purchased in 2012 were lower thay were in 2011 when the prices
various metals reached all-time or né&znm record highs. The net change in metal priesslted in an estimated $5.3 million decrease lesse
2012 from 2011 and an estimated $195.6 millionease in sales in 2011 over 2010.

We manufacture precious metal products using oualntbat we sell to the customer or on a toll bagisg metal that the custor
supplies to us. Shifts in the relationship betw#®n use of owned versus custorsapplied metal can affect the sales comparisonsees
periods, and in 2012, custom&rpplied metal increased as a percent of the tmetdl shipped. This shift in the source of metdleed our sal
of precious metal by an estimated $73.0 millio2@12 compared to 2011. Since the cost of the pusditetal is a padsrough, a change in t
metal's source does not have a corresponding inopagtoss margin.

As part of our product rationalization efforts, exted the silver investment bar business in 20his nonstrategic product line genera
extremely low margins that could not support theoamted level of working capital and overhead sTdgtion resulted in a reduction of sale
approximately $44.6 million in 2012 from 2011 wéh immaterial impact on profitability.

The acquisition of AMC in the first quarter 2012dhe&minor impact on sales as did having a full ygd1Sin 2012 after it was acquired
the fourth quarter 2011.

Domestic sales declined 23% in 2012 from 2011 agftewing 23% in 2011 over 2010. Domestic salesuitelthe majority of the impact
the differences in metal price patsough between periods. International sales, whrehincluded in each of our reportable segmemntsy @%
in 2012 over 2011 and 4% in 2011 over 2010.

Gross marginwas $198.8 million, or 16% of salés, 2012 versus $215.3 million, or 14% of sales2@i1 and $222.6 million, or 17%
sales, in 2010.

The lower sales volumes reduced gross margin bgstimated $31.0 million in 2012 from 2011 whilefefences in the volumes sold
the four segments between 2011 and 2010 resul@aeat increase of $9.2 million in gross margi2@11 over 2010. The change in product
was favorable in 2012 partially due to higher salbprecious metal products for medical applicagi@md pure beryllium metal products
generally generate higher margins. The changedadymt mix effect was unfavorable in 2011. Margitsoaenefited from improved pricing
portions of our business in both 2012 and 2011 rdwgd yields on nickel products generated a magimefit in 2012 as compared to 2011 :
the lower yields and associated higher costs retio@gins in 2011 from 2010.

Installation and stantp of our new beryllium facility continued throughta2012 and 2011 at the Elmore, Ohio plant sitee Tdsulting
additional operating and material costs and manurfiag inefficiencies reduced gross margin by atimegted $5.2 million in 2012 and
estimated $5.3 million in 2011.

The gross margin in 2012 was reduced by a net gdlygiventory adjustment of $7.4 million recordedthe fourth quarter at a facil
within the Advanced Material Technologies segmefe. believe that a portion, and perhaps a signifipartion, of this loss may be due to tr
While a minor amount of stolen material was recedeand an arrest was made, the full scope of ttenpal theft has not yet been determine
the internal and criminal investigations were dtillprogress as of early in the first quarter 0120We have insurance for theft and the ce
was notified accordingly. Since the amount of aegorery was still uncertain, an insurance recoverahs not recorded in 2012 and the be
from any insurance proceeds will be recorded iutaré period. Shipments to customers were not w&feby the inventory short. Physi
inventories were taken at this facility in the fiasnd second quarters in 2012 that resulted im@awed net short of $0.2 million.

We recorded a net unfavorable inventory valuatidjpstment of $3.6 million in the fourth quarter 20This loss was also recorded wit
the Advanced Material Technologies segment. We havevidence to believe that this loss was dubeti.t

The acquisitions of EIS and AMC provided additiogedss margin in 2012 over 2011 while EIS providedinor margin increase in 2C
over 2010.

We recorded a $4.4 million benefit to gross maigi2010 as a result of the depletion of a lasfifst-out (LIFO) inventory layer. The
was no corresponding benefit recorded in 2012 @420

The annual expense on the domestic defined bgyegigion plan was $9.8 million in 2012, $8.0 million2011 and $5.8 million in 201
The increase in the pension expense in 2012 ant \®83 due to changes in the discount rate, themeaince of the plan assets and other fa
and affected cost of sales, selling, general amdirgdtrative expenses and, to a lesser extentarelseand development expenses. Sestital
Accounting Policies”.
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During 2012, we announced the consolidation of sdvef our smaller operations in order to improvificeencies and cash flown
Specifically:

»  Our microelectronics packaging business will reledeom Massachusetts to Singapore in order to reffeetively service the custon
base in Malaysia. The relocation is planned todrmepteted in the first half of 2013.

*  The precious metal facility in the Czech Republasvehut down in the fourth quarter 2012 and gaingydird the existing customer b
will be serviced from our facility in Ireland. Tiézech operation had limited market penetrationwasl unprofitable.

* We had excess manufacturing capacity in our optioatings operations, partially due to softer desnfam these products for defel
applications, and, as a result, we will close diftgdn California and relocate strategic assetother facilities during 2013. We a
reduced the headcount at the related facility im&m the second half of 2012.

* The Albuquerque, New Mexico operations will be aditgated from four separate buildings into two Hirbs in 2013 in order
improve work flow and space utilization and redogerhead costs.

Costs associated with these actions, includingraeee, equipment writeffs, relocations and other related items, totfiéd million ir
2012 with $1.6 million recorded in cost of sales,@8million recorded in selling, general and adstiitive expense and $1.6 million recorde
net-other expense. Approximately 150 employees, or 5&upwork force, will be affected once all of tieeactions are completed. We estir
that there will be no net impact on gex income from these actions in 2013 as the amfditicosts to finalize the consolidations will effshe
associated benefits gained. We also estimatehibaetactions should generate savings in 2014.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expensesre $133.9 million (11% of sales) in 2012, $13hillion (9% of sales) in 2011 a
$126.5 million (10% of sales) in 2010.

Legal, administrative and marketing expenses aatautiwith the change of our name to Materion Cafpam in the first quarter 20
totaled $3.9 million in 2011 and $0.9 million inM Costs associated with the name change weretenialan 2012.

The incentive compensation expense on plans thyainpeash was $3.1 million lower in 2012 than i2Gand $7.0 million lower in 20:
than 2010. The changes in the annual expense hetyeaes were caused primarily by the performancthefindividual operations relative
their plans' objectives. Stodkased compensation expense, including the expensgtoick appreciation rights, restricted stock padformanc
restricted shares, was $5.9 million in 2012, $5ilian in 2011 and $4.1 million in 2010. The comjsan of stockbased compensation expe
between years may be affected by changes in plaigrdethe number of grants in a given year, acpgformance relative to the ple
objectives, movement in our stock price, forfeifyreesting schedules and other factors.

Expenses incurred by EIS and AMC subsequent to #logjuisitions increased SG&A expenses by $5.lianilh 2012 over 2011 and $.
million in 2011 over 2010.

Acquisitiontelated expenses for legal, accounting and dugedlitie services totaled $1.8 million in 2011 and $fillion in 2010. As
result of a change in accounting regulations effeclanuary 1, 2009, acquisitioalated expenses must be charged against incoimelased
Previously, these expenses would have been capitadis part of the cost of the acquisitions.

Various corporate costs increased in 2012 over 20tet increasing in 2011 over 2010. A portion lné higher costs was due to vari
initiatives, including a new centralized procuremntemction, that are designed to produce loexgn savings and improve profitability across
organization. Other costs, including informationheology, environmental, health and safety, businkvelopment and communications, |
increased in order to support a larger and morersiévorganization. Legal compliance costs werelafger in 2011 over 2010 but leveled of
2012.

Research and development (R&D) expensesre $12.5 million in 2012, $11.1 million in 201hca$7.1 million in 2010. While R&
expenses increased in 2012 and 2011 over the tegppedor year, the expense was less than 1%le§sa each of the three years prese|
The majority of the increase in 2012 was due tceagps incurred by EIS. The higher expense in 2Gds due to an increase in activity le
and various special projects. Our R&D staff worlasely with production engineers, sales enginertsmarketing to support the developn
of new products and applications as well as to niageovements in the current product portfolio.

Derivative ineffectivenesgxpense was $0.6 million in 2010. There was novdavie ineffectiveness recorded in 2012 or 2011e
ineffectiveness recorded in 2010 related to cofyeesed derivatives that did not qualify for hedgeoaoting and matured during that year.
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Other-net expenséotaled $15.6 million in 2012, $15.8 million in 2DAnd $14.8 million in 2010. See Note N to the @didated Financi:
Statements for the details of the major componehtgther-net expense for each of the three yedrs.rifiajor differences in otheet expens
between the years are described below.

The metal consignmeriee was $0.9 million lower in 2012 than in 2011,imadue to differences in the rate charged by fthancia
institutions and lower average mepaices. The consignment fee increased $3.3 millic2011 over 2010 as a result of higher metal prime
increased quantities of metal on hand.

The net foreign currency exchange and translatonsgotaled $1.5 million in 2012 compared to nesks of $2.8 million in 2011 and §
million in 2010. These gains and losses result fmovements in the value of the U.S. dollar verghgrocurrencies, primarily the euro and ©
and the related impact on certain foreign curretiegominated assets, liabilities and transactiomsthe maturity of foreign currency hec
contracts.

The purchase agreement for our acquisition of thietanding stock of Barr Associates, Inc. in 20@89uded an earput feature that wou
require us to make additional payments to the memers of Barr based upon Barr's performance agalantified benchmarks over the 201
2013 period. The present value of the earn-outeséimated to be $1.9 million at the time of thewasigjon and was recorded in other lotegrr
liabilities. No payments were required to be made2010, 2011 or 2012 based upon Barr's actual ymegfoce relative to the individt
benchmarks for those years. We determined thafath@alue of this liability, based upon the faetsd circumstances and updated project
should be reduced to zero as of December 31, 20&1had previously reduced the fair value of thbiliiy to $1.1 million as of December
2010 based upon a review of the facts and circuroetat that time. The $1.1 million benefit frone treduction to the liability in the foul
quarter 2011 and the $0.8 million benefit from likeility reduction taken in the fourth quarter Z0&ere recorded as income in those respe
periods in accordance with accounting guidelines.

Othernet in 2011 included a $1.3 million benefit frone tfavorable resolution of a lawsuit that we haddikhgainst a utility provider f
raising our billing rates, which was in violatiof @ur contract. In the fourth quarter 2011, thertouled in our favor and we received §
million in full satisfaction of our claim.

We donated our former headquarters building andasemciated land to a non-profit organization, Whiesulted in a writeff of the
carrying value of $0.5 million to otheret expense in 2010. The majority of this unfavieratmpact on income before income taxes was offyg
a favorable income tax adjustment in that year.

Operating profitwas $36.8 million in 2012 compared to $57.1 milliarR011. The $20.3 million decline in profitabjlitvas due to low:
gross margin as a result of the reduced volumes,pthysical inventory differences and other factdhg charges recorded for the p
consolidations and higher SG&A expenses. Operatinfit in 2011 was $16.5 million lower than the acgting profit of $73.6 million generat
in 2010. The decline resulted from the margin biefiefm changes in the sales volume being more tiféset by the additional plant starg
costs, other margin issues, higher SG&A expensesicaease in metal consignment fees and othesrfact

Interest expense - navas $3.1 million in 2012, $2.8 million in 2011 afid.7 million in 2010. The increase in expense ih26ver 201
was due primarily to higher average debt levels éma@ lesser extent, an increase in the averagevbiog rate. The average outstanding
levels were similar in 2011 and 2010, while therage effective borrowing rate was slightly higher2011 than in 2010, particularly in
second half of 2011.

Income before income taxeandincome tax expenstor each of the past three years were as follows:

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Income before income taxes $ 33.€ % 54 % 71.C
Income tax expense 9.C 14.: 24.t
Effective tax rate 26.71% 26.2% 34.%

The effects of percentage depletion (a tax bemeBulting from our mining operations), foreign smurincome and deductions,
production deduction, executive compensation, discevents and other items were major causes ditfeeences between the effective
statutory rates in each of the three years.

The research and experimentation credit providek &enefit in 2011, but this credit was not exthdy the federal government for 2i
until January 2013. Accounting regulations requiseto record the tax expense based upon the laeHeat at the end of the year and, ¢
though the research and experimentation creditheilised to determine our actual liability on odt22tax return, the 2012 benefit of this cr
will not be recorded in our Consolidated Statenoédbhcome until the first quarter 2013.
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The 2012 tax expense included net favorable dsdtems of $0.3 million as a result of a changéai rates in Japan that affected
carrying value of certain deferred tax assetsdaaton to the tax reserves due to the lapse ofthieite of limitations, adjustments to the Z
tax returns that were finalized during 2012 ancepttems.

The tax expense in 2011 included net favorablerelisdtems of $2.0 million due to a combinationaofeduction to the tax reserves
result of the lapse of the statute of limitatioadjustments to the 2010 tax returns that wereifiedlin the third quarter 2011 and other items.

The tax expense in 2010 included $1.5 million foe teduction of a deferred tax asset as a restifteoPatient Protection and Afforda
Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and EducB&conciliation Act. Beginning in 2013, we wilh tonger be able to claim an income
deduction for prescription drug benefits provideautir retirees and reimbursed under the MedicarelPeetiree drug subsidy program.

The 2010 tax expense also included the unfavoiatgact of a net $0.6 million increase in the teser@es that was recorded in accord
with accounting guidelines.

See Note P to the Consolidated Financial Statenfiengsreconciliation of the statutory and effeetiax rates.

Net incomewas $24.7 million, or $1.19 per share diluted, @12 compared to $40.0 million, or $1.93 per shaletedl, in 2011 and $4€
million, or $2.25 per share diluted, in 2010.

Segment Disclosures

Results by segment are shown in Note M to the Gmlsged Financial Statements. The All Other columiNote M includes our pare
company expenses, other corporate charges andpérating results of Materion Services Inc., a whalvned subsidiary that provic
administrative and financial oversight servicestio other businesses on a cphts basis. In 2011, we changed our name from BEugjineere
Materials Inc. to Materion Corporation. We changfegl names of the majority of our subsidiaries a. Wée also changed the names of our
reportable segments but the name change did eotalt operating structure nor did it change th&emap of those segments.

The All Other column shows an operating loss ob$@illion in 2012 compared to $10.1 million in 20&hd $8.3 million in 2010. TI
reduction in the loss in 2012 from 2011 was duthéocosts associated with the company name chaogeéd in 2011 and an increase in ¢
charged to the business units offset in part bjnarease in various corporate costs and othermacide primary difference between the Z
and 2010 results was due to the costs associatdhei company name change, due diligence andsitignicosts, various corporate initiati
and other factors offset in part by lower incentteenpensation and an increase in costs charged tut business units.

Advanced Material Technologies

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 847.¢ % 1,051.¢ $ 879.(
Operating profit 16.7 33.t 39.t

Advanced Material Technologiemanufactures precious, n@necious and specialty metal products, includingovadeposition targe
frame lid assemblies, clad and precious metal pmefp high temperature braze materials, Uitta- wire, advanced chemicals, opt
performance coatings and microelectronic packaddsese products are used in wireless, semicondugtootonic, hybrid and oth
microelectronic applications within the consumecéionics and telecommunications infrastructureketar Other key markets for these prod
include medical, defense and science, energy ahgsirial components. Advanced Material Technologiee has metal cleaning operations
in-house refineries that allow for the reclaim of jpwas metals from internally generated or custonsensip. This segment has domestic faci
in New York, Connecticut, Wisconsin, New Mexico, $8achusetts and California and international feeslin Asia and Europe.

Sales from Advanced Material Technologies were $B4fillion, a decline of $204.0 million, or 19%pfn sales of $1.1 billion in 201
Sales in 2011 were an improvement of $172.8 mill@mr20%, over sales of $879.0 million in 2010.

The previously discussed impact of changes in theuat of customesupplied metal flowed through this segment's sakeglid th
discontinuation of investment bar sales.

We adjust our selling prices to reflect the price pay for the precious and various mreeious metals sold. While a change in the cc
the metal is generally a pagsough to the customer, we generate a margin orfiadication efforts irrespective of the type oétal used in
given application. On average, the applicable naiaks were higher in each of 2012 and 2011
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than the respective prior years, although the asmdn prices in 2012 was not substantial. We estirthat the higher metal price passsugt
increased Advanced Material Technologies' salesstimated $3.2 million in 2012 from 2011 and $18@i8ion in 2011 over 2010. While tl
metal price impact was greater than the total sa@ease in 2011, underlying volumes processed gr011 due to differences in product r
customer-supplied metal and other factors.

After adjusting for differences in the metal prigass-through and the use of custosigplied metal, Advanced Material Technolog
sales to the consumer electronics and medical rgairkereased in 2012 over 2011 while sales totitsranajor markets were flat to down.

The majority of the sales into the consumer eleitomarket from this segment are vapor depostaogets, lids, wire and other rela
precious and noprecious metal products for semiconductors andrattieroelectronic applications. These materialswaed in wireless, LEI
handheld devices and other applications as weah asnumber of applications within the defense aciénce market. The growth in consu
electronics sales in 2012 was largely due to thiiaition of EIS, which produces optical coatingsl aelated products for projection disp
gaming and other applications. Consumer electrsalies in 2011 were flat with 2010 as strong saleke first half of that year were offset k
weaker second half of the year due to stagnant dema

Sales of precious metal products for LED applicaionto the consumer electronics market decline@(f@2 due to the slower tt
anticipated growth in endse consumer demand for LED products driven byhtbk price to the final customer. As a result, nfanturers c
LED products have been designing ways to reducts cioeluding reducing the consumption of high awostterials. These new designs use
of our materials and therefore negatively impaetldvel of our shipments for these applicationdgs Thange also resulted in excess downst
inventories during 2012 that needed to be workedddurther depressing our sales in the short term.

Since we are an ufpent material supplier, changes in our consumectsebnics sales levels do not necessarily correspmchanges in tl
enduse consumer demand in the same period due to tieams inventory positions, the time to develop alegploy new products a
manufacturing lead times and scheduling. While graduct and market development efforts allow usapture new applications, we do |
existing applications and customers from timentetidue to the rapid change in technologies and &dbtors.

Sales of large area coatings products, primariggigion precious metal coated polymer films, gr@wraximately 35% in 2012 over 2C
and 50% in 2011 over 2010 after adjusting for thneated metal price difference. The growth in 2085 predominately due to applical
development efforts and geographic expansion ofsalgs of blood glucose test strip materials iht rmedical market as well as share ¢
within the existing customer base. Lower manufaetuyields and the inability to hold tolerancesulesd in missed sales to a key customet
the loss of a portion of the business to our coitgrah 2010. New processes were developed andfigablvith the customer and shipment le
improved during 2011. The sales growth in 2011 alas due to product development and share gaitsottier customers.

Sales of advanced chemical products for LED, opsiesurity, photovoltaic and other applicationgyfrthe Wisconsin operations declil
approximately 22% in 2012 from 2011 after growimpm@ximately 5% in 2011 over 2010. Weaker condgiavithin the solar energy mar
were a main cause for the decline in advanced darsales in 2012. The majority of the growth irLi2@vas due to the expanded use of |
technologies and the development of new applicatiblowever, the growth rate slowed down in the sddwmlf of 2011 and LED sales in 2(
were affected by the previously discussed changesarket conditions.

Precision optical coating sales were higher in 2fh in 2011 due to the acquisition of EIS. Abstat EIS acquisition, optics sa
declined approximately 9% in 2012 from 2011 largélie to lower defense and science sales resultimy €hanges in government spent
patterns and cutbacks. This decline in sales waaia cause for the decision to close our smallcaptioating operation in California. Sale:
optics for medical applications, which were minalso declined in 2012 as did sales for infed-camera applications within the automc
electronics market. The EIS acquisition was thenncause for the slight increase in optics salé0itl over 2010. Optics sales into the def
and science market declined while sales to the cakdnd other markets improved slightly in 2011rq2@10.

Refining and chamber cleaning revenue was low@0it? than in 2011 partially due to the lower businkevels at the nowtosed Czec
operation. Refining revenue grew in 2011 over 20ilPart due to the expansion of our operations ianttased marketing efforts. Refin
revenue is also partially a function of the voluafi@recious metal products sold and the availabBntjty of metal in the market to be reclairr

Order entry for the Advanced Material Technologgegment was approximately 2% higher than sale®12 and 1% lower than sales
2011.
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All of the facilities affected by the previouslysdussed consolidation program in 2012 are parh@fAdvanced Material Technolog
segment and the associated costs were recordetsatfe segment's cost of sales, SG&A and otheexpEnses.

Advanced Material Technologies generated a grosgimaf $104.2 million in 2012 (12% of sales), $1A nillion (11% of sales) in 20:
and $113.3 million (13% of sales) in 2010.

The decline in gross margin dollars in 2012 as amexbto 2011 was due in part to the previouslyudised $7.4 million physical inventt
loss recorded in the fourth quarter 2012. Marglae declined due to the impact of the lower satdame in 2012, but this was partially offset
the incremental margin generated by EIS. Margimefited from a favorable change in product mix ttuéhe increase in higher margin med
market sales and a decline in investment bar salésnanufacturing overhead costs decreased apmt@tiny% in 2012 from 2011.

In addition to the improved product mix, the grasargin as a percent of sales was higher in 2012itha011 as a result of the increas
the use of customer-supplied metal.

The net change in volume and product mix shift jglest a benefit to gross margin in 2011. This wadent in the increased sales to
medical market and sales of various advanced clmioducts, which typically generate higher masgifihese benefits were more than o
by higher manufacturing overhead costs, includimg ¢osts totaling $1.2 million incurred by EIS, amitier factors, which included a
unfavorable inventory valuation adjustment of $illion that was recorded in the fourth quarter 2@k a result of the reconciliation of
amount of metal on hand with amounts financed.

The gross margin as a percent of sales was lowd1d than in 2010 in part due to the significamctréase in the metal price pakssugt
in sales.

SG&A, R&D and othemet expenses totaled $87.5 million (10% of sale)d12, $78.8 million (7% of sales) in 2011 and .87illion
(8% of sales) in 2010.

A full year of EIS was the main cause for the iasein expenses in 2012 over 2011. The expensasaddiy EIS in the fourth quar
2011 subsequent to its acquisition contributedhéoimcrease in expenses in 2011 over 2010.

Precious metal consignment fees were $0.9 mill@wvel in 2012 than in 2011 largely due to lower épmsient rates offset in part by
increased quantity on hand. The consignment feeb&asmillion higher in 2011 than 2010 due to tddiional quantities of metal on hand
higher metal prices. The rates charged by the €ilahmstitutions were higher in 2011 than in 2@GKwell.

Incentive compensation expense was $2.5 millawer in 2012 than in 2011 and $1.6 million lower2011 than in 2010 due to
differences in performance relative to the plabgctives. R&D costs were relatively flat in 201@hpared to 2011 after increasing in 2011
2010 in order to support the growth in the busin€ssporate charges were $1.7 million higher in2€1an in 2011 and $2.1 million highe!
2011 than in 2010. This segment's expenses weidf tiet previously discussed favorable adjustmehtle acquisition earnut liability of $1.1
million in 2011 and $0.8 million in 2010.

Advanced Material Technologies' operating profisvd.6.7 million in 2012, a decline of $16.8 millinom the operating profit of $32
million generated in 2011 due to the margin diffees from the lower volumes, physical inventoryséss product mix shifts and other fac
affecting gross margins and the increase in exgefidee operating profit in 2011 was a $6.0 millaecline from the operating profit of $3
million generated in 2010. The margin benefits frima changes in volumes and mix were more thareboffg the fourth quarter inventc
valuation adjustment, higher overhead costs andnhttrease in consignment fees and other expengesating profit was 2% of salés 2012
3% of sales in 2011 and 4% of sales in 2010.

Performance Alloys

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 292 % 335.2 % 293.¢
Operating profit 24.C 27.2 27.2

Performance Alloyamanufactures and sells three main product families:

Strip products, the largest of the product families, include thimage precision strip and thin diameter rod ane.wihese copper a
nickel alloys provide a combination of high condvity, high reliability and formability for use asonnectors, contacts, switches, relays
shielding. Major markets for strip products inclucensumer electronics, telecommunications infrastine, automotive electronics, applia
and medical;
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Bulk productsare copper and nickélased alloys manufactured in plate, rod, bar, autzteother customized forms that, depending upc
application, may provide superior strength, coonsbr wear resistance, thermal conductivity or ikity. While the majority of bulk produc
contain beryllium, a growing portion of bulk prodsicsales is from non-berylliumentaining alloys as a result of product diversifion efforts
Applications for bulk products include oil and gaslling components, bearings, bushings, weldindstoplastic mold tooling and under
telecommunications housing equipment. Major markat$ulk products include industrial componentsl @ommercial aerospace, energy
telecommunications infrastructure; and,

Beryllium hydroxidds produced at our milling operations in Utah froor bertrandite mine and purchased beryl ore. Hoedxide is use
primarily as a raw material input for strip andloproducts and, to a lesser extent, by the Bemlland Composites segment. Sales of hydr
are also made on a limited basis.

Strip and bulk products are manufactured at fédliin Ohio and Pennsylvania and are distributéermationally through a network
company-owned service centers and outside distniband agents.

Sales from Performance Alloys declined $42.9 millior 13%, from $335.3 million in 2011 to $292.4llion in 2012. Sales in 2011 gr
14% over sales of $293.8 million in 2010.

The fall-off in Performance Alloys' sales in 2012 was laygélie to weaker demand for strip products fromatesumer electronics a
appliance markets. Our materials are used in thly stages of the manufacture of consumer eleatsopiroducts and our sales to
intermediaries typically are made well in advanté¢he sale of the ultimate finished product to tmmsumer. After a strong first half of 20
consumer electronics sales softened in the secalfiedh2011 and then remained relatively flat trgbaut 2012. Appliance sales declined
40% in 2012 from 2011 largely due to the weakeneatic conditions in Europe. Appliance sales had declined in 2011 from a strong 2010.

Sales to the energy market, predominately bulk yetsdfor oil and gas applications, declined in 26@2n a strong 2011 due to a reduc
in the rig count. Energy sales were approximat®6zigher in 2011 than in 2010. Due to the perferoeacharacteristics of our products,
remain wellpositioned in oil and gas applications and we grdte that sales for these applications will growethe rig count starts to incree

The impact of the softer sales to these marke®®r? was partially offset by growth in sales byf&@nance Alloys to other key marke
including industrial components and aerospace atwh#otive electronics.

Sales to the industrial component and commercialspace market, the largest market for bulk prajugew at double digit rates in 2(
and 2011 over the respective prior year. Demand daighMet®, a non-berylliuncontaining alloy bulk product, for heavy equipmant othe
applications continued to grow through market pextietn and product development efforts, while dethéor traditional alloys for aerospe
applications was solid.

Sales to the automotive electronics market, pripariNorth America and Europe, improved slightty2012 over 2011 after growing 2!
in 2011 over 2010. Sales over the first nine momth2012 were below the first nine months of 201t &ales in the fourth quarter 2(
strengthened due to improving market conditionsofotive applications for Performance Alloys inadudnder the hood electronic connec
and other sensors that require a high degreeiabildl.

Strip product volumes shipped declined 18% in 2B&g 2011 after declining 7% in 2011 from 2010. IBptoduct volumes declined
in 2012 from 2011, although shipments of non-bamilcontaining bulk alloys grew 28% and establishedcamd high. Bulk volumes grew ¢
in 2011 over 2010, largely due to higher shipmentsaditional alloys.

Average selling prices for strip and bulk produetsre higher in 2012 and 2011 than the respectiver gears as a result of 1
implementation of pricing improvement programs.

Copper prices were lower on average in 2012 thaPOihl and the reduced copper price pghssugh accounted for an estimated :
million of the decline in sales between periodsp@ prices increased on average in 2011 over 20#i0accounted for an estimated $.
million of the sales growth in 2011.

Sales of beryllium hydroxide grew in 2012 over 2@ht in 2011 over 2010 but remained relatively satdess than 4% of sales in 2012.

The order entry rate improved in 2012 and was 68héii than sales for the year. The order entrywate 8% lower than sales in 201:
order entry levels started the year strong but ghewed down in the second half of the year, prilpéor strip products.

The gross margin generated on Performance Allaysssvas $68.4 million in 2012, $74.6 million in120and $74.2 million in 2010. Gr¢
margin was 23% of sales in 2012, 22% of sales il 2thd 25% of sales in 2010.
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The lower sales volume was the major cause of €h2 fillion reduction in gross margin in 2012 fr#811. Gross margin was a
affected by the increased cost of bertrandite Dine. ore cost, which is a function of the cost tostnuct a mine and the quantity of the ore t
excavated from that mine, increased in 2012 dukedigher cost to remove the overburden duringtimstruction of our most recent mine. ~
higher ore cost coupled with slightly higher extiae mill costs resulted in a $1.8 million decreasgross margin in 2012 as compared to 2011.

The negative impact of the lower sales volume aigtién ore cost on Performance Alloys' gross mavgas partially offset by high
selling prices, improved yields on nickel produatsl lower manufacturing overhead costs.

During 2012, we improved the yields on certain eletontaining products resulting in lower scrap rated rework costs and leading 1
$3.3 million increase in gross margin in 2012 2@t 1.

Manufacturing overhead costs at the Elmore, Ohamtpsite, including rent, depreciation and outsidevices, were approximately 1
lower in 2012 than in 2011.

The higher selling prices, changes in foreign ergearates and other factors contributed to impgress margin in 2011 over 2010,
this benefit was largely offset by an unfavoralitargye in product mix, higher conversion cost in extraction mill, additional manufacturi
costs on nickel products, differences due to thpteti®n of a LIFO layer in 2010 and higher overheadts.

The weaker product mix in 2011 was due to a 20%irdem shipments of higher beryllium-containingigtproducts compared to 2010.

The higher conversion costs at the Utah extraatidhin 2011 were primarily chemicals and other coodities used for converting 1
bertrandite ore into beryllium hydroxide.

The aforementioned lower yields on nickel produtitsnot negatively affect sales in 2011, but theoamted higher costs resulted in a
million reduction in gross margin in 2011 as congolto 2010.

The depletion of a LIFO inventory layer resultedhinet benefit to gross margin of $4.4 million BLR. This benefit did not repeat in 2(
or 2011 as there were no significant LIFO layengleted in those years.

SG&A, R&D and othemet expenses totaled $44.4 million in 2012 compaoe$47.4 million in 2011. The 2011 expenses westigh
increase over the total expense of $47.0 millioa0&0. Expenses were 15% of sales in 2012, 14%les$ &n 2011 and 16% of sales in 2010.

The $3.0 million reduction in expenses in 2012 fra@11 was largely due to differences in foreignrency exchange gains and los
between years and a reduction in domestic seltipgrses. These reductions were partially offsetigfier corporate costs in 2012 and a one-
time litigation gain from a lawsuit against a wyilprovider over billing rates recorded in 2011. R&xpenses and incentive compensation
were relatively unchanged in 2012 as compared 14 20

R&D expenses increased a modest amount in 2011 20/ due to higher activity levels, while foreigarrency exchange losses
corporate charges were also higher in 2011 thaP00. These increases were largely offset by acteguin the incentive compensat
expense, due to differences in the performancddeagainst the plan targets between years, anttitegion gain. Selling and administrat
expenses were relatively unchanged in 2011 fron®201

Performance Alloys' operating profit of $24.0 natliwas $3.2 million lower than the operating profit27.2 million earned in 2011. T
decline in profitability resulted from the lowerags margin (due to lower volumes and higher oréscpartially offset by improved pricir
lower overhead costs and other factors) net oflaation in expenses. Operating profit in 2011 washanged from 2010. Operating profit \
8% of sales in 2012 and 2011 and 9% of sales i0.201

Beryllium and Composites

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 60.C $ 60.€ $ 61.¢
Operating (loss) profit (3.9 (0.9) 10.C

Beryllium and Compositemanufactures berylliurbased metals and metal matrix composites in ragktsifoil and a variety of customiz
forms. These materials are used in applicationsrdguire high stiffness and/or low density andyttend to be premiumriced due to the
unigue combination of properties. This segment alaaufactures beryllia ceramic products. The adipisof AMC provides a complementz
family of non-beryllium-based alloys and composifesfense and science is the
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largest market for Beryllium and Composites, whitber markets served include industrial componants commercial aerospace, med
energy and telecommunications infrastructure. Retsdare also sold for acoustics, optical scannimg) gerformance automotive applicatic
Manufacturing facilities for Beryllium and Compasstare located in Ohio, California, Arizona and I&nd.

Beryllium and Composites' sales were $60.0 millim2012 compared to $60.6 million in 2011. Sale20d1 were 2% lower than sale:
$61.9 million in 2010.

Sales to the defense and science market, whichuatamb for approximately half of Beryllium and Consfies’ sales in 2012, declined
in 2012 from 201 &fter declining 8% in 2011 from 2010. Sales forethsk applications, which include strategic mis$iiense, optical payloa
and advanced lightweight avionic packaging, arec#d by government funding delays and budget @&sitsell as program timing in a gi\
year. Softer defense sales in 2012 were partidf§ebby improved sales for science applicationsluding shipments for a nuclear fusion
reactor (ITER) and the Large Hadron Collider in &pe.

Despite the ongoing pressures on government budgeted on order patterns and other analyses, Wexdo¢he outlook for defense &
science applications in 2013 is solid. Our matsrgk designed into applications for SM-3 missdedse system and the EOTS on the ne3% F-
fighter jet that are funded for 2013. We also apéte an increase in sales for nuclear sciencecapiphs in 2013.

Industrial components and commercial aerospaceehagtes grew in 2012 and 2011 over the respeptiee years. The growth in 20
was due to the acquisition of AMC. The growth inL2Gver 2010 was primarily due to increased salesray windows and assemblies
industrial applications, but sales for these appilbms declined in 2012 due to lower demand frokeyw customer and other factors. Sale
AlBeMet®, a metal matrix composite, for applications in semauctor manufacturing and inspection equipmentigad soft in 2012 and 20
due to weak conditions in the capital equipmentkeiar

Sales of beryllium speaker domes for acoustic digrh assemblies grew modestly in 2012 and 2011litdespak market conditions a
excess downstream inventories. Beryllium's unigomalination of properties reduces mechanical deftaman sound, shifting the reson
frequencies inherent in other materials outsidé¢hef audible range. Our speaker domes are usedyimehd commercial, entertainment |
consumer applications and, while sales remainedmiin2012, we believe that this application repres a longerm growth opportunity for o
materials.

Medical market sales declined 17% in 2012 from 28ftér declining 10% in 2011 from 2010. The majodf the decline in 2012 was ¢
to lower shipments of beryllia ceramics for medilzeder applications while the decline in 2011 wagely due to reduced shipments ofay-
windows and assemblies.

Beryllia ceramic sales for applications within tieéecommunications infrastructure market decline@012 and 2011. Sales to the en
market, after growing in 2011 over 2010, were ungea in 2012 from 2011.

Beryllium and Composites' gross margin was $1118ami(19% of sales) in 2012, $12.1 million (20% g&#les) in 2011 and $21.5 milli
(35% of sales) in 2010.

We constructed a new facility at our Elmore plate that is designed to produce pure beryllium infetan beryllium hydroxide that
mined by our Utah operations allowing us to siguwifitly reduce our dependency upon external sodiocgaire beryllium metal. The operat
was placed in service during 2012, but the equigirdighnot generate the output as planned or degdignea consistent basis. Additional stapt-
costs, maintenance costs and other inefficiencie® wcurred to allow for the simultaneous operatib all of the equipment at full producti
volumes for extended periods of time and the pribda®utput levels improved by year end. Improvetaerere ongoing into the first quarte:
2013. The costs and inefficiencies associated thigtdelay in the starip of the facility reduced margins by an estima&B® million in 2012. |
2011, the start-up and inefficiency costs redugedgmargin by an estimated $5.3 million.

Gross margin in 2012 benefited from a favorablengleain product mix, primarily due to an increasesates of highemargin berylliun
metal products and a decrease in sales of AlIBeMat®etal matrix composite that generates lower mardmproved pricing on beryl
ceramic products also provided a margin benefGh2. Offsetting these benefits was the negatiy@ohof the slightly lower sales volume .
the related lower production volumes. Manufactuiwgrhead costs increased $0.6 million in EImor2dmh2 and 2011, largely depreciation
utilities associated with the new facility. Manufiaing overhead costs at the Fremont, Californ@ifg also increased, including manpower
outside services.

The change in product mix was unfavorable in 204 t@npared to 2010 as defense sales, which typigaterate higher margins, w
lower. Higher operating costs, particularly in foerth quarter 2011, reduced margins compared 1® 2Md largely offset the benefit from
yield improvements made on welded products durbitfl2 The lower sales volume in 2011 had a minomithpn the decline in margins in 2(
from 2010. Lower production levels at the Arizoaaifity also negatively
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impacted gross margin in 2011. Manufacturing ovadheosts were $2.7 million higher in 2011 than @1 partially due to the additior
ongoing overhead costs for the new facility in Etexdverhead costs increased at the Fremont faglitmarily salaries and fringe benefits
order to support the higher business levels there.

Total SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $15illom (26% of salesjn 2012, $12.9 million (21% of sales) in 2011 aridl $
million (19% of sales) in 2010.

The expenses incurred by AMC subsequent to itsisitign were a major cause of the increase in exgenn 2012 over 2011. Ré
expenses grew 8% in 2012 over 2011 after growirtg 62011 over 2010 due to increased activity aaibus projects. Corporate charges
increased in 2012 and 2011 over the respective pear while incentive compensation declined irhbgtars due to the segment's perform
against the design of the plans. Selling expensas op 2011 over 2010 while differences in othen+operating items contributed to the hic
expense levels in 2012 and 2011.

Beryllium and Composites incurred an operating @fs$3.9 million in 2012 and $0.8 million in 201h. 2010, this segment generatec
operating profit of $10.0 million. The increaseckrgting loss in 2012 was due to the reduced gresgim caused by the lower sales volume
other factors, and the additional expenses. The8%hdllion decline in profitability in 2011 from 2@ was due to a reduction in gross me
caused by inefficiencies and additional costs tegufrom the delay in the stamp of the new beryllium facility, additional ovedtk costs ar
other factors, and higher SG&A expenses. Operatinfjit was 16% of sales in 2010.

Technical Materials

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 727 % 78.7 9 67.5
Operating profit 6.€ 7.3 5.2

Technical Materials' capabilities include clad inlay and overlay metgdsgcious and base metal electroplated systemstraiebear
welded systems, contour profiled systems and saloated metal systems. These specialty strip metalupts provide a variety of thern
electrical or mechanical properties from a surfacea or particular section of the material. Ouddlag and plating capabilities allow fo
precious metal or other base metal to be appliebiminuous strip form only where it is needed,uadg the material cost to the custome
well as providing design flexibility angerformance. Major applications for these produmttude connectors, contacts, power lead frame
semiconductors while the largest markets are auigeelectronics and consumer electronics. Thegnand medical markets are smaller
offer further growth opportunities. Technical Ma#ts' products are manufactured at our Rhode Idlagitity.

Technical Materials' salesere $72.7 million in 2012, a decline of 8% fromesaof $78.7 million in 2011. Sales in 2011 werd g
million, or 17% higher, than sales of $67.5 million2010.

Sales to the automotive electronics market softeppdoximately 8% in 2012 from 2011 largely dudotwer sales in Europe due to wes
market conditions there. Automotive electronics ketisales were strong in 2011, particularly infirst half of the year, having grown 22% o
2010.

Consumer electronics market sales were 7% low2012 than in 2011 as customers started to phasef thwe current design of disk dr
arm materials faster than initially anticipated. WWaeve developed a new design for disk drive apptina as well as other applications that ¢
longterm growth potential in this market. Consumer tetetcs sales were 8% higher in 2011 than 2010 wigortion of the growth due to
11% increase in shipments of disk drive arm matedaspite shipment levels being disrupted in theth quarter 2011 by flooding in Thaile
that affected the downstream supply chain.

Sales for solar energy, fuel cells and other adtiiva energy applications showed solid growth ia22@nd 2010 due to product and me
development activities but softened in 2012 dumanket conditions. Medical market sales were fid2012 with 2011 and remained minor.

The majority of Technical Materials' product linglsowed a decline in sales in 2012, with the lardestine in inlay products. Sales
selective plating products grew in 2012 and in 2@hlle sales of inlay products improved in 2011 r02@10. The growth in the segment's 1
sales in 2011 was partially due to higher prices@ranges in product mix.

Order entry levels were inconsistent throughout2&id total order entry was approximately 8% |lbas sales for the year.

Technical Materials generated a grosargin of $16.0 million (22% of sales) in 2012, . énillion (21% of sales) in 2011 and $1
million (22% of sales) in 2010.
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The $0.6 million reduction in the gross margin Bil2 was due to the lower sales volume offset it lppra favorable change in prod
mix. Manufacturing overhead costs were relativeighanged in 2012 as compared to 2011.

The higher sales volume was the main cause fa2he million increase in gross margin in 2011 a2@t0. Manufacturing overhead cc
increased due to higher utility costs, maintenamkother items, but this increase was largelyeobfy lower inventory provision adjustments.

SG&A, R&D and other-net expenses were $9.3 millim2012 compared to $9.4 millian 2011 and $9.2 million in 2010. These expe
were 13% of sales in 2012, 12% of sales in 20111284 of sales in 2010.

Expenses in this segment were managed in 2012 reldtevely flat with the prior year given the saftsales volumes. A decline in incen
compensation was partially offset by an increasmnporate charges.

The slight increase in the dollar amount of thegeeases in 2011 over 2010 was caused primarilyidgiyeln commissions, due to the hig
level of sales, and increases in fringe benefiséscand corporate charges offset in part by lowerdebt expense.

Technical Materials earned an operatprgfit of $6.6 million in 2012 compared to $7.3 haih in 2011. The 2011 operating profit we
$2.0 million improvement over the $5.3 million abfiit generated in 2010. Operating profit was 9%ales in 2012 and 2011 and 8% of sal
2010.

International Sales and Operations

We operate in worldwide markets and our internai@ustomer base continues to expand geographiadiyto the development of vari
foreign nations' economies and the relocation &. usinesses overseas. In Asia, we have stratgdazated our facilities in Japan, Singap:
China, Korea, Taiwan and the Philippines while Buropean facilities are in Germany, the United Kimigp and Ireland. Our two most rec
acquisitions, AMC and EIS, are based overseas.

Our international operations provide a combinatdémanufacturing, finishing operations, local sadepport and distribution services .
are designed to provide a cedtective method of capturing the growing oversgasmand for our products over the long term. We alsgmer
our sales and distribution efforts with an estdigisnetwork of independent distributors and agémeighout the world.

The following table summarizes total internatiosalles by region for the last three years:

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Asia $ 219.8 % 203.¢ % 216.:
Europe 137.€ 147.¢ 127t
Rest of world 33.7 31.t 25.2
Total $ 3911 % 383.C % 369.1
Percent of total sales 31% 25% 28%

International sales include sales from internafiaperations and direct exports from our U.S. op@na. The international sales in
above chart are included in the individual segnsafgs previously discussed.

Total international sales improved approximately P92012 over 2011. This growth was due to the &itipns of EIS and AMC as sa
from the existing operations were lower in 201tha2011. The lower sales to Europe in 2012 wefiective of weaker economic conditic
and the decline in shipments to the appliance ntahkirnational sales grew 4% in 2011 over 20HleSto Europe improved in 2011 in |
due to stronger automotive electronics sales, waales to Asia softened partially due to the wealdes to the consumer electronics mark
the second half of the year.

Sales from the European and certain Asian opeatios denominated in their local currencies. Expioom the U.S. and the balance of
sales from the Asian operations are typically denated in U.S. dollars. Local competition generdiltgits our ability to adjust selling pric
upwards to compensate for short-term unfavoraltéaxge rate movements.

We have a hedge program with the objective of miziimg the impact of fluctuating currency valuesaur consolidated operating prc
See “Critical Accounting Policies” below.

Legal Proceedings

One of our subsidiaries, Materion Brush Inc., defendant from time to time in proceedings in vasigtate and federal courts brough
plaintiffs alleging that they have contracted chedveryllium disease or other lung conditions asslt of
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exposure to beryllium. Plaintiffs in beryllium casgenerally seek recovery under negligence anduwsrother legal theories and s
compensatory and punitive damages, in many casas wfispecified sum. Spouses, if any, often clasa bf consortium.

One beryllium case was filed during 2012 and itaered pending as of December 31, 2012. We recadederve of less than $0.1 mill
for this case. There were no settlement paymentierfa beryllium cases in 2012. There were no nases filed against us during 2011. ~
beryllium cases were pending as of yead 2010, one of which was dismissed and the ethsrsettled for less than $0.1 million during 2!
Two cases were settled in 2010 at an aggregatettests than $0.1 million.

Additional beryllium claims may arise. Managemeelidves that we have substantial defenses in tigpss of cases and intends to cot
the suits vigorously should they arise. Employesesain which plaintiffs have a higher burden aigy have historically involved relative
small losses to us. Thingharty plaintiffs (typically employees of customenscontractors) face a lower burden of proof thanedhployees ¢
former employees, but these cases are generalgredby varying levels of insurance.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoafeany litigation, we provide for costs relatedtese matters when a loss is probable
the amount is reasonably estimable. Litigationubject to many uncertainties, and it is possibkt some of these actions could be dec
unfavorably in amounts exceeding our reserves. Aflaworable outcome or settlement of a berylliumecas adverse media coverage ci
encourage the commencement of additional simiigation. We are unable to estimate our potentipbsure to unasserted claims.

Based upon currently known facts and our experigvite beryllium cases and assuming collectibilifyisurance, we do not believe t
resolution of future beryllium proceedings will leaa material adverse effect on our financial camdibr cash flow. However, our results
operations could be materially affected by unfabteaesults in one or more of these cases.

Regulatory Matters. Standards for exposure to beryllium are under veviy the United States Occupational Safety and tH
Administration (OSHA) and by other governmental amivate standardetting organizations. One result of these revieilislikely be more
stringent worker safety standards. Some organizsitisuch as the California Occupational Health Safitty Administration and the Americ
Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienistsyehadopted standards that are more stringenttiieagurrent standards of OSHA. ~
development, proposal or adoption of more stringgemtdards may affect the buying decisions by gersuof berylliumsontaining products.
the standards are made more stringent and/or toroers or other downstream users decide to retheie use of berylliuneontaining
products, our results of operations, liquidity dimdncial condition could be materially adverseffeated. The impact of this potential adve
effect would depend on the nature and extent ofctianges to the standards, the cost and abilitpeet the new standards, the extent of
reduction in customer use and other factors. Thgnihade of this potential adverse effect canno¢&témated.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Net cash provided from operatiormovided from operations was $38.6 million in 2@&k2net income and the effects of depreciation
than offset a net increase in working capital ite@ash provided from operations was a strong $46llon in the fourth quarter 2012 partia
due to the collection of accounts receivable aredaction in inventory.

In 2011, cash provided from operations was $5618omi Cash used in operations totaled $11.7 millibrough the first three quarters
2011 as a result of increases in receivables amhtory, contributions to the domestic pension piaryment of the 2010 incentive compens:
and changes in other items. In the fourth quat®r2 however, a decline in receivables, coupleti wiher improvements, resulted in cash -
from operations of $68.5 million in that period.

In 2010, cash provided from operations totaled $3iillion as net income and the effects of deptémia deferred taxes and other ite
more than offset increases in working capital, prity accounts receivable and inventory. The majoof the working capital build in 20:
occurred in the first half of the year as saleglevamped up from the low levels in 2009.

As previously noted, changes in the cost of prexiand base metals are essentially passed on toneerst Therefore, while sudc
movements in the price of metals can cause a teanponbalance in our cash receipts and paymenrgghier direction, once prices stabilize
cash flow tends to stabilize as well.

Working Capital
Cashtotaled $16.1 million as of December 31, 2012, randase of $3.8 million from the cash balance @& $million as of yeaend 2011

Cash declined $3.8 million in 2011 as excess campled with the cash provided from operations,enesed to finance the acquisitior
EIS, capital expenditures, a reduction in debtthedepurchase of shares.
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Accounts receivabldotaled $126.5 million as of year-end 2012, anaase of $8.7 million, or 7%, from the yeawrd 2011 balance
$117.8 million. The growth was primarily due to lavedown in the days sales outstanding (DSO), a oreasf how fast receivables .
collected, from approximately 32 days at year-e@tl12to approximately 37 days at yesrd 2012. The DSO of 37 days is within our no
operating range.

The yearend 2011 accounts receivable balance was $21.&mibdr 16%, lower than the accounts receivablari of $139.4 million i
of yearend 2010. This decrease was due to a combinatiohasfges in the sales volume, as sales in thehfouerter 2011 were 6% lower tl
sales in the fourth quarter 2010, and a 4 day irgrent in the DSO.

The expense for accounts written off to bad debtsaanges in the allowance for doubtful accoumtsained low at $0.4 million in 20
and $0.1 million in 2011.

We have procedures in place to closely monitoramaounts receivable aging and to follag-on past due accounts. We evaluate the
position of new customers in advance of the inigle and we evaluate our existing customers' tcpaditions on an ongoing basis. We
revise credit terms offered to our customers aglitions warrant in order to minimize our exposur€sedit terms may vary by country ba
upon local customary practice and competition.ifgjls for precious metals tend to have tighter paynterms than billings for other produ
Advance billings are used from time to time to h&lguce credit exposures and speed up the coleatioash.

Other receivablesvere $0.4 million as of December 31, 2012 compaece§i4.6 million as of December 31, 2011. The méajooif the
amount due at year-end 2011 was for reimbursenserigfuipment purchased under a government confraetproject was completed in 2012.

Inventoriestotaled $206.1 million as of year-end 2012 compdce®187.2 million as of year-end 2011. The inventmrn-over ratio, .
measure of how quickly inventory is utilized, slalvdown during the year. Inventories increased $32ilion, or 21%, in 2011 over tl
inventory balance of $154.5 million as of year-@0d.0 as the turnover ratio slowed down during Yieat as well.

The inventory increase in 2012 was predominatebpiwiPerformance Alloys, with only minor changesimwentories within the oth
segments. The majority of the 2011 increase inrtoy was in Performance Alloys as well. PerformeAdoys inventory, which totaled $12:
million at yearend 2012, increased as a result of product mixsstgfowth in various bulk products that have long®cessing times, strate
inventory investments and the level loading of piitbn schedules. Inventories at our Utah extractioll and mine, which are part of 1
Performance Alloys segment, increased $1.7 milliio2012 over 2011, partially due to higher cosibcé mined. Utah inventories increa
$10.3 million in 2011 over 2010 due to the cyclinature of our mining operations and the plannedhty of extracting ore and the deployn
of our mining resources.

The acquisitions of AMC in 2012 and EIS in 2011 teitnuted a small increase in our total inventoryahaes in those respective ye
while the delayed start-up of the beryllium fagilib EImore has had a minor impact on the invengyowth in 2012 and 2011.

The majority of Advanced Material Technologies'gieis metal requirements are maintained on a coedidpasis, but its inventor
declined slightly in 2012, due primarily to lowardiness volumes, after growing in 2011.

The prices for the raw materials we use, partityllprecious metals and copper, can be volatile. iflygact of changing prices on «
inventory value is minimized by the use of the LIE@sting method within our domestic operations. TH&O method results in the current ¢
being charged to the income statement and the oti#s being used to value the inventory on haed.“Sritical Accounting Policies” below.

Intangible assetdotaled $28.9 million at the end of 2012 versus.@3%illion at yearend 2011. The $6.1 million decline was du
amortization of $6.6 million offset in part by imigible assets of $0.5 million acquired with AMC.

Intangible assets declined approximately $2.3 amilin 2011. Amortization expense was $6.7 millidnilesintangible assets acquired v
EIS and deferred financing costs associated with debt agreements totaled approximately $4.4 millio

See Note E to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Other Long-term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities were $16.2 million asyear-end 2012, a decrease of $0.3 million frorarynd 2011 largely due to the nori
amortization of capital lease balances. Other l@mgy liabilities declined $1.4 million during 20&rbm the yearend 2010 balance primarily ¢
to the reversal of the remaining balance of the-eait liability associated with the Barr acquisitio

35




Retirement and Post-employment Benefits
The long-term retirement and post-employment beoéfigation was $126.0 million at year-end 2012 &105.1 million at yeaend 2011

We have a defined benefit pension plan that coersnajority of our domestic employees. The ligpifor this plan, which is included
the above totals, was $79.3 million at year-end22&1d $63.7 million at yeasnd 2011. The projected benefit obligation was $23fillion, ar
increase of $37.7 million from the yeand 2011 balance of $199.2 million due to a reducin the discount rate, the current year expens
other factors. The market value of the plan asseteased from $135.5 million at year-end 20111676 million at yeaend 2012. This $22
million increase in the asset value resulted framticbutions of $11.8 million and investment eagsrof $18.0 million less benefit payments
expenses of $7.7 million. The plan assets genegatetuirn of 13.0% in 2012 and a loss of 3.7% 1120

A portion of our domestic retirees and current eappés are eligible to participate in a retiree madbenefit plan. The plan is unfunt
and the liability was $34.3 million at year-end 20Wvith $2.7 million classified as short-term argl$ million classified as lontgrm. The pla
liability was $33.2 million at year-end 2011, wiB0.4 million classified as long-term and $2.8 ol classified as shoterm. The plan expen
was $1.8 million in 2012 and $1.8 million in 2011.

Our subsidiary in Germany has an unfunded retiréipkam for its employees, while our subsidiary imgEand has a funded retirement pl
See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdditional details on our retirement obligaso
Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation, amortization and depletion expensg $&7.0 million in 2012, $43.6 million in 2011 a$85.4 million in 2010. The prima
cause for the decrease in 2012 from 2011 and ttredse in 2011 over 2010 was higher mine amomizati 2011 as a result of mining
throughout 2011 from the new pit that opened lat2d10. During 2012, a significant portion of thenimg activity centered on opening anot
new pit as opposed to excavating ore out of thetiexj pits.

Capital Expenditures

A summary of capital expenditures over the 201202 timeframe is as follows:

(Millions) 2012 2011 2010
Capital expenditures $ 341 % 28.2 % 42.4
Mine development 10.€ 0.€ 11.3
Subtotal 447 28.¢ 53.7
Reimbursement for spending under government cdntrac 1.C 54 21.¢
Net spending $ 437 $ 234 % 31.¢

We have a Title lll contract with the U.S. Departrhef Defense (DoD) for the design and developneé@t new facility for the productic
of primary beryllium. The equipment has been itsthhnd placed in service. The total cost of thidtiryear project is approximately $10
million, with the DoD providing approximately 70% the funding, primarily for equipment and a pontiof the initial project design costs. (
portion of the project cost includes equipment #rel building and other nocapitalizable items. The DoD's contributions to freject wer
essentially complete as of yeamd 2012, but their final share of the cost willdetermined based upon their satisfactory reviethefprojec
Additional capital and expense dollars not subjeceimbursement from the DoD will be spent in faetperiods in order to improve efficienc
and to operate at the designed and necessary tEvaisduction.

Capital spending on the beryllium facility total§8.0 million in 2012 and is included in the $34.1llion figure in the above tabl
Spending on this project totaled $5.1 million irL2Gand $28.0 million in 2010.

Reimbursements from the DoD are recorded as ungdnceme, a liability on the Consolidated Balan¢e&. See Critical Accounting
Policies” below for further discussion. The spending and beireement received from the government may diffea igiven year due to t
normal lag between when the spending occurs angahernment issues the reimbursement.

Capital spending by Advanced Material Technologaaled $11.8 million in 2012, $8.0 million in 20Bhd $5.2 million in 2010. Maj
projects in 2012 included a new shield kit cleandpgration in New Mexico, a new manufacturing woell approach for precision optics at
Westford, Massachusetts facility and an expansmhnaodification to the Singapore facility.
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Performance Alloys' capital spending, which tota&i®.9 million in 2012, $10.6 million in 2011 and 71 million in 2010, include
upgrades to the casting equipment and extrusisss@ethe Elmore facility, new R&D equipment andedical continuous caster at the Lor
Ohio facility in 2012. The capital spending in 204120 included the mine development costs of $ihillfon. The mine under construction
2012 should be completed during 2013 with ore sgleeldto be removed beginning in the second hatiefyear.

Technical Materials' capital spending in 2012 ideld a new electron beam welding line and an upgaadeconversion of a plating line.

In addition to the new beryllium plant, capital sdang within the Beryllium and Composites segmeriuided spending on a new cl
room and various facility modifications.

We also continued work on software upgrades andeimgntations at various facilities as well as vasimfrastructure projects during
2010 to 2012 timeframe.

Capacity expansion projects, including the new ltiarg facility, accounted for approximately 34% thfe capital spending in 2012, wt
new technology projects accounted for approximal8B6 of the 2012 spending. The balance of the @lagpiending in 2012 was on maintene
capital projects and mine development.

Acquisitions

In addition to the above capital expenditures, weguaed the following businesses in the 2010 to22rhe frame:

Acquired
(Millions) Year Cost Goodwill
Aerospace Metal Composites Limited 2012 $ 33 % 1.¢
EIS Optics Limited 2011 24.F 13.¢
Academy Corporation 2010 21.C 54

The EIS acquisition cost includes $0.6 million thets paid in 2012 as a result of the resolutionaddiation adjustments in accordance
the purchase agreement. The acquisition costs slaoemet of cash acquired, if any. Each of theseetlacquisitions was financed wit
combination of cash on hand and borrowings undereholving credit agreement. See Note B to thesGlishated Financial Statements.

Debt

Outstanding debt increased from $81.4 million ageafr-end 2011 to $94.3 million as of yemd 2012. The increase was largely due t
net growth in inventory and other working capit@nis, capital expenditures, the acquisition of Akl@ the payment of dividends on
common shares. Debt declined $4.7 million in 2@ébt had grown $26.2 million in the first three tjaes of 2011, but then declined $
million in the fourth quarter despite the EIS a&ifion due to strong cash flow from operationshattperiod.

Short-term debt was $49.4 million at year-end 20&gpared to $40.9 million at year-end 2011. L¢egn debt was $44.9 million
December 31, 2012 and $40.5 million at DecembeRG11.

We negotiated a new fivgear $325.0 million revolving credit agreementéaplace the former $240.0 million agreement in tiltquarte
2011. This is a committed facility with sub-fadiis for revolving loans, swing line loans, lettefscredit and foreign currenayenominate
borrowings. The agreement contains various covenpamiuding a leverage ratio and fixed charge caye ratio.

In 2011, we entered into an $8.0 million debt agreet with the Toledo-Lucas County Port Authoritglahe DaytorMontgomery Count
Port Authority to fund capital expenditures at @frio facilities. Proceeds totaling $3.2 million wassed during 2011, with the balance of
available proceeds used in 2012. The agreemestfoalmonthly installment payments and a $1.1 onillballoon payment upon maturity in
years.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covesas of December 31, 2012.
Shareholders' Equity

Shareholders' equity increased from $406.0 milksnof year-end 2011 to $415.0 million as of yead- 2012. Equity increased $2
million in 2011. Causes for the changes in equityboth years included comprehensive income, shgparchases, option exercises .
beginning in 2012, the payment of dividends ona@ammon shares.
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Comprehensive income was $8.5 million in 2012 ab@.4 million in 2011. As a result of a change is@mting regulations, beginning
2012, comprehensive income is presented in a depfmancial statement as opposed to being detailedfootnote. Comprehensive incom
net income plus items that are charged or creditetttly to shareholders' equity, including the ciettive translation adjustment, changes ir
fair value of derivative financial instruments aamjustments to the pension and other retiremergfli@bligations.

Our Board of Directors implemented a dividend pawgrin the second quarter 2012. A dividend of $0.,0&5common share was pait
each of the last three quarters of 2012. The caghtp shareholders totaled $4.6 million in 2012.

We received $0.2 million from the exercise of apprately 16,000 options in 2012 and $0.7 millioorfr the exercise of approximat
53,000 options in 2011.

We repurchased approximately 6,000 shares of aanmmn stock at a cost of $0.1 million in 2012. Irl20we repurchased approxima
132,000 shares of our common stock at a cost & $@llion in 2011. These repurchases were maderuaddare buyback program initie
approved by the Board of Directors in 2008.

Equity was also affected by stobesed compensation expense, the tax benefits ok aponpensation realization and other factors it
2012 and 2011.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations

We maintain the majority of the precious metalsuge in production and a portion of our copper nemments on a consignment basi
order to reduce our exposure to metal price movésnand to reduce our working capital investment S@uantitative and Qualitati
Disclosures about Market Risk”. The notional vatifighe off-balance sheet metal was $286.9 millisroayearend 2012 compared to $24
million as of year-end 2011. The higher value veaigély due to an increase in quantity on hand.

We were in compliance with all of the covenantstaored in the consignment agreements as of DeceBih@012.

Contractual Obligations

A summary of payments to be made under ltarga: debt agreements, operating leases, signifaagpital leases, pension plan contribut
and material purchase commitments by year is &sisi

There-

(Millions) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 after Total

Long-term debt $ 0€ $ 0€ $ 07 $ 39.C % 07 $ 3¢ % 45.k
Non-cancelable lease payments 6.7 5.C 4.t 4.1 3.1 15.C 38.2
Capital lease payments 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.C 1.C 5.& 11.1
Pension plan contribution 13.C — — — — — 13.C
Purchase commitments 3.2 — — — — — 3.2
Total $ 24¢€¢ % 6.7 $ 6.2 $ 441 % 4¢ % 247 % 111.2

The revolving credit agreement matures in 2016 tedlongterm debt repayment in 2016 includes $30.0 millbmmrowed under th
agreement. In the past, we have renegotiated aagesement prior to the maturity date of the cradieement and we anticipate that we w
do the same in the future. However, we cannot guieeathat a replacement facility will have similarms as the existing facility. See Note
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additidebt information.

The noneancelable lease payments represent payments opeeting leases with initial lease terms in exaésme year as of Decem!
31, 2012. The capital lease payments include alingilat the Elmore site and other material capéakes. See Note G the Consolidate
Financial Statements for further leasing details.

The pension plan contribution of $13.0 million iretabove table represents our best estimate abtfteibution to be made to the dome
defined benefit plan as of early 2013. Given themgiexity and number of factors that may affect toatribution levels, it is not practical
estimate contributions to the plan beyond one y&ee.the "Liquidity” discussion below.

The purchase commitments of $3.2 million are fquited equipment to be acquired in 2013 based oersrglaced with vendors as
December 31, 2012.
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Liquidity

We believe that cash flow from operations plus dlailable borrowing capacity and the current caalarre are adequate to sup
operating requirements, capital expenditures, ptefe pension plan contributions, the payment ofrtgdg dividends, share repurcha
environmental remediation projects and strategipisitions.

A summary of key data relative to our liquiditycinding the outstanding debt, cash balances, dlailzorrowing capacity and the debt-to-
debt-plus-equity ratio, as of the end of each eflffst three years is as follows:

December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2012 2011 2010

Total outstanding debt $ 94.: % 814 % 86.1
Cash 16.1 12.: 16.1
Debt net of cash $ 782z % 69.1 % 70.C
Available borrowing capacity $ 181« % 274¢ % 173.(
Debt-to-debt-plus-equity ratio 19% 17% 18%

Debt net of cash is a ndBAAP measure. We are providing this informationshese we believe it is more indicative of our oveiahncial
position. It is also a measure our managementtosessess financing and other decisions.

The cumulative cash flow provided from operationtalied $95.4 million in 2011 and 2012. This tywear cash flow was net
contributions to the domestic defined benefit @&$33.1 million. The cash flow from operations idgrthis time period allowed us to fund t
acquisitions totaling $27.8 million, capital expéndes of $67.1 million (net of the reimbursemerdani the DoD), share repurchases of
million and dividends of $4.6 million with only 8.2 million increase in debt net of cash.

The increase in debt in 2012 resulted in an ineréashe debt-to-debt-plus-equity ratio from 17%oéyear-end 2011 to 19% as of year-
end 2012. We believe that our cash flow from openatcan support this level of leverage, or higbger the long term. The ratio also incre:
as a result of the share repurchases and the divigkeyments.

The available borrowing capacity in the table abme@resents the additional amounts that could beWwed under the revolving cre
agreement and other secured lines existing as cémleer 31 of each year depicted. The applicabled®»iznants have been taken into acc
when determining the available borrowing capaditgluding the covenant that restricts the borrowdagacity to a multiple of the twelvaentt
trailing earnings before interest, income taxeqreleation and amortization and other adjustmenit® reduction in the available borrow
capacity at year-end 2012 from yeard 2011 was due to the additional outstandingoongs and letters of credit and lower profitalilin
2012 than in 2011.

Our revolving credit agreement, which we renegetlain 2011, provides a stable borrowing platfornthvilexible terms and does 1
mature until 2016.

As of early in the first quarter 2013, we do nobwnof any future or pending changes that will causéo be in nowompliance with any
our debt covenants in the near term.

The working capital ratio, which compares curresgeds to current liabilities, was 2.7 to 1.0 atryeyad 2012, unchanged from yesare
2011.

We intend to pay a quarterly dividend on an ongdagis, subject to a continuing strong capitalcstme and a determination that
dividend remains in the best interest of the shadeis. The dividend payments in 2012 averagedoappately $1.5 million per quarter.

In July 2010, our Board of Directors aetthorized us to purchase up to 700,000 sharesrafommmon stock, which represent approxims
3% of our outstanding shares. The primary purpdstis program is to offset the dilution createdotigh shares issued under stbelse:
compensation plans. Any stock repurchases will Bdarfrom time to time for cash in the open markeitberwise, including without limitatio
in privately negotiated transactions and rounddotblock transactions on the New York Stock Exclengnd may be made pursuan
accelerated share repurchases or Rule 10pans. The repurchase program may be suspendiisdcontinued at any time. As of Decembel
2012, we had approximately 410,000 shares avaitalide re-purchased under this program.

Our domestic defined benefit pension plan is urideded as of yeaend 2012. Contributions in future periods will bepdndent upc
regulatory requirements, the plan funded rationpilavestment performance, discount rates, actuasaLlmptions, plan amendments,
contribution objectives and other factors. Fedkgislation enacted during 2012 resulted in a rédoc
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in mandatory contributions in the short term frdme tevels under the previous regulations, but we ebect to contribute funds in excess of
mandatory levels in a given year depending uporcash flow from operations and other consideratidssof early in the first quarter 2013,
anticipate contributing approximately $13.0 millitmthe defined benefit plan in 2013. We also gpaie funding those contributions with ¢
on hand, cash generated from operations or borgsMimder existing lines of credit. It is not preatito estimate the required contributi
beyond 2013 at the present time.

In the second quarter 2012, we closed the domesfined benefit pension plan to new entrants. @anpéan participants will continue
accrue benefits under the existing formulas whée tires will be offered an enhanced defined cbuatidn plan. This action was designe:
reduce our pension plan funding requirements ifdhg term but will have minimal impact on our fung requirements in the short term.

We announced in the first quarter 2013 that we vedfering a ondime opportunity for terminated deferred vestedtipgants in th
domestic defined benefit plan the election of agusum payment in 2013 in lieu of an annuity upditement. We anticipate that the lump ¢
payments under this election will not exceed $16illon. The lump sum payments will be made frore gfension plan assets during the se
guarter 2013 and no additional contribution from tompany will be required to fund these payments.

Portions of our business utilize dilance sheet consignment arrangements to findmede rhetal requirements. Expansion of busi
volumes and/or higher metal prices can put pressarthe consignment line limitations from time tmé. As a result, we have negotie
increases in the available capacity under existves and added additional lines over the lastyears. The available and unused capacity
the metal financing lines totaled approximately &¥2million as of December 31, 2012.

We have an active environmental compliance progh&im estimate the probable cost of identified emrnental remediation projects ¢
establish reserves accordingly. The environmeetalediation reserve balance was $5.3 million at Béez 31, 2012 and 2011. Payment:
environmental projects totaled $0.3 million in 20dr2d $0.4 million in 2011. Environmental projeatsd to be londerm and the associa
payments are typically made over a number of y&s.Note J to the Consolidated Financial Statesnent

Cash on hand does not affect the covenants ordheweing capacity under our debt agreements. Ratif the cash balances may
invested in high quality, highly liquid investmentith maturities of three months or less from titogime.
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ORE RESERVES

We have proven and probable reserves of berylli@aring bertrandite ore in Juab County, Utah. Rromeserves are the meast
guantities of ore commercially recoverable throtiydh openpit method. Probable reserves are the estimateatitiga of ore known to exist t
have been computed from inspection sites that amtber apart than those used to measure provervessélthough the inspection sites
fewer, assurance levels are sufficient to assumeantinuity. Ore dilution of approximately sevesrgent occurs during the mining process.
ore is processed at our extraction facility in UtdApproximately 87% of the beryllium in ore is re@eoed in the extraction process.

We use computer models to estimate ore reservashwane subject to economic and physical evaluafidre requirement that reser
pass an economic test causes gpiemineable ore to be found in both proven andpbte geologic settings. Proven reserves have asa
slightly in each of the last four years, while pabke reserves have remained unchanged over the a@eperiod. Based upon aver
production levels in recent years and our near-fgroduction forecasts, proven reserves would lest eeventyfive years. The following tab
summarizes our proven and probable reserves anquingtity of ore processed over the last five ye@re reserves classified as possible
excluded from the table.

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Proven bertrandite ore reserves at year-end
(thousands of dry tons) 6,25( 6,341 6,404 6,42t 6,45¢
Grade % beryllium 0.26%% 0.265% 0.26€(% 0.26€% 0.26€(%
Probable bertrandite ore reserves at year-end
(thousands of dry tons) 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢ 3,51¢
Grade % beryllium 0.232% 0.232% 0.232% 0.232% 0.232%
Bertrandite ore processed (thousands of dry t
diluted) 71 7C 56 39 64
Grade % beryllium, diluted 0.345% 0.381% 0.33t% 0.33(% 0.321%

We own approximately 95% of the proven reserveH) thie remaining reserves leased. We augment oveprreserves of bertrandite
through the purchase of imported beryl ore frometita time. This ore, which is approximately 4% liamn, is also processed at the U
extraction facility.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requiresitiherent use of estimates and management's judgmestablishing those estima
The following are the most significant accountirgigies we use that rely upon management's judgment

Accrued Liabilities. We have various accruals on our balance sheeathdiased in part upon management's judgmentdingwaccrual
for litigation, environmental remediation and warkecompensation costs. We establish accrual bedaatthe best estimate determined
review of the available facts and trends by managgrand independent advisors and specialists a®@gte. Absent a best estimate,
accrual is established at the low end of the eséicheeasonable range in accordance with accougtiidgelines. Litigation and environmer
accruals are established only for identified andisserted claims; future claims, therefore, coule gise to increases to the accruals.
accruals are adjusted as facts and circumstanea®ehas well as for changes in our strategieseopétinent regulatory requirements. S
these accruals are estimates, the ultimate resolatay be greater or less than the establishedadaalance for a variety of reasons, inclu
court decisions, additional discovery, inflatiomdés, cost control efforts and resolution of simgases. Changes to the accruals would then
in an additional charge or credit to income inpleeod when the change was made. See Note J oathsolidated Financial Statements.

Legal claims may be subject to partial or compileseirance recovery. The accrued liability is reedrdt the gross amount of the estim
cost and the insurance recoverable, if any, isrdszbas an asset and is not netted against thgtyialbhe accrued legal liability includes t
estimated indemnity cost only, if any, to resolke tlaim through a settlement or court verdict. Tgal defense costs are not included ir
accrual and are expensed in the period incurretth the level of expense in a given year affectedhgynumber and types of claims we
actively defending.

Non-employee claims for beryllium disease maderpi@o2022 where any of the alleged exposure pegqggrior to yearend 2007 al
covered by insurance. The insurance covers defarse and indemnity payments (resulting from setiets or court verdicts) and is subject
$1.0 million annual deductible. In 2012 and 201dfedse and indemnity costs were less than the tbluc

41




PensionsWe have a defined benefit pension plan that cowéasge portion of our current and former domestiployees. Carrying valu
of the associated pension assets and liabilities datermined on an actuarial basis using numerctgrgal and financial assumptio
Differences between the assumptions and currembcp@ctual results are typically deferred into tret pension asset or liability value
amortized against future income under establishedetines. The deferral process generally redutess/olatility of the recognized net pens
asset or liability and current period income or enge. Unrealized gains or losses are recordedhier atomprehensive income (OCI)
component of shareholders' equity.

Management, in conjunction with our actuaries, afigueview key pension plan assumptions, including expected return on plan as:
the discount rate, the average projected wageimatease and mortality levels, against actual testlends, Company strategies, interest
curves, the current and projected investment enmiemt, industry standards and other regulations makle adjustments accordingly. -
actuaries will make calculations and adjust variagsumptions to reflect changes in demographicsatimer factors, including employ
turnover, annually as warranted. These adjustmmeaisthen lead to a higher or lower expense in éupariods.

We establish the discount rate used to determmetbsent value of the projected and accumulateefiv@bligation at the end of each y
based upon the available market rates for highitgudixed income investments whose maturities rhatee plan's projected cash flows.
increase to the discount rate would reduce theepteglue of the projected benefit obligation antlife pension expense and, converse
lower discount rate would raise the benefit oblatnd future pension expense. We elected to usscaunt rate of 4.0%s of December 3
2012 and 4.75% as of December 31, 2011.

Our pension plan investment strategies are govegea policy adopted by the Board of Directors.ehisr management team overse
group of outside investment analysts and brokefiages that implement these strategies. The futetarn on pension assets is dependent
the plan's asset allocation, which changes frone timtime, and the performance of the underlyingestments. As a result of our review
various factors, we reduced the expected ratetofrr@n plan assets assumption to 7.50% as of DeeeB1, 2012 from 7.75% as of Decen
31, 2011. This change is reflective of managemesi¢w of the long-term returns in thmarket place as well changes in risk profiles
available investments. Management believes thahgterm rate of return of 7.50% is reasonable. Shthddassets earn an average returr
than 7.50% over time, in all likelihood the futyrension expense would increase. Investment earningscess of 7.50% would tend to rec
the future expense.

The impact on the pension expense of a changes@oudint rate or expected rate of return assump#arvary from year to year depenc
upon the undiscounted liability level, the currdigicount rate, the asset balance, other changes fglan and other factors. If the Decembe
2012 discount rate were reduced by 25 basis pir25%) and all other pension assumptions remainedtant, then the 2013 projected per
expense would increase by approximately $0.8 millib the expected rate of return assumption wasiged by 25 basis points and all o
pension assumptions remained constant, the 20]&cped pension expense would increase by approglyn®0.4 million.

See Note | to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsdditional details on our pension and othérement plans.

LIFO Inventory. The prices of certain major raw materials that we, uncluding copper, nickel, gold, silver and otheecious metal
fluctuate during a given year. Copper prices orraye were lower in 2012 than in 2011 but highe20d1 than in 2010 while average prec
metal prices increased in 2012 and 2011. Wherdlgessuch changes in material costs, in eithexatiion, are generally reflected in selling p
adjustments, particularly with precious metals eoplper.

The prices of labor and other factors of produgtionluding supplies and utilities, generally irese with inflation. Portions of these ¢
increases may be offset by manufacturing improvesnand other efficiencies. From time to time, wdl vavise our billing practices to inclu
an energy surcharge in attempts to recover a poofi@ur higher energy costs from our customersvéler, market factors, alternative mate:
and competitive pricing may limit our ability tofeét all or a portion of a cost increase with highiéces.

We use the LIFO method for costing the majorityoaf domestic inventories. Under the LIFO methodlationary cost increases
charged against the current period cost of goolisisarder to more closely match the cost with dssociated revenue. The carrying valt
the inventory is based upon older costs and, asudtr the LIFO cost of the inventory on the batasbeet is typically, but not always, lower t
it would be under most alternative costing methdds LIFO cost may also be lower than the curreptacement cost of the inventory. -
LIFO inventory value tends to be less volatile dgryears of fluctuating costs than the inventoyeavould be using other costing methods.

The LIFO impact on the income statement in any myiyear is dependent upon the inflation rate eftectraw material purchases
manufacturing conversion costs, the level of pusekan a given year and changes in the inventoxyamd quantities. Assuming no chang
the quantity or mix of inventory from the DecemiBdr, 2012 level, a 100 basis point change in theianinflation rate would cause a chang
approximately $0.6 million in the LIFO inventorylua.
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Deferred Tax AssetsWe record deferred tax assets and liabilities baget the temporary difference between the findmejgorting an
tax bases of assets and liabilities. We reviewettggration dates of the deferrals against projegtedme levels to determine if the deferral
or can be realized. If it is determined that itnsre likely than not that a deferral will not balized, a valuation allowance would be establi
for that item. Certain deferrals do not have aniratpn date. We will also evaluate deferred tage#s for impairment due to cumulal
operating losses by jurisdiction and record a t#uaallowance as warranted. A valuation allowan@®y increase tax expense and reduc
income in the period it is recorded. If a valuatalowance is no longer required, it will reduce &pense and increase net income in the p
that it is reversed.

We had valuation allowances of $4.6 million assedawith state and foreign deferred tax assetsf ggarend 2012 primarily for n
operating loss carryforwards.

See Note P to the Consolidated Financial Statenfienglditional deferred tax details.

Unearned revenue Billings to customers in advance of the shipmenthaf goods are initially recorded as unearned ng¥ewhich is
liability on the balance sheet. This liability isbsequently reversed and the revenue, cost of aategross margin are recorded when the ¢
are shipped, title passes to the customer andhal oevenue recognition criteria are satisfiede Télated inventory also remains on our bal
sheet until these revenue recognition criterianagé Advanced billings are typically made in asatien with products with long manufactur
times and/or products paid with funds from a custdsncontract with the government. Billings in adeg of the shipments allow us to col
cash earlier than billing at the time of the shipt&nd, therefore, the collected cash can be uséeélp finance the underlying inventory.
unearned revenue balance was $1.5 million as ofemed 2012.

Unearned income.Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimburseder the Title Il contract with the governmenere initially
recorded in construction in process. Reimbursenfemts the government for those expenditures wererded in unearned income, a liability
the balance sheet. The total cost of the assettrosted under this contract included costs reisduiby the government as well as costs t
by us. The assets were placed in service and tapitein 2012. Depreciation expense was calculateti recorded based upon the assets
cost and their useful lives. The unearned incomtgility was reduced and credited to cost of safea catable basis with the annual deprecii
expense on the associated assets. The benefiréducing the unearned income liability in effecduees the net expense charged to the in
statement to an amount equal to the depreciatiotherportion of the cost of the assets borne byDepreciation and amortization on
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is preser@edfrihe current period reduction in the uneainedme liability.

Reimbursements recorded in unearned income foedqog@ment purchased totaled $63.5 million. Duri@d2 we reduced the liability
$2.3 million for the ratable offset of the deprdicia expense recorded on the assets, leaving admalaf $61.2 million on the Consolida
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2012.

Derivatives. We may use derivative financial instruments to leedgr foreign currency, commodity and precious inatae and intere
rate exposures. We apply hedge accounting whefffestiee hedge relationship can be documented aaidtained. The effective portion of 1
change in a cash flow hedge's fair value is reabrdeOCI until the underlying hedged item matuiés hedge does not qualify as effect
changes in its fair value are recorded againstnvec the current period. If a derivative is deernwtbe a hedge of the fair value of a bal
sheet item, the change in the derivative's valdebwirecorded in income and will offset the chamgé¢he fair value of the hedged item to
extent that the hedge is effective.

We secure derivatives with the intention of hedgaxisting or forecasted transactions only and doemgage in speculative trading
holding derivatives for investment purposes. Hedgeatracts are typically held until maturity unléksre is a change in the underlying hec
transaction. Our annual budget, quarterly forecaststhly estimates, customer agreements and attadyses serve as the basis for determ
forecasted transactions. The use of derivativegoierned by policies established by the Audit Cotteaiof the Board of Directors. Thi
policies provide guidance on the allowable typed@dge contracts, the allowable duration of thetraots and other related matters. He
contracts are approved by senior financial managgeosir corporate office. The level of derivativegstanding at a particular point in time r
also be limited by the availability of credit frdimancial institutions.

Our practice has been to secure hedge contractsmilezsited in the same manner as the underlying exppfor example, a yen expos
will only be hedged with a yen contract and notwatsurrogate currency and a silver exposure wlif be hedged with a silver and not a ¢
contract. We also typically secure contracts thiofiigancial institutions that are already part of bank group.

See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statenserds'Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Abiglarket Risk”.
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OUTLOOK

The nearterm outlook for various markets we serve remadiglsSales for the industrial components and consiakaerospace marl
have grown, including sales of our ToughMegi®ducts due to product development and markettptizen efforts. Medical market sales h
also grown over the last two years and we antieifiatther growth in 2013 through additional custoraed product development progra
While government defense budgets will continue @éounder pressure, we anticipate that sales of lnernylproducts for defense and scie
applications will improve in 2013 due to programitig, the development of science applications ahdrdactors. We are weflesitioned in th
oil and gas sector of the energy market and oesdal these applications should grow as the rigntstarts to climb.

The growth in consumer electronics sales was da@appg in 2012 as the changes in the LED sectowrgtream inventories and ot
factors reduced our growth. The performance chariatits of our materials in electronic applicai®upport the market's desire for devices
are smaller and faster with more power and theegtoe consumer electronics market has long-termtyrpotential for us.

New product development efforts are an integral pour sales growth as is leveraging our recequitions.

We are cautious about the condition of the U.S.nenw, including the federal government deficit ameé ongoing high level
unemployment, and the potential impact the econoray have on our sales and profits. The Europeanogaic situation is also a concern
us, as approximately 11% of our sales in 2012 weEeurope.

As of early in the first quarter 2013, we are eating that our sales in 2013 should be 3% to 5%évighan sales in 2012.

The equipment in the new beryllium facility has bdastalled and is operational. The continued improent in productive outp!
efficiencies and total cost will be a key to anr@ased level of profitability in 2013.

Precious metal prices on average increased sligh¥12 over 2011 and they remain at high leveth & high degree of volatility. Whi
we typically pass the precious metal costs on tocagtomers, at higher levels, some customers magsiigate alternative pricing arrangem
or may design us out in favor of lower priced, lovwerforming materials. The higher precious metédtgs will also put pressure on 1
consignment lines.

We will have additional costs in 2013 as we congléie facility consolidation program that we starie 2012. These additional co:
however, should be offset by the benefits genetayetiis program in 2013.

While we have taken steps to mitigate the impadhefdefined benefit pension plan over the longhieyur pension costs will increase
2013 largely due to the impact of a lower discaate.

Capital spending, which can be affected by our ¢sh new business opportunities, age of our eqpeipt and other factors, is anticipe
to be approximately $40.0 million in 2013.
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Item 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to precious metal and commodity piderest rate, foreign exchange rate and utilitst differences. While the degre:
exposure varies from year to year, our methods @otidies designed to manage these exposures havaned fairly consistent over tin
Generally, we attempt to minimize the effects afsén exposures on our gee¢ income and cash flows through the use of nbhadges, whic
include pricing strategies, borrowings denomindtethe same terms as the exposed assehatdfice sheet financing arrangements and
methods. Where we cannot use a natural hedge, weusgaderivative financial instruments to minimibe effects of these exposures w
practical and cost efficient. The use of derivaiisesubject to policies approved by the Audit Cattaa of the Board of Directors with oversi
provided by a group of senior financial managemsuatcorporate office.

Precious metals. We use gold and other precious metals in manufact various products. To reduce the exposure aoket pric
changes, the majority of our precious metal requénets are maintained on a consigned inventory b&ges purchase the metal out
consignment from our suppliers when it is readgh@ to a customer as a finished product. Our @msetprice forms the basis for the p
charged to the customer for the precious metalertrdand, therefore, the current cost is matchetigcselling price and the price exposul
minimized. The use of precious metal consignmerdgngements is governed by a policy approved byAtidit Committee of the Board
Directors.

We are charged a consignment fee by the finana#itutions that own the precious metals. Thisigepartially a function of the mark
price of the metal. Because of market forces amapetition, the fee can only be charged to custonmeasiimited case-bgase basis. Should 1
market price of precious metals that we have orsigmment increase by 20% from the prices on Dece®be2012, the additional ptax cos
to us as a result of an increase in the consignfieentvould be approximately $1.2 million on an asinbasis. This calculation assumes
changes in the quantity of metal held on consigriroethe underlying fee and that none of the addél fees are charged to customers.

To further limit price and financing rate exposyrasder some circumstances, we will require custert® furnish their own metal {
processing. Customers may also elect to provide dlaen material for us to process on a toll basi®pposed to purchasing our material.

The available capacity of our existing credit linesonsign precious metals is a function of thergitty and price of the metals on hand
prices increase, a given quantity of metal willizéi a larger proportion of the existing creditdi A significant prolonged increase in m
prices could result in our credit lines being fulifilized, and, absent securing additional cradi lcapacity from a financial institution, co
require us to purchase precious metals rather ¢oasign them, require customers to supply their onetal and/or force us to turn do
additional business opportunities. If we were isignificant precious metal ownership position, wahn elect to use derivative financ
instruments to hedge the potential price expostine.cost to finance and potentially hedge the msetl inventory may also be higher thar
consignment fee. The financial statement impadhefrisk from rising metal prices impacting ourditeavailability cannot be estimated at
present time.

In certain circumstances, we may elect to fix thiegoof precious metal for a customer for a stapedntity over a specified period of tir
In those cases, we may secure hedge contracts wémse match the terms in the agreement with ostoouer so that the gain or loss on
contract with the customer due to subsequent montsrie the precious metal price will generally Héset by a gain or loss on the he
contract. At yeaend 2012, we had hedge contracts to purchase drgblsewith a notional value of $26.3 million. Aetal price decline of 10
from the year-end price would result in a net adddl pretax expense of approximately $0.3 million in 20T8is calculation does not take i
account the additional net gain that would be rdedron the underlying hedged transactions wittctistomer.

Copper. We also use copper in our production processes.nVglossible, fluctuations in the purchase price @fper are passed on
customers in the form of price adders or reductidikile over time our price exposure to coppereésegally in balance, there can be a
between the change in our cost and the pass-thtouglr customers, resulting in higher or lower giras in a given period.

We consign a portion of our copper inventory reguients. The copper consignment arrangements aegrgal/by a policy approved
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Aghaprecious metals, the available capacity under éxisting lines is a function of 1
quantity and price of metal on hand. Should theketacost of copper increase by 20% from the preefaDecember 31, 2012, the additic
pretax cost to us as a result of an increase in timsignoment fee would be approximately $0.1 million an annual basis. This calculal
assumes no changes in the quantity of inventotiieunderlying fee and that none of the additidees are charged to customers.

Lower of cost or market. In our manufacturing processes, we use variouslsnitat are not widely used by others or activedgleéd anc
therefore, there is no established efficient maf&etderivative financial instruments that could bed to effectively hedge the related ¢
exposures. For certain applications, our priciracpce with respect to these metals is to
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establish the selling price based upon our coptitohase the material, limiting our price expostitewever, the inventory carrying value may
exposed to market fluctuations. The inventory vatumaintained at the lower of cost or market drittié market value were to drop below
carrying value, the inventory would have to be mtliaccordingly and a charge taken against cosales. This risk is mainly associated \
long manufacturing lead time items and with sludged scrap materials, which generally have longecgssing times to be refined or proce
into a usable form for further manufacturing anel ipically not covered by specific sales ordeosnficustomers. We did not record any mat
lower of cost or market charges in 2012 or 2014 eessult of market price fluctuations while we nefsml lower of cost or market charges tote
$0.4 million in 2010.

Interest rates. We are exposed to changes in interest rates oiop®f our debt and cash balances. This inteagstaxposure is manag
by maintaining a combination of short-term and lkeegn debt and variable and fixed rate instrumeMs.may also use interest rate swaps t
the interest rate on variable rate obligationsyagleem appropriate. There were no interest rateatizes outstanding as of December 31, 2
Excess cash is typically invested in high qualitstiuments that mature in ninety days or less.diments are made in compliance with poli
approved by the Board of Directors. Assuming nangeain the amount or makgs of the outstanding debt as of December 31, 20790 bas
point movement upwards in the interest rates orvatiable rate debt would increase our annualéstezxpense by $1.1 million.

Foreign currencies.Portions of our international operations sell prddipriced in foreign currencies, mainly the eund gen, while th
majority of these products' costs are incurred i8.Udlollars. We are exposed to currency movementisat if the U.S. dollar strengthens,
translated value of the foreign currency sale &edrésulting margin on that sale will be reducee Wpically cannot increase the price of
products for shorterm exchange rate movements because of local ditimpeTo minimize this exposure, we may purchémeign currenc
forward contracts, options and collars in complemdth approved policies. If the dollar strengthénie decline in the translated value of
margins would be at least partially offset by angan the hedge contract. A decrease in the valdleeoflollar would result in larger margins
potentially a loss on the contract, depending upenmethod used to hedge the exposure. Our cyyadioy limits our hedges to 80% or les:
the forecasted exposure.

The notional value of the outstanding currency @mis was $29.1 million as of December 31, 201thdfdollar weakened 10% against
currencies we have hedged from the December 32, @ddhange rates, the reduced gain and/or incréasedn the outstanding contracts ¢
December 31, 2012 would reduce pe&-profits by approximately $2.9 million in 201Bhis calculation does not take into account thecas
in margins as a result of translating foreign cocsesales at the more favorable exchange ratesglzanyges in margins from potential volt
fluctuations caused by currency movements or taestation effects on any other foreign currencyoti@nated income statement or bale
sheet item.

The fair value of the outstanding foreign currenoptracts was a net asset of $0.3 million at Deesr8h, 2012, indicating that the aver
hedge rates were favorable compared to the actaatend market exchange rates.

Utilities. The cost of natural gas and electricity used inaparations may vary from year to year and fronseedo season. We attemp
minimize these fluctuations and the exposure tdérigcosts by utilizing fixed price agreements df derations, when deemed appropri
obtaining competitive bidding between regional ggesuppliers and other methods.

Economy.We are exposed to changes in global economic donditind the potential impact those changes mag bawarious facets
our business. We have a program in place to closelgitor the credit worthiness and financial coieditof our key providers of financ
services, including our bank group and insuranceers, as well as the credit worthiness of custenaad vendors and have various conting
plans in place.

Our overall credit lines, including lines for credconsignment and hedging, have increased ovetatetwo years. These lines
established with a number of different banks ineortd mitigate our exposure with any one finanaiatitution. All of the banks in our ba
group had credit in good standing as of yead-2012. The financial statement impact from tsle af one or more of the banks in our bank g
dropping our lines due to their insolvency or otb@uses cannot be estimated at the present time.
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Financial Statements
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

The management of Materion Corporation and sub#édiaare responsible for establishing and maimgiridequate internal controls ¢
financial reporting, as such term is defined in lEawge Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Materiaorg@ration and subsidiariegiterna
control system was designed to provide reasonasigrance to the Compasymnanagement and Board of Directors regarding riyggpation an
fair presentation of published financial statemeatkinternal control systems, no matter how wadkigned, have inherent limitations. Theref
even those systems determined to be effective cavide only reasonable assurance with respectranéial statement preparation
presentation.

Materion Corporation and subsidiaries’ managemssessed the effectiveness of the Compaimgernal control over financial reporting
of December 31, 2012. In making this assessmemsgeitl the framework set forth by the Committeepmirisoring Organizations of the Tread
Commission (the COSO criteria) in Internal Contrel Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment Wexdé¢hat, as of December
2012, the Company’s internal control over financgdorting is effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fic@l reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beéditealby Ernst & Young LLP, ¢
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report.

/'s!/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE
Richard J. Hipple
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl JOHN D. GRAMPA

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Materion Corporation

We have audited Materion Corporation and subsiiamternal control over financial reporting adDafcember 31, 2012, based on crif
established in Internal Controitegrated Framework issued by the Committee onSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissibe
COSO criteria). Materion Corporation and subsigsirimanagement is responsible for maintaining &ffednternal control over financi
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecégsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in Management's Report on Inte
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilg to express an opinion on the company's intexmatrol over financial reporting based
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight mo@United States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetaadobtain reasonable assurance about whethectigéeinternal control over financ
reporting was maintained in all material respe€@ar audit included obtaining an understanding ¢érimal control over financial reportir
assessing the risk that a material weakness etéstting and evaluating the design and operatifextdfeness of internal control based on
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsesge considered necessary in the circumstancesbéleve that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsi@tements for external purposes in accordantie geinerally accepted accounting princig
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thabéfthin to the maintenance of records th:
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettlansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepiau@tion of financial statements in accordancé génerally accepted accounting princig
and that receipts and expenditures of the compeaypeing made only in accordance with authorizatiohmanagement and directors of
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediagaprevention or timely detection of unauthorizegtjuisition, use or disposition of
company's assets that could have a material effettte financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods angjext to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Materion Corporation and subsidiarmaintained, in all material respects, effedtitvernal control over financial reporti
as of December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo#united States), tl
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, &d 2011, and the related consolidated statenwntscome, comprehensive incor
shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each etlihee years in the period ended December 31, @DiAaterion Corporation and subsidia
and our report dated March 8, 2013 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 8, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Materion Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Materion Corporation and subsidiaagesf December 31, 2012 ¢
2011, and the related consolidated statementscofrie, comprehensive income, shareholders' equitycash flows for each of the three y
in the period ended December 31, 2012. Our aulditsiacluded the financial statement scheduledigtethe Index at Item 15(a). These finar
statements and schedule are the responsibilithefGompany's management. Our responsibility isxfress an opinion on these finan
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaflo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet dodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdintdugcial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting principed and significant estimates made by managememiek as evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgde a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respech® tonsolidated financial position
Materion Corporation and subsidiaries at Decemligr2812 and 2011, and the consolidated resultedf bperations and their cash flows
each of the three years in the period ended DeaeB81he2012, in conformity with U.S. generally actgpaccounting principles. Also, in «
opinion, the related financial statement schedulegn considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fai
all material respects the information set forthréie

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), Materi
Corporation and subsidiaries' internal control dirggincial reporting as of December 31, 2012, basedriteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissioth @ur report dated March 8, 2(
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 8, 2013
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(Thousands except per share amounts)
Net sales

Cost of sales
Gross margin

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Selling, general and administrative expense

Research and development expense
Derivative ineffectiveness
Other — net
Operating profit
Interest expense — net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income
Basic earnings per share:
Net income per share of common stock
Diluted earnings per share:
Net income per share of common stock

Cash dividends per share

Weighted-average number of shares of common stockistanding

Basic
Diluted

Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010
1,273,07 $ 1,526,73 1,302,31.
1,074,29 1,311,40! 1,079,66!

198,78: 215,32 222,64

133,89 131,38¢ 126,47

12,50¢ 11,08: 7,11¢
— — 59¢
15,60¢ 15,77+ 14,82’
36,77¢ 57,07¢ 73,63:
3,13 2,81z 2,66¢
33,64: 54,26¢ 70,96¢
8,97¢ 14,28’ 24,54
24,66: $  39,97¢ 46,42
121 $ 1.9€ 2.2¢
11 $ 1.9¢ 2.2t
0228 § — —
20,41¢ 20,36t 20,28:
20,67¢ 20,75¢ 20,59(

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Net income $ 24,66¢ $ 39,97¢ % 46,427
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (870) 95¢ 1,66t
Derivative and hedging activity, net of tax benéditpense) of $385, ($1,047) and $581 (715) 1,94¢ (1,079
Pension and post employment benefit adjustmenpfrtek of $7,676, $12,292 and $3,1 (14,629 (23,509 (5,519
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive iacom (16,219 (20,599 (4,937
Comprehensive income $ 845 ¢ 19,38 $ 41,49t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries

Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal from operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Amortization of deferred financing costs in intérespense
Stock-based compensation expense

Derivative financial instruments ineffectiveness
Deferred tax (benefit) expense

Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisséta and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in other receivables
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Decrease (increase) in prepaid and other curreptas
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acexpedses
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue
Increase (decrease) in interest and taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in long-term liabilities
Other — net
Net cash provided from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for purchase of property, plant and egeiippm
Payments for mine development
Reimbursement for capital spending under governmemiract
Payments for purchase of business less cash rdceive
Proceeds from transfer of acquired inventory tos@gmment line
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Other investments — net
Net cash (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance (repayment) of short-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Principal payments under capital lease obligations
Cash dividends paid
Deferred financing costs
Repurchase of common stock
Issuance of common stock under stock option plans
Tax benefit from stock compensation realization
Net cash provided from (used in) financing activites
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and gaslrakents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2012 2011 2010
$ 24,66 39,97¢ 46,42;
37,04¢ 43,63 35,30«
64c 55¢ 53¢
5,88¢ 5,00( 4,10(
— — 59¢
(2,467) (1,66¢) 13,62:
(8,919 26,81¢ (50,38¢)
4,197 (630) 7,08¢
(18,88() (30,016 (23,11%)
482 (7,57)) (3,566)
1,472 (2,580) 7,00z
(1,49)) 661 1,93¢
(2,322) (5,89)) 2,04¢
(5,059 (15,999 (8,736)
3,341 4,50% (1,917)
38,62( 56,80¢ 31,04
(34,08%) (28,187 (42,319
(10,579 (560) (11,34%)
991 5,38¢ 21,94«
(3,899 (22,44%) (20,60%)
— — 5,667
— 54 77
4,201 (4,272) 60
(43,369) (50,029 (46,519
8,591 (6,950) (8,406)
32,40: 118,58: 80,00(
(27,986 (116,425 (50,000)
(74¢) (812) (779
(4,615) — —
— (2,637) (220)
(11) (3,776) (3,527)
15¢ 73t 2,631
817 65¢ 121
8,50: (10,625 19,82(
41 (1) (497)
3,801 (3,849) 3,851
12,25¢ 16,10¢ 12,25:
$ 16,05¢ 12,25¢ 16,10+

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
December 31, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,05¢ $ 12,25¢
Accounts receivable (net of allowance of $1,4032@12 and $1,490 for 2011) 126,48 117,76:
Other receivables 40~ 4,602
Inventories 206,12! 187,17t
Prepaid expenses 41,68¢ 39,73¢
Deferred income taxes 10,23¢ 9,36¢
Total current assets 400,98 370,90:
Related-party notes receivable 51 73
Long-term deferred income taxes 19,94¢ 11,62%
Property, plant and equipment 779,78! 752,72t
Less allowances for depreciation, amortization deletion (507,249 (489,329
Property, plant and equipment — net 272,54: 263,39t
Intangible assets 28,86¢ 34,99¢
Other assets 3,761 7,07:
Goodwill 88,75 84,03¢
Total Assets $ 814,91° % 772,10:
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ 49,43 $ 40,94«
Accounts payable 42,28 39,38t
Salaries and wages 27,76¢ 29,44
Taxes other than income taxes 1,05¢ 97&
Other liabilities and accrued items 26,98¢ 25,89:
Unearned revenue 1,54: 3,03:
Total current liabilities 149,06° 139,67:
Other long-term liabilities 16,17 16,48¢
Retirement and post-employment benefits 125,97¢ 105,11
Unearned income 61,18« 62,54(
Long-term income taxes 1,51( 1,79:
Deferred income taxes 1,13( 51
Long-term debt 44,88( 40,46:
Shareholders’ equity
Serial preferred stock (no par value; 5,000 autlearishares, none issued) — —
Common stock (no par value; 60,000 authorized sh#&sued shares of 27,050 for 2012 and 27,024 for
2011) 191,16¢ 185,91
Retained earnings 428,39 408,38
Common stock in treasury (6,607 shares for 20126anth shares for 2011) (118,299 (118,279
Other comprehensive income (loss) (88,429 (72,21%)
Other equity transactions 2,15¢ 2,18:
Total shareholders’ equity 414,99! 405,98
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 814,917 $ 772,10:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



54




(Thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Proceeds from exercise of 154 shares under opliors p
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reatrat
Repurchase of 150 shares

Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors' deferred compensation

Other equity transactions

Balance at December 31, 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Proceeds from exercise of 53 shares under optamspl
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reatrat
Repurchase of 132 shares

Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors' deferred compensation

Balance at December 31, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Cash dividends declared

Proceeds from exercise of 16 shares under optamspl
Income tax benefit from stock compensation reabrat
Repurchase of 6 shares

Stock-based compensation expense

Shares withheld for employee taxes on equity awards
Directors’ deferred compensation

Balance at December 31, 2012

Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Common Other Other
Common Retained Stock In Comprehensive Equity
Stock Earnings Treasury Income (Loss) Transactions Total

$ 173,77¢  $ 321,97 (111,370 $ (46,68) $ 2,160 $ 339,85
— 46,42; — — — 46,42;

= = = (4,932 = (4,932
2,631 — — — — 2,631
12C — — — — 12C

— — (3,527) — — (3,527)
4,10C — — — — 4,10C
(481) — — — — (481

— — (192 — 337 145

15 — @ — — 14
180,16: 368,40: (115,09() (51,61¢) 2,50( 384,35¢
— 39,97¢ — — — 39,97¢

= = = (20,599 = (20,599

73t — — — — 73t
65¢ — — — — 65¢

— — (3,77€) — — (3,77€)
5,00(¢ — — — — 5,00(¢
(641) — — — — (641)

— — 587 — (319 27C
185,91: 408,38( (118,279 (72,219 2,18¢ 405,98:
— 24,66¢ — — — 24,66¢

— — — (16,219 — (16,219

= (4,650 = = = (4,650

15¢€ — — — — 15¢€
817 — — — — 817

— — (119 — — (119)
5,88¢ — — — — 5,88¢
(1,609 — — — — (1,609
= = 10C = (24) 76

$ 191,16¢ $ 428,39 (118,299 $ (88,429 $ 2,15¢ $ 414,99

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note A — Significant Accounting Policies

Organization: The Company is a holding company with subsidgatieat have operations in the United States, EuampkAsia. Thes
operations manufacture advanced engineered matersgd in a variety of markets, including consurlectronics, defense and sciel
industrial components and commercial aerospacenative electronics, telecommunications infrastitet energy, medical and appliance.
Company has four reportable segments:

Advanced Material Technologiesanufactures precious and non-precious vapor diéposargets, frame lid assemblies, advanced
chemicals, performance coatings, optics, microsdeat packages, other precious and non-precioualpegducts and specialty
inorganic materials;

Performance Alloysnanufactures high precision strip and bulk prodércis copper and nickel-based alloys;

Beryllium and Compositggroduces beryllium metal, beryllium and nberyllium metal matrix composites and beryllia cei@s in ¢
variety of forms; and

Technical Materialsmanufactures clad inlay and overlay metals, preciand base metal electroplated systems and otlaec
products.

See Note M to the Consolidated Financial Statemen&additional segment details. The Company isieaty integrated and distributes
products through a combination of company-owneditias and independent distributors and agents.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in oomity with accounting principles generally accebia the Unite
States requires management to make estimates authptions that affect the amounts reported in ith@ntial statements and accompan
notes. Actual results may differ from those estanat

Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial Statements inclide accounts of Materion Corporation and its subsies. All of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are wholly owned as of Ddmem31, 2012. Intercompany accounts and transacéimneliminated in consolidation.

Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid investments with a maturityf three months or lesshen purchased are considered to be
equivalents.

Accounts Receivable: An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintainedtfee estimated losses resulting from the inabdftgustomer
to pay the amounts due. The allowance is based igentified delinquent accounts, customer paymaittepns and other analyses of histo
data and trends. The Company extends credit tormess based upon their financial condition and galyecollateral is not required.

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or miarkhe cost of the majority of domestic inventsiiie determined using t
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The remaining entories are stated principally at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment is stated on theslidsiost. Depreciation is computed principallytbg
straight-line method, except certain assets forclwldepreciation may be computed by the units-ofipction or the sum-of-the-yeaddyit
method. The depreciable lives that are used in atimgpthe annual provision for depreciation by slagasset are as follows:

Years
Land improvements 5to 25
Buildings 10to 40
Leasehold improvements Life of lease
Machinery and equipment 3to 15
Furniture and fixtures 4to 15
Automobiles and trucks 2t0 8
Research equipment 6to 12
Computer hardware 3to 10
Computer software 3to 10
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An asset acquired under a capital lease will berdsd at the lesser of the present value of thegexd lease payments or the fair valu
the asset and will be depreciated in accordanck thi¢ above schedule. Leasehold improvements wildépreciated over the life of
improvement if it is shorter than the life of tlease. Repair and maintenance costs are expensediasd.

Mineral Resources and Mine Development: Property acquisition costs are capitalized ageral resources on the balance sheet ar
depleted using the units-pfoduction method based upon recoverable provesrwves. Overburden, or waste rock, is removed pdothe
extraction of the ore from a particular open ptieTremoval cost is capitalized and amortized asthas extracted using the unitsygbductior
method based upon the proven reserves in thatpiartipit. Exploration and development expenseduding development drilling, are charg
to expense in the period in which they are incurred

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill is not amortized, but instead reviewathually as of December 31 of each yea
more frequently under certain circumstances, fgraimment. Goodwill is assigned to the reportingt,wvhich is the operating segment leve
one level below the operating segment. Intangibtets with finite lives are amortized using thaigtitdine method or effective interest meth
as applicable, over the periods estimated to beflted, which is generally twenty years or les#nitE-lived intangible assets are also revie
for impairment if facts and circumstances warrant.

Asset Impairment: In the event that facts and circumstances indittae the carrying value of lorgred assets may be impaired,
evaluation of recoverability is performed by compgrthe carrying value of the assets to the asttiastimated future undiscounted cash 1
If the carrying value exceeds that cash flow, tthenassets are written down to their fair values.

Derivatives: The Company recognizes all derivatives on #ilarice sheet at their fair values. If the derivatardesignated and effect
as a cash flow hedge, changes in the fair valu¢hefderivative are recognized in other comprehengicome (loss), a component
shareholdersequity, until the hedged item is recognized in esys If the derivative is designated as a faiuedhedge, changes in its value
offset against the change in the value of the hédgset, liability or commitment through earningke ineffective portion of a derivative’
change in fair value, if any, is recognized in @aga immediately. If a derivative is not a hedgearmges in its fair value are adjusted thrc
income.

Asset Retirement Obligation: The Company records a liability to recognize ldgal obligation to remove an asset at the theeasset
acquired or when the legal liability arises. Thabliity is recorded for the present value of thémadte obligation by discounting the estims
future cash flows using a credit-adjusted fisde interest rate. The liability is accreted otiere, with the accretion charged to expense. Arl
equal to the fair value of the liability is recoddeoncurrent with the liability and depreciated otree life of the underlying asset.

Unearned Income: Expenditures for capital equipment to be reimburgeder government contracts are recorded in cartgiruin
process while the reimbursements for those expaneditare recorded in unearned income, a liabifitthe balance sheet. When the assets s
to reimbursement are placed in service, their totalt is depreciated over their useful lives are uhearned income liability is reduced
credited to cost of sales on the Consolidated ®tates of Income ratably with the annual depreamtgpense. Depreciation and amortize
expense on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Fostewn net of the associated current periodatamtuin the unearned income liability.

Revenue Recognition: The Company generally recognizes revenue when dbesgare shipped and title passes to the custdrhe
Company requires persuasive evidence that a revemaagement exists, delivery of the product hasuwed, the selling price is fixed
determinable and collectibility is reasonably asdubefore revenue is realized and earned. Billingslvance of the shipment of the goods
recorded as unearned revenue, which is a lialgilitghe balance sheet. Revenue is recognized fee thhansactions when the goods are shi
and all other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company records shipping and handling dostproducts sold to customers in cost of saleshe
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Advertising Costs: The Company expenses all advertising costa@sried. Advertising costs were $1.2 million in 20$3.1 millionin
2011 and $1.1 million in 2010.

Stock-based Compensation: All stock-based compensation instruments, including optistogk appreciation rights, restricted stock
performance restricted stock, are viewed collettivéhen determining the accounting treatment ofttheconsiderations upon the realizatio
the benefit by the recipient.

Capitalized InterestiInterest expense associated with active capitatasmstruction and mine development projects ptaiized an
amortized over the future useful lives of the rdbassets.

Income Taxes: The Company uses the liability method in meaguthe provision for income taxes and recogniziieferred tax asse
and liabilities on the balance sheet. The Compaifiyecord a valuation allowance to reduce the defi tax assets to the amount that is 1
likely than not to be realized, as warranted byféoes and circumstances. The Company applies
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a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold fof talx uncertainties and will record a liability ftmose tax benefits that havdess than 50¢
likelihood of being sustained upon examinationty taxing authorities.

Net Income Per Share: Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by idiyithcome available to common stockholders by
weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding fopehied. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conwversfoall dilutive commo
stock equivalents as appropriate under the treatack method.

Reclassification:  Certain amounts in prior years have been rsifled to conform to the 2012 consolidated finahctatemer
presentation.

New Pronouncements: In 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&#3B) issued two Accounting Standards Updates (4
which amended guidance for the presentation of cehgmsive income. The amended guidance requirestiy to present components of
income and other comprehensive income in one comtis statement, referred to as the statement opr@ransive income, or in two separ
but consecutive statements. The current optioepont other comprehensive income and its componertke statement of stockholdeesjuity
will be eliminated. Although the new guidance chesithe presentation of comprehensive income, thiere no changes to the components
are recognized in net income or other comprehenisiveme under existing guidance. The ASU is effectior interim and annual peric
beginning after December 15, 2011 and retrospeefiydication is required. The Company adopted te&3ds beginning with its disclosures
the first quarter 2012.

The FASB issued an ASU in October 2009 that pravidmendments to the criteria for separating cordida in multipledeliverabl
arrangements. This update allows companies toa#amonsideration received for qualified separaterables using estimated selling price
both delivered and undelivered items when vendecifip objective evidence or thinarty evidence is unavailable. Additional discles
discussing the nature of multiple element arrangeméehe types of deliverables under the arrang&sntre general timing of their delivery,
significant factors and estimates used to deterragienated selling prices are required. The Compatgpted this update effective Janua
2011 for new revenue arrangements entered intoadenmally modified on or after January 1, 2011. Baeption of the provisions of this upc
did not have a material impact on the Consolid&iedncial Statements.

Note B — Acquisitions

In the first quarter 2012, the Company acquired ddlithe outstanding stock of Aerospace Metal CorntessLimited (AMC) o
Farnborough, England for $3.3 million , net of $i8lion of cash acquired. AMC manufactures ultrafine pattite reinforced metal mat
composites, primarily aluminum materials, that ased in performance automotive, aerospace, defamdeprecision high speed machir
applications. A portion of the purchase price waklhin escrow pending resolution of various matessdetailed in the purchase agreen
Goodwill was valued at $1.9 million .

The pro forma impact of AMC's operating resultstbe Company's sales, income before income taxesainithcome for 2011 and 2C
was immaterial.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company acquitesl outstanding stock of EIS Optics Limited (EfS) $24.5 millionin cash. El.
manufactures optical thin film filters, glass prssig, lithography and optical subassemblies tt@awdor the precision management of light |
broad range of endse applications throughout the projection dispéatertainment lighting, sensors, medical instrusiand gaming industrie
EIS manufactures its products at a 101,000 squatefdcility in Shanghai, China. The $24.5 milliparchase price includes $0.6 millipaid by
the Company in the first quarter of 2012 as a tesfuthe resolution of working capital valuationj@tments in accordance with the purcl
agreement. Goodwill assigned to the transactiaiedt$13.9 million .

In the first quarter of 2010, the Company acquitesl outstanding stock of Academy Corporation ofusiberque, New Mexico fa$21.(
million in cash. Academy provides precious and pogeious metals and refining services for a var@tapplications, including architectu
glass, solar energy, medical and electronics. Majoduct forms include sputtering targets, shéeg Wire, rod and powder. TI%21.0 millior
purchase price was net of $1.7 millitee Company received back from the seller in theoise quarter 2010 as a result of the resolutic
working capital valuation adjustments in accordanith the purchase agreement. Goodwill assignetedransaction totaled $5.4 million .

Each of these acquisitions was financed with a éoation of cash on hand and borrowings under the&iag revolving credit agreement.

The results of the above acquired businesses wehaded in the Company’financial statements since their respective atgui dates
The AMC acquisition is included in the Berylliumd@omposites segment while the EIS and Academy
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acquisitions are included in the Advanced Matefiathnologies segment. See Note E to the Consdilidatencial Statements for additio
information on the intangible assets associated thise acquisitions.

Note C — Inventories

Inventories on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsuanenarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Principally average cost:
Raw materials and supplies $ 42,75, % 42,96¢
Work in process 203,17¢ 179,44!
Finished goods 51,09 57,64!
Gross inventories 297,02: 280,05!
Excess of average cost over LIFO inventory value 90,89¢ 92,88:
Net inventories $ 206,12 $ 187,17t

Average cost approximates current cost. Gross tovies accounted for using the LIFO method tot&85.7 millionat December 3
2012 and $183.7 millioat December 31, 2011. The use of the LIFO methsdltein a better matching of revenue and costs.lifjuidation o
LIFO inventory layers reduced cost of sales by $6il5on in 2012 and $0.2 million in 2011.

Note D — Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment on the Consolidaddrige Sheets is summarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Land $ 8,797 $ 9,12:¢
Buildings 127,69: 114,09(
Machinery and equipment 570,00: 485,59:
Software 31,64( 29,27,
Construction in progress 15,38¢ 86,14¢
Allowances for depreciation (503,56() (476,442
Subtotal 249,95¢ 247,78t
Capital leases 10,91 10,89¢
Allowances for amortization (1,440 (837
Subtotal 9,47 10,06:
Mineral resources 4,97¢ 5,02¢
Mine development 10,37% 12,56:
Allowances for amortization and depletion (2,249 (12,049
Subtotal 13,11 5,54¢
Property, plant and equipment — net $ 272,54 $ 263,39t

The Company has a Title 1ll contract with the Depemt of Defense (DoD) for the design and develognod a primary berylliur
production facility. Construction of the facilityould not have been economically feasible withosistance from the government. The co:
the project, which included the equipment and logdand project design, administrative and otheregal costs that were not capitalizabl:
fixed assets, totaled approximately $104.9 millidthe Company capitalized $14.7 million of fixedeis and $10.0 millioof capital leases a:
portion of its cost share for the project. Reimleansnts received by the Company from the DoD inau®&8.5 millionfor its share of the cost
equipment that was purchased by the Company atall@tsin the facility. The cost paid by the Compawas recorded in property, plant i
equipment and the reimbursement from the governmestrecorded as unearned income on the Consaligtiance Sheets. The uneal
income liability will be reduced and credited tedme ratably with the depreciation expense recooded the useful life the equipment.
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The equipment was placed in service during 201pr&=ation expense on the portion of the equipmértse cost was reimbursed by
DoD was $2.3 million in 2012. Accordingly, unearnedome was reduced by $2.3 milliamd credited to cost of sales on the Consolic
Statement of Income in 2012, offsetting the impaEdhe depreciation expense on the associated mgmipon the Company's cost of sales
gross margin.

Depreciation expense, including amortization f@eds recorded under capital lease, was $31.0 miti?012, $37.5 milliorin 2011 an
$29.0 million in 2010. The 2012 expense of $31.0ioni is net of the $2.3 milliomeduction from the unearned income liability. Dejpa&ion
depletion and amortization as shown on the Cors@ii Statement of Cash Flows is also net of the& i®#llion reduction in the unearned inco
liability in 2012.

Note E — Intangible Assets
Assets Acquired

The Company acquired the following intangible esge®2012:

Weighted-average

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationships $ 257 5.0 Years
Trade Name 62 5.0 Years
Technology 212 5.0 Years
Total assets subject to amortization $ 531 5.0 Years
Goodwill $ 4,717 Not Applicable

The assets subject to amortization were acquirgadof the purchase of the capital stock of AMGhe first quarter 2012. The additio
goodwill resulted from the AMC acquisition as wa#l from the final adjustments to the purchase miloeation from the acquisition of EIS
the fourth quarter 2011.
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Assets Subject to Amortization

The cost, accumulated amortization and net bookevaf intangible assets subject to amortizationfd3ecember 31, 2012 and 2011
the amortization expense for each year then erwdas follows:

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Deferred financing costs

Cost $ 6,427 $ 6,427

Accumulated amortization (4,04 (3,399

Net book value 2,37¢ 3,02¢
Customer relationships

Cost 38,42° 38,17(

Accumulated amortization (18,709 (14,689

Net book value 19,72« 23,48¢
Technology

Cost 12,09: 11,88(

Accumulated amortization (6,53¢) (5,079

Net book value 5,55¢ 6,80¢
License

Cost 2,48( 2,48(

Accumulated amortization (2,340 (850

Net book value 1,14( 1,63(
Non-compete contracts

Cost 55C 55C

Accumulated amortization (530 (50%)

Net book value 2C 45
Trade Name

Cost 62 —

Accumulated amortization (10 —

Net book value 52 —
Total

Cost $ 60,03¢ $ 59,50'

Accumulated amortization (31,169 (24,517

Net book value $ 28,86¢ $ 34,99:
Aggregate amortization expense $ 6,657 $ 6,70:

The aggregate amortization expense is estimatbd &6.1 million in 2013, $5.8 million in 2014, $5mllion in 2015, $4.8 milliorin 201¢
and $3.9 million in 2017.

Assets Not Subject to Amortization

The Companys only intangible asset not subject to amortizatiogoodwill. A reconciliation of the goodwill agtty for 2012 and 2011
as follows:

(Thousands) 2012 2011

Balance at the beginning of the year $ 84,03t $ 72,93¢
Current year additions 4,717 11,10(
Balance at the end of the year $ 88,75! % 84,03¢

Goodwill totaling $86.9 million has been assignedhie Advanced Material Technologies segment whiéeremaining $1.9 milliomas
been assigned to the Beryllium and Composites seggme

The goodwill acquired in 2012 and 2011 was not dgdle for tax purposes.
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Note F — Debt

Long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsmmarized as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011

Revolving credit agreement $ 30,00C $ 25,00(
Fixed rate industrial development revenue bondslplayin annual installments through 2021 7,15¢ 7,70¢
Variable rate industrial development revenue bgaisble in 2016 8,30¢ 8,30¢
Total outstanding 45,46: 41,01(
Current portion of long-term debt (58%) (547
Total $ 44.88( $ 40,46

Maturities on long-term debt instruments as of Deloer 31, 2012 are as follows:

2013 $ 583
2014 612
2015 658
2016 38,99¢
2017 732
Thereafter 3,88:
Total $ 45,46:

In July 2011, the Company entered into an AmencdedRestated Credit Agreement with six financiatitoons that expires in 2016
provides for a $325.0 million revolving credit fiigi comprised of sulfacilities for revolving loans, swing line loansttiers of credit and forei
borrowings. The credit agreement also provideafouncommitted incremental facility whereby, undertain conditions, the Company may
able to borrow additional term loans in an aggregahount not to exceed $100.0 milliofhe credit agreement is secured by substanadliyf
the assets of the Company and its direct substdianith the exception of nanining real property and certain other assets.credit agreeme
allows the Company to borrow money at a premiunmr &BOR or the prime rate and at varying maturitigdie premium resets quarte
according to the terms and conditions availablesutite agreement. At December 31, 2012 there w $8illion outstanding against the lett
of credit sub-facility. The Company pays a variatdenmitment fee that resets quarterly ( 0.288@0f December 31, 2012) of the available
unborrowed amounts under the revolving credit line.

The credit agreement is subject to restrictive nawes including incurring additional indebtednessyuisition limits, dividend declaratic
and stock repurchases. In addition, the agreemehitdes covenants over a maximum leverage raticaanthimum fixed charge coverage re
The Company was in compliance with all of its dettenants as of December 31, 2012.

The following table summarizes the Company’s skemta lines of credit. Amounts shown as outstandiregincluded in shoterm debt o
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
(Thousands) Total Outstanding Available Total Outstanding Available
Domestic $ 256,79¢ $ 8,000 $ 248,79¢ $ 262,72: % 3,200 $ 259,52:
Foreign 15,26¢ 1,41 13,85 16,14¢ 77C 15,37¢
Precious metal 39,43¢ 39,43¢ — 36,42° 36,42° —
Total $ 311,50 $ 48,85( $ 262,65( $ 315,300 $ 40,397 $ 274,90:

While the available borrowings under the individeadisting credit lines total $262.7 millionthe covenants in the domestic cr
agreement restrict the aggregate available borigsiio $189.5 million as of December 31, 2012.

The domestic line is committed and includes all-fadiities in the $325.0 milliormaximum borrowing under the revolving cre
agreement. The Company has various foreign linesedfit, one of which for 3.5 million euros is coritbed and secured.
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The remaining foreign lines are uncommitted, unsstand renewed annually. The average interestoratehort-term debt was 2.43&hc
2.94% as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respegtivel

In April 2011, the Company entered into an agregméth the Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority ame tDaytonMontgomery Count
Port Authority, who co-issued $8.0 millian taxable development revenue bonds, with a fexeubrtization term that will mature in 2021. ~
interest rate on these bonds is fixed at 4.9% badihamortized balance of the bonds was $7.2 mifliddecember 31, 2012.

In November 1996, the Company entered into an aggaewith the Lorain Port Authority, Ohio to issfi8.3 million in variable rat
industrial revenue bonds, maturing in 2016. Théabde rate ranged from 0.26% to 0.46% in 2012 aochf0.20% to 0.50% in 2011.

Note G — Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases warehouse and manufacturing,spagd manufacturing and computer equipment unplerating leases with teri
ranging up to 25 years . Operating lease expenseirgied to $9.0 million in 2012, $8.9 million in 2DAnd $9.9 millionn 2010. The futu
estimated minimum payments under capital leases rmmtancelable operating leases with initial lease sefm excess of one year
December 31, 2012, are as follows:

Capital Operating
(Thousands) Leases Leases
2013 $ 1,10z $ 6,721
2014 1,06¢ 4,98:
2015 1,06¢ 4,47
2016 1,06¢ 4,15
2017 1,06¢ 3,06:
2018 and thereafter 5,76¢ 14,99
Total minimum lease payments 11,13 $ 38,38:
Amounts representing interest 2,59:
Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 8,54:

The Company was in compliance with all of the cargn contained in the lease agreements as of Dece3hp2012.

Note H — Fair Value Information and Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company measures and records financial institgra their fair value. A hierarchy is used fargé instruments measured at fair v
that distinguishes between assumptions based upoketndata (observable inputs) and the Companglagstions (unobservable inputs).
hierarchy consists of three levels:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 — Inputs other than Level 1 inputs thateither directly or indirectly observable; and

Level 3 — Other significant unobservable inputs developeaigigistimates and assumptions developed by the Gompédnich reflec
those that a market participant would use.
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The following table summarizes the financial instents measured at fair value in the ConsolidatddriBa Sheet as of December
2012:

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices

in Active Other
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Thousands) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial Assets
Directors’ deferred compensation investments $ 1,742 $ 1,74:  $ —  $ —
Precious metal forward contracts 197 — 197 —
Foreign currency forward contracts 65C — 65( —
Total $ 2,58¢ $ 1,742  $ 847 $ —
Financial Liabilities
Directors’ deferred compensation liability $ 1,742 $ 1,742  $ — —
Precious metal swaps 10C — 10C —
Foreign currency forward contracts 397 — 397 —
Total $ 2,23¢ 3 1,74:  $ 497 $ —

The Company uses a market approach to value tletsaasd liabilities for outstanding derivative qacts in the table above. Fore
currency and precious metal hedge contracts atedahrough models that utilize market observabjrits including both spot and forw.
prices for the same underlying currencies and metdde carrying values of the other working capterhs and debt on the Consolidated Bal
Sheet approximate their fair values as of DecerlheP012.

The Company uses derivative contracts to hedgéoperof its foreign currency exposures and may atsoderivatives to hedge a por
of its precious metal exposures. The objectivesstiradegies for using derivatives in these areassaifollows:

Foreign Currency. The Company sells products to overseas custinetheir local currencies, primarily the euro ayeh. Thi
Company secures foreign currency derivatives, mdmward contracts and options, to hedge thesieipated sales transactions. -
purpose of the hedge program is to protect ag#uesteduction in the dollar value of foreign cuegrsales from adverse exchange
movements. Should the dollar strengthen signifigattie decrease in the translated value of theidarcurrency sales should be parti
offset by gains on the hedge contracts. Dependiuyn the methods used, the hedge contract may timibenefits from a weaken
U.S. dollar.

The use of forward contracts locks in a firm ratd aliminates any downside from an adverse rateemewt as well as any benefit fr
a favorable rate movement. The Company may frore tiontime choose to hedge with options or a tandeaoptions known as a coll;
These hedging techniques can limit or eliminate dbenside risk but can allow for some or all of thenefit from a favorable re
movement to be realized. Unlike a forward contragbremium is paid for an option; collars, whiclke arcombination of a put and «
option, may have a net premium but they can betstred to be cash neutral. The Company will pritpdredge with forward contrac
due to the relationship between the cash outlaytizatevel of risk.

Precious Metals. The Company maintains the majority of its ppesi metal production requirements on consignmeatder to reduc
its working capital investment and the exposurengdal price movements. When a precious metal ptagdu@bricated and ready -
shipment to the customer, the metal is purchasedfaronsignment at the current market price. Theeppaid by the Company forms
basis for the price charged to the customer. ThEthadology allows for changes in either directiortie market prices of the preci
metals used by the Company to be passed throute toustomer and reduces the impact changes iespemuld have on the Compal
margins and operating profit. The consigned metalwned by financial institutions who charge thenpany a financing fee based u
the current value of the metal on hand.

In certain instances, a customer may want to d@statile price for the precious metal at the tineedhles order is placed rather than ¢
time of shipment. Setting the sales price at serbffit date than when the material would be purchpsetentially creates an exposur
movements in the market price of the metal. Theegfim these limited situations, the Company magteio enter into a forward contr
to purchase precious metal. The forward contrdotval the Company to purchase metal at a fixed ita specific future date. T
price in the forward contract serves as the basishie price to be charged to the customer. Byglsim the selling price and purch
price are matched and the Company's price exp@suveduced.
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The Company refines precious metal containing riasefor its customers and typically will purchate refined metal from tl
customer at current market prices. In limited ainstances, the customer may want to fix the prideetpaid at the time of the ordel
opposed to when the material is refined. The custarmay also want to fix the price for a set pewdtime. The Company may then e
to enter into a hedge contract, either a forwandatremt or a swap, to fix the price for the estirdatgiantity of metal to be purcha:
thereby reducing the exposure to adverse moveriretits price of the metal.

The Company may from time to time elect to purchaseeious metal and hold in its inventory ratheantton consignment due
potential credit line limitations or other factoiiese purchases are typically held for a showtéhr. A forward contract will be secui
at the time of the purchase to fix the price taibed when the metal is transferred back to theigoment line, thereby limiting any pri
exposure during the time when the metal was owned.

A team consisting of senior financial managersawsi the estimated exposure levels, as defined tgdis, forecasts and other inte
data, and determines the timing, amounts and mgtnts to use to hedge that exposure. Managemelgzasdhe effective hedged rates anc
actual and projected gains and losses on the hgdiginsactions against the program objectivesetacgrates and levels of risk assumed. Fo
currency contracts are typically layered in ateafiht times for a specified exposure period in otdeminimize the impact of market r.
movements.

The use of derivatives is governed by policies &lbpy the Audit Committee of the Board of DirestoFhe Company will only enter ir
a derivative contract if there is an underlyingniiited exposure. Contracts are typically held tatunity. The Company does not engag
derivative trading activities and does not usewdgities for speculative purposes. The Company o8és hedge contracts that are denomi
in the same currency or metal as the underlyingsuxre.

The following table summarizes the notional amamd the fair value of the Compasyoutstanding derivatives as of December 31,
and 2011:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Notional Fair Notional Fair
(Thousands) Amount Value Amount Value
Asset (liability)
Foreign currency forward contracts
Yen $ 8,02« $ 65C $ 12,09¢ $ (480)
Euro 21,047 (397 26,46¢ 1,87¢
Total $ 29,07 $ 25: % 38,56: $ 1,39¢
Precious metal contracts
Forward contracts $ 14,62: $ 197 $ 8,79t % 24¢
Swaps 11,67 (200 6,964 (199
Total $ 26,29¢ $ 97 $ 15,75¢ $ 51

The fair values of the outstanding derivativesramrded as assets (if the derivatives are inmgasition) or liabilities (if the derivativ
are in a loss position). The fair values will ats® classified as short term or long term dependp@n their maturity dates. The balance <
classification of the outstanding derivatives at@&uaber 31, 2012 and 2011 was as follows:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011

Asset (liability)

Prepaid expenses $ 847 $ 2,12¢

Other liabilities and accrued items (497) (67¢)
Total $ 35C % 1,45(

All of the foreign currency and precious metal dative contracts outstanding at December 31, 20tR2911 were designated as ¢
flow hedges.
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A summary of the hedging relationships of the @utding derivative financial instruments designaedash flow hedges as of Decer
31, 2012 and 2011 and the pre-tax amounts traesfémto income for the twelve months then endeldicd.

Effective Portion of Hedge Ineffective Portion of Hedge
. Reclassified from OCI Recognized in Income on
R;ﬁ%’grl“;fd into Income During Period Derivative During Period
(Thousands) End of Period Location Amount Location Amount
Gain (loss)
2012
Foreign currency contracts $ 25Z% Other-net $ 1,83¢ Other-net $ =
Precious metal contracts 97 Cost of sales (59€) Cost of sales —
Total $ 35C $ 1,241 $ —
2011
Foreign currency contracts $ 1,39¢ Other-net $ (2,80¢) Other-net $ =
Precious metal contracts 51 Cost of Sales — Cost of Sales —
Total $ 1,45(C $ (2,809 $ —

Total derivative ineffectiveness expense was zerd012 and 2011 and $0.6 milliam 2010. The ineffectiveness recorded in 2010
associated with coppérased derivatives that were secured in 2009 an@ 2@t provided an economic hedge but did not fuak a hedge fi
accounting purposes. These derivatives maturedg@010.

In addition to the precious metal contracts thatewsutstanding at December 31, 2011, during 20fELClompany secured various forw
contracts to sell specified quantities of gold. Tdomtracts served as economic hedges of gold psedhand held in inventory for use
manufacturing products for sale in the normal cews business. No hedge designations were assigndte contracts since they typici
matured in the same quarter as they were initsghured. A loss of $1.2 milliomas recognized upon maturity of these contracBOiil and we
recorded in cost of sales on the Consolidated ia&teof Income. An equal and offsetting gain wasrded in cost of sales in 2011 as a resi
the sale of the underlying gold inventory.

The Company expects to relieve the entire balanc®CI as of December 31, 2012 and credit ottetrand cost of sales on
Consolidated Statement of Income in 2013.

66






Note | — Pensions and Other Post-retirement Beneft

The obligation and funded status of the Compangissipn and other posttirement benefit plans are shown below. The ParBenefit
column aggregates defined benefit pension plarthenU.S., Germany and England and the U.S. supplenectirement plans. The Otl
Benefits column includes the U.S. retiree mediaal life insurance plan.



(Thousands)
Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Plan amendments

Actuarial loss

Benefit payments from fund

Benefit payments directly by Company
Expenses paid from assets

Medicare Part D subsidy

Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Benefit obligation at end of year

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefit payments from fund

Expenses paid from assets

Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Funded status at end of year

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets consist of:

Other assets
Other liabilities and accrued items

Retirement and post-employment benefits

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income €fore tax) consist

of:
Net actuarial loss

Net prior service (credit) cost

Amortizations expected to be recognized during neXtscal year (before

tax):
Amortization of net loss

Amortization of prior service credit

Additional information

Accumulated benefit obligation for all defined b&npension plans

For defined benefit pension plans with benefit gdions in excess of plan

assets:
Aggregate benefit obligation

Aggregate fair value of plan assets

For defined benefit pension plans with accumuléeefit obligations in

excess of plan assets:
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation

Aggregate fair value of plan assets

Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

2012 2011 2012 2011
210,99 $ 180,670 $ 33,20¢ $ 32,37
7,91 6,95¢ 28¢ 284
9,91z 9,78¢ 1,44¢ 1,59¢
117 43¢ = =
32,508 21,28( 1,49: 1,41¢
(7,529 (7,519 = =
(129 (127) (2,437 (2,739
(299) (479 = =

— — 29¢ 271

24¢ (10) — —
253,83 210,99¢ 34,29 33,20
140,34 131,76 — —
18,53 (5,215) — —
12,21 21,70 — —
(7,529 (7,519 — —
(299) (479 — —
15€ 83 = =
163,43 140,34 — —
(90,409 $ (70,657 $ (34,29) $ (33,209
1,112 $ — 3% — % —
(475) — (2,669 (2,789
(91,040 (70,65:) (31,63) (30,429
(90,409 $ (70,657 $ (34,29) $ (33,209
127,02 $ 106,58, $ 247: % 97¢
(2,079 (2,52) 118 202
12495, $ 104,05¢ $ 2581 $ 1,18
7,731 $ 560 $ — 3% —
(341) (335) 118 87
7390 $ 527C $ 115 $ 87
24285 $ 204,35 — —
249,07t 206,80 — —
157,56 135,50 — —
238,09( 200,16 — —
157,56( 135,50 — —
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Components of net periodic benefit cost and othemaounts recognized in other comprehensive income (OC

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cost $ 7,91 3 6,95¢ $ 513t % 28t $ 284 % 27%
Interest cost 9,91 9,78¢ 9,15¢ 1,44( 1,59¢ 1,73¢
Expected return on plan assets (11,939 (11,050 (10,44 — — —
Amortization of prior service cost
(benefit) (335 (335 (530 86 (36) (3€)
Recognized net actuarial loss 5,60¢ 3,92( 2,83¢ — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 11,16 $ 9,27¢ $ 6,15¢ $ 1,811 $ 1,84 % 1,97¢
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Change in other comprehensive
income
OCI at beginning of year $ 104,05¢ $ 69,71¢ $ 62,88t $ 1,18 $ (275) $ (2,085
Increase (decrease) in OCI:
Recognized during year — prior
service cost (credit) 33t 33t 53C (87) 36 36
Recognized during year -ret actuaris
(losses) (5,605 (3,920 (2,839 — — —
Occurring during year — prior service
cost 117 43C 73¢ — — —
Occurring during year — net actuarie
losses 25,99¢ 37,54: 8,39( 1,49¢ 1,41¢ 1,77¢
Other adjustments — — — — — —
Foreign currency exchange rate
changes 57 (48) 5 — — —
OCl at end of year $ 124,95 $ 104,05¢ $ 69,71t $ 2,581 % 1,18 $ (27%)
Summary of key valuation assumptions
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Weighted-average assumptions use!
to determine benefit obligations at
fiscal year end
Discount rate 3.9%% 4.7¢% N/A 3.7%% 4.5(% N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.44% 4.46% N/A 4.5(% 4.5(% N/A
Weighted-average assumptions used
to determine net cost for the fiscal
year
Discount rate 4.81% 5.4<% 5.86% 4.5(% 5.13% 5.88%
Expected long-term return on plan
assets 7.65% 7.8¢% 8.1&% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.4%% 3.97% 2.9%% 4.5(% 4.0(% 3.0(%

The Company uses a December 31 measurement datefabove plans. The rates depicted in the permaefits columns in the above te
are the weighted-average assumptions of the Ue8mén and U.K. defined benefit plans and the WiSpkemental plan.
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Effective January 1, 2013, the Company revisecepected londerm rate of return assumption used in calculatimgannual expense
its domestic defined benefit pension plan, decngggito 7.50% from 7.75% . Effective January 1120this expected longgrm rate of retut
assumption was decreased to 7.75% from 8.00% eHective January 1, 2011, this assumption wasedsed to 8.00% from 8.25%n eacl
instance, the impact was accounted for as a charggimate.

Management establishes the domestic expectedtésngrate of return assumption by reviewing itstdrisal trends and analyzing !
current and projected market conditions in relatmthe plan$ asset allocation and risk management objectivessideration is given to bc
recent plan asset performance as well as plan psgdetmance over various lorigrm periods of time, with an emphasis on the apsiom being
a prospective, lonterm rate of return. Management consults with amkiclers the opinions of its outside investmentiss and actuari
when establishing the rate and reviews its assomgptivith the Board of Directors. Management bekethat the 7.50% domestic expected long-
term rate of return assumption is achievable aadarable given current market conditions and fatscasset allocations, investment poli
and investment risk objectives.

The domestic rate of compensation increase assomptas changed from a flat 4.5% a graded assumption as of January 1, 200¢
graded assumption for the domestic rate of compiensiacrease is 2.0% for the 2009 fiscal year%3for the 2010 fiscal year, 4.0%6r the
2011 fiscal year and 4.5% for the 2012 fiscal yaat later.

In the second quarter 2012, the Company closedoitsestic defined benefit pension plan to new etgra@urrent plan participants v
continue to accrue benefits under the existing idaswhile new hires will be offered an enhancefthéd contribution plan.

Assumptions for the defined benefit pension plan&ermany and England are determined separataty fhe U.S. plan assumptio
based on historical trends and current and prajeti@ket conditions in Germany and England. Tha plaGermany is unfunded and the pla
England has assets that are approximately 4% da@dmepany’s aggregated total fair value of plan tssae of year-end 2012.

Assumed health care trend rates at fiscal year end 2012 2011

Health care trend rate assumed for next year 8.00% 8.00%
Rate that the trend rate gradually declines tanfalte trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2019 2019

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifieffect on the amounts reported for the hezdtie plans. A one-percentageint
change in assumed health care cost trend ratesiwwauk the following effects:

1—Percentage- 1-Percentage-

Point Increase Point Decrease
(Thousands) 2012 2011 2012 2011
Effect on total of service and interest cost congms $ 3k ¢ 33 ¢ (31 $ (30
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation 827 80¢ (72%) (717
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Plan Assets

The following tables present the fair values of @@mpany$ defined benefit pension plan assets as of DeaeBihe?012 and 2011
asset category. See Note H to the Consolidatedh&imleStatements for definitions of fair value liethy.

December 31, 2012

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(Thousands)
Cash $ 7,38¢ % 7,38¢ % — $ =
Equity securities:
uU.s. (@) 54,69: 45,02¢ 9,66¢ —
International (b) 22,68: 19,65( 3,03: —
Emerging markets (c) 14,78¢ 14,53t 251 —
Fixed income securities:
Intermediate-term bonds (d) 26,74¢ 18,37¢ 8,371 —
Short-term bonds (e) 11,65¢ 11,65¢ — —
Global bonds (f) 12,85« 11,18¢ 1,66¢ —
Other types of investments:
Real estate fund (g) 7,79% 7,76¢ 25 —
Multi-strategy hedge funds (h) 4,191 — — $ 4,191
Private equity funds 64% — — 64t
Total $ 163,43t $ 135,58! $ 23,01t % 4,83¢
December 31, 2011
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(Thousands)
Cash $ 9,28 $ 9,28( $ —  $ =
Equity securities:
U.S. (a) 46,00 37,85¢ 8,14t —
International (b) 19,09¢ 9,35¢ 9,741 —
Emerging markets (c) 10,78« 10,56¢ 21F —
Fixed income securities:
Intermediate-term bonds (d)(i) 22,68¢ 14,67 8,011 —
Short-term bonds (e) 11,12: 11,12: — —
Global bonds (f) 10,99¢ 10,35: 64€ —
Other types of investments:
Real estate fund (g) 5,704 5,70¢ — —
Multi-strategy hedge funds (h) 3,98¢ — — ¢ 3,98¢
Private equity funds 682 — — 682
Total $ 140,34 $ 108,91! $ 26,75¢ % 4,671

(&) Mutual funds that invest in various sectors ofth8. marke

(b) Mutual funds that invest in ndi-S. companies primarily in developed countries #ma generally considered to be value st

(c) Mutual funds that invest in ndii-S. companies in emerging market count

(d) Includes a mutual fund that employs a vadtented approach to fixed income investment mamage and a mutual fund that inve
primarily in investment-grade debt securities.

() Includes a mutual fund that seeks a market ohtreturn for a fixedncome portfolio with low relative volatility of tarns, investin
generally in U.S. and foreign debt securities nmiaguin five years or less .

() Mutual funds that invest in domestic and fgresovereign securities, fixed income securitiesrtgage-backed and as$steked bond
convertible bonds, high yield bonds and emergingketebonds.
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(g) Includes a mutual fund that typically inveatdeast 80%f its assets in equity and debt securities of cmigs in the real estate indu:
or related industries or in companies which owmigicant real estate assets at the time of investme

(h) Includes a hedge fund that employs multiple stiatetp multiple asset classes with low correlati

(i) The portion of intermediateerm bonds shown as Level 2 had been shown as lLemehe previous year. The valuation method lest
U.S. government securities and corporate bondstistxeflected as Level 2 assets.

The following table summarizes changes in the ¥aiue of the Compang’ defined benefit pension plan Level 3 assets medsusin
significant unobservable inputs during 2012 and1201

Multi- Private
strategy Equity
(Thousands) Hedge Funds Funds Total
Balance as of January 1, 2011 $ 3,851 $ 54¢ $ 4,391
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting date 37¢ 172 54¢
On assets sold during the period — 5 5
Purchases, sales and settlements (23¢) (42) 279
Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ 3,98¢ $ 68z $ 4,671
Actual return:
On assets still held at reporting date 38¢ 17 403
On assets sold during the period (57) 4 (53
Purchases, sales and settlements (227 (58) (185
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 4191 % 64t  $ 4,83¢

Plan withdrawals from the multi-strategy hedge fpagtnerships may be made up to 288the value of the capital account as of Jur
and December 31 of each calendar year upon wiithéice of at least thirty days . Any withdrawalsercess of 25% must haet least thre
months written notice. The plan may withdraw ud@9% of the capital account of all other partngrshipon at least thirty day written notice.

The Companys domestic defined benefit pension plan investratrategy, as approved by the Governance and OggamizZCommittee «
the Board of Directors, is to employ an allocatarinvestments that will generate returns equalrtbetter than the projected loteyrm growitl
of pension liabilities so that the plan will befseinding. The return objective is to maximize ist@ent return to achieve and maintaihC9%
funded status over time, taking into consideratiequired cash contributions. The allocation of stagents is designed to maximize
advantages of diversification while mitigating tliek and overall portfolio volatility to achievedheturn objective. Risk is defined as the ar
variability in value and is measured in terms & #iandard deviation of investment return. UnderGompanys investment policies, allowal
investments include domestic equities, internati@oities, fixed income securities, cash equivialemd alternative securities (which incl
real estate, private venture capital investmentsredge funds). Ranges, in terms of a percentagleeofotal assets, are established for
allowable class of security. Derivatives may bedus® hedge an existing security or as a risk rédncstrategy. Current asset alloca
guidelines are to invest 30% to 70% in equity siéiegr 20% to 50% in fixed income securities anghcand up to 20% alternative securitie
Management reviews the asset allocation on a qlageemore frequent basis and makes revisionseaseéd necessary.

None of the plan assets noted above are investibeé i@ompany’s common stock.
Cash Flows
Employer Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $13.0 milliofitdadomestic defined benefit pension plan and $3lBon to its other benefit plans
2013.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectbe faid:

Other Benefits

Net of
Medicare
Gross Benefit Part D
Pension Benefits Payment Subsidy
(Thousands)
2013 $ 9,02t $ 2,66 $ 2,28
2014 9,37¢ 2,70( 2,30z
2015 9,661 2,74 2,32(
2016 10,34« 2,75¢ 2,30¢
2017 13,50° 2,81t 2,34:
2018 through 2022 71,05¢ 13,59° 10,72(

Other Benefit Plans

In addition to the plans shown above, the Compdsy has certain foreign subsidiaries with accrueflinded pension and other post-
employment arrangements. The liability for thesamgements was $2.6 million at December 31, 20I2&32 millionat December 31, 20
and was included in retirement and post-employrhentfits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also sponsors defined contribution splawvailable to substantially all U.S. employeese ompanys annual define
contribution expense, including the expense foreghbanced defined contribution plan that was impleed in the second quarter 2012,
$2.5 million in 2012, $2.2 million in 2011 and $XMllion in 2010.

Note J — Contingencies and Commitments
CBD Claims

The Company is a defendant from time to time incpealings in various state and federal courts brtolgtplaintiffs alleging that the
have contracted chronic beryllium disease (CBDjetated ailments as a result of exposure to barlliPlaintiffs in CBD cases seek reco\
under theories of negligence and various other kbg®aries and seek compensatory and punitive dasag many cases of an unspecified !
Spouses, if any, often claim loss of consortium.

Employee cases, in which plaintiffs have a highdiearof proof, have historically involved relativedynall losses to the Company. Third-
party plaintiffs (typically employees of customefage a lower burden of proof than do the Compsieynployees, but these cases have gen
been covered by varying levels of insurance. Mamege has vigorously contested the CBD cases braggihst the Company.

Claims filed by thirdparty plaintiffs alleging CBD filed prior to the drof 2022 are covered by insurance if any portibthe allege
exposure period occurred prior to year end 200Th Befense and indemnity costs are covered sutgjeart annual $1.0 milliodeductible an
other terms and provisions.

There was one CBD case outstanding as of year-eh? ®ith a recorded reserve of $0.1 milliohere were no other active CBD cz
against the Company during 2012. There were twiveacases during 2011, both of which were filecbpto 2011. Onef these cases w
settled for less than $0.1 million while the othase was dismissed during 2011.

Although it is not possible to predict the outcoofeany pending litigation, the Company provides ¢osts related to litigation matt
when a loss is probable and the amount is reaspestimable. Litigation is subject to many uncentiais, and it is possible that some of
actions could be decided unfavorably in amountseding the Compang’reserves. An unfavorable outcome or settlemeiat GBD case ¢
adverse media coverage could encourage the commentef additional similar litigation. The Compaisyunable to estimate its poten
exposure to unasserted claims.

Based upon currently known facts and assuming atdiiéty of insurance, the Company does not bedi¢ivat resolution of the current
future beryllium proceedings will have a materidverse effect on the financial condition or casiwfbf the Company. However, the Company’
results of operations could be materially affedigdinfavorable results in one or more cases.
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Insurance Recoverable

The Company recorded a pre-tax loss of $7.4 milgna result of a physical inventory count takerthia fourth quarter 2012. T
Company has reason to believe that this loss,goreion thereof, may be due to theft. The Compaay insurance for theft and the insure
carrier was duly notified. The internal and crinliimasestigations were still in progress as of eanthe first quarter 2013 and an offset
benefit from an insurance recovery was not detabiemand therefore was not recorded as of DeceB81he2012. The benefit of any insura
recoverable may be recorded in future periods baped the ability to determine the amount of theowery, an assessment of the probabili
the recovery and other factors and/or in the pesibdn the cash is received.

Environmental Proceedings

The Company has an active program for environmeutapliance that includes the identification of irommental projects and estimat
their impact on the Comparg/financial performance and available resourcesir&mmental expenditures that relate to currentrafgens, suc
as wastewater treatment and control of airbornessions, are either expensed or capitalized as ppat®e. The Company records reserve:
the probable costs for identified environmental edration projects. The Company’s environmental e@glis perform routine ogweing analyse
of the remediation sites and will use outside ctiaats to assist in their analyses from time tcetirAccruals are based upon their analyse:
are established at either the best estimate oenalsbest estimate, at the low end of the estimatege of costs. The accruals are revised f
results of orgoing studies, changes in strategies, inflation fonddifferences between actual and projected cdsdte accruals may also
affected by rulings and negotiations with regulatagencies. The timing of payments often lags twual, as environmental projects typic
require a number of years to complete.

The environmental reserves recorded represent dhgp@ny's best estimate of what is reasonably pesaiidl cover existing or currer
foreseen projects based upon the current factcmouimstances. The Company does not believe thatrégasonably possible that the cos
resolve environmental matters for sites where tivestigative work and work plan development arestardiially complete will be materia
different than what has been accrued while thenalt® loss contingencies for sites that are in tieéinpinary stages of investigation canno
reasonably determined at the present time. As faudscircumstances changes, the ultimate cost magused and the recording of additic
costs may be material in the period in which thditiwhal costs are accrued. The Company does ni@vkethat the ultimate liability fc
environmental matters will have a material impantits financial condition or liquidity due to thexttended period of time during whi
environmental remediation normally takes place.

The undiscounted reserve balance at the beginditigeoyear, the amounts expensed and paid andahede at the end of the year
2012 and 2011 are as follows:

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Reserve balance at beginning of year $ (5,317 $ (5,207)
Expensed (31¢) (528
Paid 327 417
Reserve balance at end of year $ (5,300) % (5,317
Ending balance recorded in:

Other liabilities and accrued items $ (903 $ (1,000
Other long-term liabilities (4,39¢) (4,317

The majority of spending in 2012 and 2011 was fmious remediation projects at the EImore, Ohianpsite with lesser amounts spel
other locations.

Long-term Obligation

The Company has a lonigrm supply agreement with Ulba/Kazatomprom of Republic of Kazakhstan and its marketing represiset,
Nukem, Inc. of Connecticut for the purchase of agjnately 775,000pounds of beryllium copper master alloy. The pgcfar the berylliun
content of the material is fixed while the price fbe copper content fluctuates based upon the hhoaverage LME market price. Purch
commitments in 2013, which represent the final stdpts to be made under this agreement, total ajppataly $1.8 million. Purchases ma
under this agreement totaled $5.2 million in 20h@ &8.8 millionin 2011. The material purchased from Nukem is usetie manufacture
beryllium-containing alloy products by the Perforroa Alloys segment.
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Other

The Company is subject to various other legal beoproceedings that relate to the ordinary coafses business. The Company belie
that the resolution of these proceedings, indiMiguar in the aggregate, will not have a materigverse impact upon the Compasy’
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has outstanding letters of credit itgga$b26.0 million related to workersompensation, consigned precious n
guarantees, environmental remediation issues dredt piatters that expire in 2013.

Note K — Common Stock and Stock-based Compensation

A reconciliation of the changes in the number ahowon shares issued is as follows:

(Thousands)

Issued as of January 1, 2010 26,80(
Exercise of stock options and SARs 162
Vesting of performance-restricted shares 6
Issued as of December 31, 2010 26,96¢
Exercise of stock options and SARs 55
Vesting of performance-restricted shares 1
Issued as of December 31, 2011 27,02«
Exercise of stock options and SARs 26
Issued as of December 31, 2012 27,05(

Stock incentive plans (the 2006 Stock IncentivenRlad the 2006 Noamployee Director Equity Plan) were approved atMag 2, 200!
annual meeting of shareholders. These plans améhtie granting of option rights, stock appreciatights, performancesstricted share
performance shares, performance units and restritiares and replaced the 1995 Stock Incentive &idrthe 1997 Stock Incentive Plan
Non-employee Directors, although there are still amimutstanding under these plans. The 2006 Stamntive Plan and the 2006 Non-
employee Director Equity Plan were amended to, grather things, add additional shares to the pl&hese amendments were approve
shareholders at the May 2011 annual meeting.

Stock Options

Stock options may be granted to employees orearoployee directors of the Company. Option rightstlenthe optionee to purche
common shares at a price equal to or greater themarket value on the date of grant. Option rigjngsited to employees generally bec
exercisable (i.e., vest) over a four -year period expire ten yeafsom the date of the grant. Options granted to eyges may also be isst
with shorter vesting periods. Options granted to-employee directors vest in six months and exi@reyeardrom the date of the grant. T
number of options available to be issued is esthbll in plans approved by shareholders. The ereofisptions is generally satisfied by
issuance of new shares.

Compensation cost for options is determined adtite of the award through the use of a pricing rhadd charged against income ¢
the vesting period for each award. There was ngoemsation cost in 2012, 2011 or 2010, as all optieere fully vested prior to 2010.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stmaon activity during 2012:

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining

(Shares in thousands) Options Share Value Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 11 % 15.0¢
Exercised (16) 9.7t
Canceled Q) 7.27
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 9€ 15.9¢ $ 943,00( 14
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2012 96 15.9¢ 943,00( 1.4
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 9€ 15.9¢ 943,00( 1.4

Summarized information on options outstanding é@exfember 31, 2012 is as follows:

Number Weighted- Weighted-
Outstanding average average
and Exercisable Remaining Exercise
(Thousands) Life (Years) Price
Range of Option Prices
$5.55 - $8.10 11 0.4 $ 6.7¢
$14.80-$16.10 8 1.8 15.4¢
$17.075-$17.58 77 1.5 17.31
96 1.4 $ 15.9¢

Cash received from the exercise of stock optioteded $0.2 million in 2012, $0.7 million in 2011ca$2.6 millionin 2010. The tax bene
realized from tax deductions from exercises wag $dlllion in 2012, $0.5 million in 2011 and $0.8llein in 2010. The total intrinsic value
options exercised during the years ended Decenthe03 2, 2011 and 2010 was $0.3 million , $1.4iarilland $2.3 million , respectively.

Restricted Stocl

The Company may grant restricted stock to emplogeesnonemployee directors of the Company. These shareseatécted and ve
over a designated period of time as defined atdéte of the grant and are forfeited should the értddemployment terminate during
restriction period. The fair market value of thetrieted shares is determined on the date of thet@nd is amortized over the restriction pe
The restriction period is typically three years .

The fair value of the restricted stock is basedhanclosing stock price on the date of grant. Te@htedaverage grant date fair value
2012, 2011 and 2010 was $27.87 , $39.18 and $22e8pectively.

Compensation cost was $2.7 million in 2012, $2.8ioni in 2011 and $2.3 milliorin 2010. The unamortized compensation cost o
outstanding restricted stock was $2.8 million aPetember 31, 2012 and is expected to be amortized a weighted-average period 1
months.

The following table summarizes the restricted stactkvity during 2012:

Weighted-

average

Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 311 $ 23.8¢
Granted 76 27.81
Vested (113 28.3i
Forfeited (51) 28.9:
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 228 ¢ 30.1¢
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Long-term Incentive Plans

Under longterm incentive compensation plans, executive affiead selected other employees receive cashak ateards based upon
Company’s performance over the defined period,cbipi three years Awards may vary based upon the degree to whittmhperformanc
exceeds the prdetermined threshold, target and maximum performéanels at the end of the performance periodsottaymay be subjected
attainment of threshold performance objectives.

Compensation expense is based upon the perform@mogections for the threeyear plan period, the percentage of requisite ce
rendered and the fair market value of the Commaogimmon shares on the date of grant. The offsietcompensation expense for the po
of the award to be settled in shares is recordéimshareholders’ equity and was $0.4 million2642, zero for 2011 and less tHeh1 millior
for 2010.

Directors Deferred Compensatic

Non-employee directors may defer all or part ofirtfiees into the Compangy’common shares. The fair value of the deferredeshi
determined at the share acquisition date and isrded within shareholders’ equity. Subsequent cearig the fair value of the Compasy’
common shares do not impact the recorded valutteeathares.

The following table summarizes the stock activiy the directors' deferred compensation plan du2bitp:

Weighted-

average

Number of Grant Date

(Shares in thousands) Shares Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 101 $ 26.4:
Granted 8 23.1(C
Distributed (6) (26.40
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 102 ¢ 38.6¢

There was nancome or expense associated with this plan redoimi€012, 2011 or 2010. During the years endedebBéer 31, 201
2011 and 2010, the weighted-average grant datedhie of shares granted was $23.10 , $38.00 abd $2 respectively.

Stock Appreciation Right:

The Company may grant stock appreciation rightsR§Ao certain employees and nemployee directors. Upon exercise of vested S
the participant will receive a number of shares@mhmon stock equal to the spread (the differentedmmn the market price of the Company’
common shares at the time of the exercise andtitie price established in the SARs agreement)ddidiby the common share price. The s
price of the SARs is equal to or greater than tlaeket value of the Comparsycommon shares on the day of the grant. The nuofb®@AR:
available to be issued is established by planscappr by the shareholders. The vesting period aedifén of the SARs are established in
SARs agreement at the time of the grant. The esefi the SARs is satisfied by the issuance oftrgashares. The SARs vest three yéans
the date of grant. SARs granted prior to 2011 exjpitten years , while the SARs granted in 2011lateit expire in seven years .

The following table summarizes the Company's SARivity during 2012:

Weighted-
average Weighted-
Exercise Aggregate average
Number of Price Per Intrinsic Remaining

(Shares in thousands) SARs Share Value Term (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 841 $ 23.3¢
Granted 18t 29.4F
Exercised 33 15.01
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 99: 24.8(C $ 4,473,001 5.9
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2012 992 24.8( 4,473,001 5.9
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 444 19.6¢ 3,511,001 55

The weighted-average fair value of the SARs gramepl012 was $12.87 The fair value will be amortized to compensatamst on
straight-line basis over the three-year vestingogeiCompensation cost was $2.8 million , $2.5ionlland $1.8 milliorin 2012, 2011 and 201
respectively, and was included in selling, genaral administrative expense. The unamortized congpienscost balance was $3.8 millias o
December 31, 2012.
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Summarized information on SARs outstanding as afeb&er 31, 2012 follows:

Weighted- Weighted-

Number average average

Outstanding Remaining Exercise

SARs Prices (Thousands) Life (Years) Price

$15.01 31€ 6.1 $ 15.01
$21.24-$24.03 27z 6.2 21.8¢
$27.78-$29.45 214 5.3 29.2:
$34.30-$39.30 152 5.3 39.1¢
$44.72 39 4.1 44.7:
99z 5.9 $ 24.8(

The SARs granted at $15.01 , $24.03 , $27.78 aAd’34re exercisable.

The fair value of the SARs was estimated on thatgtate using the Black-Scholes pricing model i following assumptions:

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rate 0.8%% 0.03% 0.11%
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Volatility 50.(% 58.71% 58.(%
Expected lives (in years) 5.C 6.5 6.5

The risk-free rate of return was based upon the §pear Treasury note rate at the time the SARs weaetegd. The Company initiatet

dividend in May 2012, subsequent to the 2012 gdaté¢. The share price volatility was calculatededaspon the actual closing prices of
Company's common shares at month end over a pefiapproximately teryears prior to the granting of the SARs. This apploto measurir
volatility is consistent with the approach usedctdculate the volatility assumption in the valuatiof stock options. The Company's cur
SARs program has been in place since 2006. Thectegfe assumption was based upon prior analyses.

Serial Preferred Stocl

The Company has five millioghares of Serial Preferred Stock authorized (nosglaie), none of which have been issued. Certamste
the Serial Preferred Stock, including dividenddgeraption and conversion, will be determined byBbard of Directors prior to issuance.

Note L — Other Comprehensive Income

The following table summarizes the cumulative naing(loss) by component, net of tax, within othemprehensive income as

December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 4,077 $ 4947 $ 3,98¢
Derivative financial instruments
Gross 35C 1,45( (1,547
Deferred tax (benefit) (1,280 (89%) (1,942
Net 1,63( 2,34¢ 39¢
Pension and other retirement plan adjustment
Gross (127,54)) (105,23¢) (69,44
Deferred tax (benefit) (33,409 (25,729 (13,43°)
Net (94,13¢) (79,507 (56,004
Total $ (88,429 $ (72,21H % (51,616
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Note M — Segment Reporting and Geographic Informatin

Advanced Beryllium
Material Performance and Technical All
Technologies Alloys Composites Materials Subtotal Other Total

(Thousands)
2012
Sales to external
customers 847,83" % 292,44t $ 59,98 $ 72,73:  $ 1,272,99 79 $ 1,273,07
Intersegment sales 2,55¢ 2,71¢ 74C 672 6,68¢ — 6,68¢
Operating profit (loss) 16,74¢ 24,00¢ (3,949 6,60¢ 43,417 (6,647 36,77¢
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 16,28: 14,99: 1,88: 2,60¢ 35,76¢ 1,27¢ 37,04¢
Expenditures for long-
lived assets 11,87 19,90¢ 7,96 3,60¢ 43,34¢ 1,31t 44,66
Assets 341,60: 269,00: 135,41. 23,32¢ 769,34¢ 45,56¢ 814,91
2011
Sales to external
customers 1,051,82. $ 335,32 $ 60,557 $ 78,73: $ 1,526,43 29t $ 1,526,73
Intersegment sales 2,49 3,771 757 2,167 9,18¢ — 9,18¢
Operating profit (loss 33,47 27,24: (754) 7,26 67,22( (10,147 57,07¢
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 16,17( 22,32: 1,36 2,45¢ 42,32( 1,31¢ 43,63t
Expenditures for long
lived assets 8,01« 10,59¢ 6,46( 2,28¢ 27,35¢ 1,38¢ 28,74.
Assets 342,81 235,54 127,70t 21,50: 727,57t 44,52] 772,10:
2010
Sales to external
customers 878,99: $ 293,75 $ 61,89: $ 67,45( $ 1,302,09 21¢ $ 1,302,31
Intersegment sales 1,71¢ 6,08¢ 397 2,59 10,79¢ — 10,79¢
Operating profit (loss) 39,45 27,15( 10,04¢ 5,331 81,98 (8,349 73,63!
Depreciation,
depletion and
amortization 16,44: 14,18¢ 1,07( 2,44¢ 34,14¢ 1,24¢ 35,39:
Expenditures for long-
lived assets 5,17C 17,06( 29,12 95C 52,30: 1,35¢ 53,66:.
Assets 339,49( 219,09: 119,11 22,75 700,45: 34,95¢ 735,41(

Intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidafléve sales to external customers are presentedf ietersegment sales. Segments
evaluated at the operating profit level.

The All Other column includes the parent compangesses, the operating results for Materion Sendices a wholly owned subsidia
and other corporate charges. Materion Servicesproides administrative and financial servicesh® other businesses in the Company
cost-plus basis.

The assets shown in the All Other column include dksets used by Materion Services Inc. and trenpaompany as well as cash
long-term deferred income taxes.
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Other geographic information includes the following

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Sales from U.S. operations $ 1,064,77 % 1,306,19. $ 1,079,701
Sales based upon location of customers
United States $ 881,96¢ $ 1,143,720 $ 933,26:
All other 391,11( 383,01 369,05!
Total $ 1,273,070 $ 1,526,731 $ 1,302,31.
Long-lived assets by country deployed
United States $ 354,12: $ 349,98 $ 363,73t
All other 36,04: 32,44 11,91t
Total $ 390,16: $ 382,42¢ $ 375,65.

No individual country, other than the United Statascustomer accounted f10% or more of the Comparsysales for the years presented. ¢
outside the United States are primarily to Asia Bodope.

Note N — Other-net

Other-net expense is summarized for 2012, 20122648 as follows:

Income (Expense)

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Foreign currency exchange/translation gain (loss) $ 1477 $ 2,777 $ (759)
Amortization of intangible assets (6,00¢) (6,149 (6,467)
Metal consignment fees (9,01 (9,877) (6,539
Changes to earn-out valuation — 1,052 84¢
Equipment write-off (see below) (1,609 — —
Other items (464) 1,97(C (1,919
Total $ (15,609 $ (15,779 $ (14,82))

During 2012, the Company announced the consolidaifdfour of its smaller operations in order to improve efficies and cash flov
This program included closing thrégcilities and transferring their business voluraes portions of their equipment to other existiagilfties
and the consolidation of one operation from fouitddugs into two . One of the facilities was closeg yearend 2012, with the balance of
activity scheduled to be completed in 2013. Cossoeiated with the consolidation program, includseyerance, equipment relocat
equipment write-offs and other related items, tta$b4.8 million in 2012, with $1.6 million recordéd cost of sales, $1.6 milliom selling
general and administrative expense and $1.6 miliioother-net. The $1.6 million equipment wri#- resulted from the abandonment
equipment with no realizable value. The costs amended within the Company's Advanced Material Tiettgies segment. Costs to comg
the consolidations are estimated to be $2.6 millio2013.

Other items in the chart above include legal setiets, bad debt expense, cash discounts, gainesses on the sale of fixed assets
other miscellaneous items.
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Note O — Interest

The following chart summarizes the interest incdy@pitalized and paid, as well as the amortimadiocapitalized interest for 2012, 2(
and 2010:

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010

Interest incurred $ 3,33¢ % 2,86( $ 2,69¢
Less capitalized interest 20C 48 31
Total net expense $ 3,132 % 281: $ 2,66¢
Interest paid $ 263¢ $ 2211 % 2,22¢
Amortization of capitalized interest included irstof sales $ 33 % 441 % 49¢

The difference in expense among 2012, 2011 and @@&0primarily due to changes in the level of artding debt, capital leases and
average borrowing rate. Amortization of deferrethficing costs within interest expense was $0.6amilh 2012, $0.6 million in 2011 arD.t
million in 2010.

Note P — Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and income taxes (lgaedi comprised of the following:

(Thousands) 2012 2011 2010
Income before income taxes:
Domestic $ 23,37¢  $ 53,64¢ $ 65,48¢
Foreign 10,26: 61¢ 5,47¢
Total income before income taxes $ 33,64: $ 54,26¢ $ 70,96¢

Income taxes:
Current income taxes:

Domestic $ 782 % 15,48° $ 10,13(
Foreign 3,61¢ 46¢ 78¢
Total current $ 11,44C $ 15,95 $ 10,91¢

Deferred income taxes:

Domestic $ (3,08) $ (2,710 $ 14,07
Foreign (44) (35)) 71¢
Valuation allowance 66€ 1,39: (1,279
Total deferred $ (2,462 $ (1,66¢) $ 13,62:
Total income taxes $ 8,97¢ % 14,28 $ 24,54
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The reconciliation of the federal statutory anckefifve income tax rates follows:

2012 2011 2010

Federal statutory rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State and local income taxes, net of federal thecef (0.9 0.7 (0.9
Effect of excess of percentage depletion over @egtetion (7.9 (3.9 (2.5)
Medicare Part D — — 2.2
Manufacturing production deduction (2.2) (3.5 2.9
Officers’ compensation 1.1 0.7 1.t
Adjustment to unrecognized tax benefits (0.€) 3.9 0.€
Taxes on foreign source income (0.7 (0.2 1.9
Retiree medical expense (2.0) — —
Valuation allowance 2.C 25 1.€
Other items 1.1 (1.6) (0.9

Effective tax rate 26.7% 26.2% 34.€%

Included in domestic income taxes, as shown irCbesolidated Statements of Income, are $(0.1) anili$0.6 million and(0.4) millior
of state and local income taxes in 2012, 2011 &id 2respectively.

The Company had domestic and foreign income taxneays of $13.2 million , $20.7 million and $8.8 lnih in 2012, 2011 and 201
respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determlveesked on temporary differences between the finhreg@rting bases and the tax base
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets aadilflies) recorded in the Consolidated BalanceeBheonsist of the following:

December 31,

(Thousands) 2012 2011
Asset (liability)
Post-retirement benefits other than pensions $ 12,000 $ 11,04"
Other reserves 12,80: 11,47¢
Environmental reserves 1,95¢ 1,932
Inventory 4,30z 3,77¢
Pensions 27,54’ 21,79(
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards 5,18¢ 5,19¢
Miscellaneous 357 371
Subtotal 64,15¢ 55,59°
Valuation allowance (4,589 (3,917
Total deferred tax assets 59,57 51,68(
Depreciation (29,38¢) (21,139
Amortization (7,939 (8,010
Capitalized interest expense (195 (229
Mine development (2,832 (782)
Derivative instruments and hedging activities (16€) (587
Total deferred tax liabilities (30,527 (30,73¢)
Net deferred tax asset $ 29,05: $ 20,94«

The Company had deferred income tax assets offght avvaluation allowance for state and foreign aperating losses and st
investment tax credit carryforwards. The Compangrids to maintain a valuation allowance on the$erdsl tax assets until a realization e'
occurs to support reversal of all or a portionhaf &llowance.

At December 31, 2012, for income tax purposes,Gbmpany had foreign net operating loss carryforaafl$2.9 millionthat do nc
expire, and $11.8 million that expire in calendaass 2013 through 2021. The Company had statepasating loss carryforwards &18.:
million that expire in calendar years 2013 thro29. The Company had state tax credits of $2.68omithat expire in calendar years 2|
through 2026.
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The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and in various state, local dackign jurisdictions. With limite
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject ta t&eral examinations for years before 2009, statklocal examinations for years be
2008, and foreign examinations for tax years beffl@6. The Company is presently under examinatiortife income tax filings in foustate
jurisdictions.

A reconciliation of the Company’s unrecognized b@xefits for the year-to-date period ending Decer3he2012 is as follows:

(Thousands) 2012 2011

Balance as of January 1 $ 1,96¢ $ 2,944
Additions to tax provisions related to the curreedr 14¢ —
Additions to tax positions related to prior years 174 87¢
Reduction to tax positions related to prior years (20) —
Lapses on statutes of limitations (45%) (1,859
Settlements (50) —
Balance as of December 31 $ 1,767 $ 1,96¢

At December 31, 2012, the Company had $1.8 milbbrunrecognized tax benefits, of which $0.8 millimould affect the Company’
effective tax rate if recognized.

The Company classifies all interest and penaltietheome tax expense. The amount of interest andlts, net of related federal
benefit, recognized in earnings was immaterialrdu012 and 2011. As of December 31, 2012 and 2xktued interest and penalties, ne
related federal tax benefit, was immaterial and $6illion , respectively.

A provision has not been made with respect to $4iillfon of unremitted earnings at December 31, 2012 becsude earnings may
considered to be reinvested indefinitely. It is pmictical to estimate the amount of unrecognizférded tax liability for undistributed forei
earnings.

Note Q — Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted EPS:

(Thousands except per share amounts) 2012 2011 2010
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS:
Net income $ 2466: $ 39,97¢ $ 46,42"

Denominator:
Denominator for basic EPS:

Weighted-average shares outstanding 20,41¢ 20,36 20,28:.
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and stock appreciation rights 162 237 15¢
Restricted stock 94 152 151
Performance restricted shares 4 — 1
Diluted potential common shares 261 38¢ 30¢
Denominator for diluted EPS:
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding 20,67¢ 20,75¢ 20,59(
Basic EPS $ 121 $ 1.9¢ $ 2.2¢
Diluted EPS $ 1.1¢  $ 1.9 % 2.2¢

Stock appreciation rights with grants in excesshefaverage annual share price totaling 465,00D#?, 152,000 in 2011 and 69,000
2010 were excluded from the diluted EPS calculatiotheir effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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Note R — Related Party Transactions

The Company had outstanding loans of $0.1 milligit wo employees at December 31, 2012 and outstgidans of $0.1 milliorwith
three employees, including oegecutive officer at December 31, 2011. The loaaseewnade in the first quarter 2002 pursuant toitigeiranc
agreements between the Company and the employleegortion of the premiums paid by the Companyeiated as a loan from the Compar
the employees and the loans are secured by theaimsipolicies, which are owned by the employebs. dgreements require each employ:
maintain the insurance poligy/cash surrender value in an amount at least égulé outstanding loan balance. The loans arebpayeom the
insurance proceeds upon the employeksath or at an earlier date due to the occurrehspecified events. The loans bear an interésteque
to the applicable federal rate. There have beamadifications to the loan terms since the inceptibthe agreements.

Note S — Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following tables summarize selected quarterigrfcial data for the years ended December 31, 26d2011:

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts)
Net sales
Gross margin
Percent of sales
Net income

Net income per share of common stock:

Basic

Diluted
Dividends per share of common stock
Stock price range:

High

Low

Net sales

Gross margin
Percent of sales

Net income

Net income per share of common stock:

Basic
Diluted
Stock price range:
High
Low

2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
353,63( 325,08t $ 290,60: $ 303,75¢ % 1,273,07:
49,41¢ 53,02« 52,36¢ 43,97 198,78:
14.(% 16.2% 18.(% 14.5% 15.6%
6,11¢ 7,92¢ % 8,11« % 250 % 24,66¢
0.3C 0.3¢ 0.4C 0.1z 1.21
0.3C 0.3¢ 0.3¢ 0.12 1.1¢
— 0.07¢ 0.07¢ 0.07¢ 0.22¢
32.91 29.3i 25.57 25.9¢
24.7i 20.3i 17.5¢ 18.8¢
2011
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
374,80" 424,710 $ 392,79 $ 334,42: % 1,526,73
55,80( 62,67 57,35( 39,50( 215,32:
14.9% 14.8% 14.€% 11.8% 14.1%
11,81¢ 13,87 $ 13527 $ 76z % 39,97¢
0.5¢ 0.6¢ 0.6¢€ 0.04 1.9¢
0.57 0.67 0.6t 0.04 1.92
44.9¢ 44.0( 42.0¢t 30.1¢
33.9¢ 33.02 21.11 19.5:

The Company recorded a $7.4 million pag-expense in the fourth quarter 2012 for a ne¢nitory loss. A portion of this expense r
have been applicable to the third quarter 2012. iAayrance recoveries will be recorded in the ®itag they become probable and estimable.

The Company recorded a $2.4 million expense infolveth quarter 2011 that consisted of a net inwgntoss of $3.6 millionand th
associated reduction in incentive compensationresgef $1.2 million . A portion of this $2.4 milligpretax expense may have been applic

to the second or third quarters of 2011.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the supervisioth with participation of our management, includthg chief executive officer a
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness ofetlilesign and operation of our disclosure contral$ procedures as of December 31, :
pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) and 1B8(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934msnded (Exchange Act). Based upon that evaly

our management, including the chief executive effiand chief financial officer, concluded that alisclosure controls and procedures \
effective as of the evaluation date.

b) Management's Report on Internal Control oveafaial Reporting

The Report of Management on Internal Control ovieafcial Reporting and of the Report of Independ®egistered Public Accounti
Firm thereon are set forth in Item 8 of this FordaKLand are incorporated herein by reference.

¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financing Répgr

During the fourth quarter 2012, the Company impleteé additional controls around inventory at ondt®fprecious metals facilitie
Those additional controls included requiring quadytphysical inventory counts and enhancing costreithin SAP (which was implementec
the third quarter). Those controls identified a4dTillion inventory loss. After evaluation of thesk, we determined we had, in an interim pe
ineffective controls over existence of inventorytlais facility that we concluded was a material kresss in internal control over financ
reporting. With the implementation of the additiboantrols by year end, we had fully remediatedriaerial weakness.

Except as otherwise disclosed above, there werethmer changes in our internal control over finahoigporting that occurred during 1
guarter ended December 31, 2012 that have mayeaiddicted, or are reasonably likely to affect, mternal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information under “Election of Directorgi the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetihghareholders, to be filed with
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to IR&gu 14A, is incorporated herein by referencee Thformation required by Item
relating to our executive officers is included undee caption “Executive Officers of the Registfaimt Part | of this Form 10« and it
incorporated herein by reference. The informatiequired by Item 10 with respect to directors, thelih Committee of the Board of Direct:
and Audit Committee financial experts is incorpecaherein by reference from the section entiti€drporate Governance; Committees of
Board of Directors — Audit Committee” and “— Audtommittee Expert, Financial Literacy and Indeperééim the proxy statement for ¢
2013 annual meeting of shareholders to be filedh Wie Securities and Exchange Commission purswaRegulation 14A. The informati
required by Item 10 regarding compliance with Setfi6(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated hebgimeference from the section enti
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiaipte” in the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetihshareholders to be filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursudrégulation 14A.

We have adopted a Policy Statement on Significarp@ate Governance Issues and a Code of Condlicy Plmat applies to our chi
executive officer and senior financial officers¢luding the principal financial and accounting offi, controller and other persons perforr
similar functions, in compliance with applicable Werork Stock Exchange and Securities and Exchangenaission requirements. T
aforementioned materials, along with the chartérthe Audit, Governance and Organization and Corsgton Committees of our Board
Directors, which also comply with applicable reguirents, are available on our web site at http:#r@i.com, and copies are also availe
upon request by any shareholder to Secretary, Mat€rorporation, 6070 Parkland Blvd., Mayfield Hefig, Ohio 44124. We make our rep
on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and IB-available on our web site, free of charge, asnsa® reasonably practicable after these reportfiladewith the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any amartdraed/or waivers to our Code of Conduct Polidgtednent on Significant Corpor.
Governance Issues and Committee Charters willlzdsmade available on our web site. The informatiorour web site is not incorporated
reference into this Form 10-K.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under Item 11 is incorpedaby reference from the sections entitled “ExiseuCompensation” and201z
Director Compensationfn the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetihghareholders to be filed with the Securities &xathang
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under Item 12 regardingusy ownership is incorporated by reference frime section entitled Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managehia the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetihghareholders to be filed w
the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuaRetulation 14AThe information required by Item 12 regarding s&ms authorized fc
issuance under equity compensation plans is incatga by reference from the section entitled “Bg@bmpensation Plan Informationi the
proxy statement for our 2013 annual meeting of ednalders to be filed with the Securities and Exgega@ommission pursuant to Regula
14A.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under Item 13 is incorpedaherein by reference from the sections entitRelated Party Transactionsinc
“Corporate Governance; Committees of the Boardicédddors — Director Independencef the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meebii
shareholders to be filed with the Securities andharge Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under Item 14 is incorpedaherein by reference from the section entitRdtification of Independent Registe
Public Accounting Firm”of the proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetihghareholders to be filed with the Securities &xthang
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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Item 15.

PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(d) 1. Financial Statements and Supplemental Informatio

The financial statements listed in the accompaniyidgx to financial statements are included in I&of this Form 10-K.

(&) 2. Financial Statement Schedul¢

The following consolidated financial informatiorr fine years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 andi@@Ldmitted herewith:
Schedule Il — Valuation and qualifying accounts.

All other schedules for which provision is madetie applicable accounting regulations of the Séesrand Exchange Commission are

required under the related instructions or areptiegble, and therefore have been omitted.

(@) 3. Exhibits

All documents referenced below were filed pursunthe Exchange Act by Materion Corporation, fileamber 00115885, unles

otherwise noted.

(3a)

(3b)

(3¢c)

(4a)

(4b)

(4c)

(4d)

(4e)

(49)

(49)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation aidh Engineered Materials Inc. (filed as Annex Bthie Registratio
Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 1-15885) filed Ime tCompany on February 1, 2000, Registration NB-SED17).
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Amended and Restated Articles of ma@tion (filed as Exhibit 3(a) to the Company’'siaB-K (File No. 1-
15885) on March 8, 2011), incorporated herein lbgremce.

Amended and Restated Code of Regulations (filelxadbit 3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on FAkQ (File No. 1-
15885) for the period ending on July 1, 2011), iposated herein by reference.

Indenture Modification between Toledimicas County Port Authority, dated as of May 3002(filed as Exhibit 4 to th
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File NeaL5B85) for the period ending June 27, 2003), inoaed herein b
reference.

Pursuant to Regulation 5 Item 601(b)(4), the Company agrees to furnistht Securities and Exchange Commission, |
its request, a copy of the instruments definingrtpbts of holders of longerm debt of the Company that are not being -
with this report.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated JuldBL among Materion Corporation, Materion Advahddaterials
Technologies and Services Netherlands B.V., JPMofgfaase Bank, N.A. and other lenders from timane tparty theret
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form §/Hle No. 1-15885) filed on July 18, 2011), incorated herein by reference.

Third Amended and Restated Precious Metals Agreedaad October 1, 2010, between Brush Engineera@mils Inc. an
other borrowers and The Bank of Nova Scotia (fdsdExhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File Nel5885) on Octobe
4, 2010), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restatedi®us Metals Agreement dated March 31, 2011, gnidaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofd\N8uotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srit8-K (File No. 1-
15885) on April 6, 2011), incorporated herein bigrence.

Amendment No. 2 to the Third Amended and Restatediéus Metals Agreement dated August 18, 2011 ,ngmvaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofé\Seotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srit@-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on August 22, 2011), incorporated hreby reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Third Amended and Restatedidus Metals Agreement dated October 17, 201 bngnMaterior
Corporation and other borrowers and The Bank ofaN®gotia (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srk@-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on October 18, 2011), incorporatecehreby reference.



(10a) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into e tCompany and its executive officers (filed as iBxhlOa to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No18885) for the year ended December 31, 2008), jporated herein k
reference.
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(10b)

(10c)*

(10d)*

(10e)*

(10f)*

(10g)*

(10h)*

(10i)*#

(10))

(10k)*

(100)*

(10m)*

(10n)*

(100)*

(10p)*

(10q)*

(20n*

(10s)*

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into hg Company and its directors (filed as Exhibit 16lithe Companyg
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2008), incorporatednheyeeference.

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemenExecutive Officers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to tl@mpanys
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885)tfee period ending June 27, 2008), incorporatedihdy reference.

Amendment No.1 to Amended and Restated Severamgeefent, dated May 4, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 1@2the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nel5B85) for the period ending July 1, 2011), incogped herein b
reference.

Amended and Restated Form of Severance AgreemeKefoEmployees (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Comga Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the pérending June 27, 2008), incorporated herein feyeace.

Form of Executive Insurance Agreement enteredtiytthe Company and certain employees dated Jau@§02 (filed a
Exhibit 10g to the Company’s Annual Report on FdttK (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 1¢
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Trust Agreement between the Company and Kexgt Company of Ohio, N.A. (formerly Ameritruso@pany
National Association) on behalf of the Company’s@axive officers (filed as Exhibit 10e to the Compa Annual Report o
Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the year ended &wber 31, 1994), incorporated herein by reference.

2012 Management Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibitté@he Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File. 115885) foi
the year ended December 31, 2011), incorporatezirhby reference.

2013 Management Incentive Plan.

1979 Stock Option Plan, as amended pursuant t@agipof shareholders on April 21, 1982 (filed byuBn Wellman Inc. &
Exhibit 15A to Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 todgiration Statement (File No. 1-15885) No64980), incorporate
herein by reference.

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1979 Btption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Posiffective Amendment No.
to Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No588b), Registration No. 2-64080), incorporated imelog reference.

1984 Stock Option Plan as amended by the Boardimgfciors on April 18, 1984 and February 24, 198lédfby Brust
Wellman Inc. as Exhibit 4.4 to Registration Statamen Form S-8 (File No. 1-15885), Registration N8&3-28605),
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1984 StOption Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Pogtffective Amendment No.
to Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No588b), Registration No. 2-90724), incorporated imelog reference.

1989 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to Régtion Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 1-1588&%gistration No. 33-
28605), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment, effective May 16, 2000, to the 1989 S1Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to Pdstfective Amendment No.
to Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No588b), Registration No. 33-28605), incorporatectireby reference.

1995 Stock Incentive Plan (as Amended March 3, 1@88d as Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Sitagat (File No. 1-
15885) dated March 16, 1998), incorporated hergireference.

Amendment No. 1, effective May 16, 2000, to the 819%ock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4b to PBfective
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement (File N&5885) No. 333-63357), incorporated herein ligremce.

Amendment No. 2, effective February 1, 2005, tolth@5 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 1@4tte Current Report ¢
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the Companyebruary 7, 2005) incorporated herein by reference

Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Incentiga Hiled as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s QudptdReport on Form 1@



(File No. 1-15885) for the period ended June 2D820incorporated herein by reference.
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(10t)*

(10u)*

(20v)*

(10w)*

(10x)*

(10y)*

(102)*

(10aa)*#
(10ab)*#

(10ac)*

(10ad)*#
(10ae)*#

(10af)*

(10ag)*

(10ah)*

(10ai)*

(10aj)*

(10ak)*

(10al)*#

(10am)*

Amended and Restated Materion Corporation 2006kStaxentive Plan (as Amended and Restated as ofaMa@11) (filec
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (Mle. 1-15885) filed on May 5, 2011), incorporatedeir by reference.

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, (filesl Exhibit 10t to the Company’s Form 10-K (File.el5885) Annua
Report for the year ended December 31, 2004) imeatpd herein by reference.

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filed Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8Fe(No. 115885)
filed by the Company on February 7, 2005) incorpatderein by reference.

Form of 2010 Restricted Stock Agreement (filed akiBit 10z to the Company’s Annual Report on For@aKL(File No. 1-
15885) for the year ended December 31, 2009), jacated herein by reference.

Form of 2010 Restricted Stock Units Agreement dfites Exhibit 10aa to the Company’s Annual ReporEorm 10K (File
No. 1-15885) for the year ended December 31, 2008)rporated herein by reference.

Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Stettled) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companktesm 8-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated hetsinmeference.

Form of 2011 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Gsettied) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company®s1h 8-K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated hetsinmeference.

Form of 2012 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Castiled).
Form of 2012 Restricted Stock Units Agreement (SiBettled).

Form of 2006 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledfas Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on F&+ (File No. 1-
15885) filed by the Company on May 8, 2006), incogted herein by reference.

Form of 2012 Performance-Based Restricted Stockslamid Performance Shares Agreement (Cash-settled).
Form of 2012 Performance-Based Restricted Stockslamid Performance Shares Agreement (Stock-settled)

Form of 2007 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledf as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the @otrReport ol
Form 8-K (File No. 1-15885) filed by the Companyebruary 16, 2007), incorporated herein by refezen

Form of 2008 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10an to the Company’s Annual Report~Form 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe280y), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2009 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10ag to the Company’s Annual Report~Form 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe2808), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2010 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiiedfas Exhibit 10ah to the Company’s Annual RemortForm 10K
(File No. 1-15885) for the year ended Decembe2809), incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 2011 Stock Appreciation Rights Agreemeiledf as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K ¢FNo. 115885)
filed on March 3, 2011), incorporated herein byrehce.

Materion Corporation Supplemental Retirement Berien (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s F®B#K (File No. 1-
15885) filed on September 19, 2011), incorporatxein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Supplemental Retirement fdphlan.

Key Employee Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibit # the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Fite B’15885),
Registration No. 333-52141, filed by Brush Wellmaao. on May 5, 1998), incorporated herein by rafeee



(10an)*

(10ao0)*

(10ap)*

Amendment No. 1 to the Key Employee Share Opti@m Pleffective May 16, 2005) (filed as Exhibit 4b RostEffective
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Forh (Gile No. 1-15885), Registration No. 3833141), incorporate
herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Key Employee Share Opti@an Rlated June 10, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10aw & Gompanys
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2006), incorporatednheyeeference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Key Employee Share OptianRlated July 12, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 te Gompanys
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-1588%)tfee period ending July 1, 2011), incorporatectimeby reference.
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(10aq)*

(10an)*

(10as)*

(10at)*

(10au)*

(10av)*

(10aw)*

(10ax)*

(10ay)*

(10az)*

(10bay*

(10bb)*#

(10bc)*

(10bd)*

(10be)*

(10bf)*

1997 Stock Incentive Plan for Namployee Directors, (As Amended and Restated d&agfl, 2001) (filed as Appendix
to the Company’s Proxy Statement (File No. 1-15&&f®ed March 19, 2001), incorporated herein byresiee.

Amendment No. 1 to the 1997 Stock Incentive PlanNon-employee Directors, (filed as Exhibit 10ggthe Companys
Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) foe tyear ended December 31, 2003), incorporatednheyeeference.

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10mm to then@panys Annua
Report on Form 10-K (File No. 1-15885) for the yeaded December 31, 2004), incorporated hereirfeyence.

1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Directors (As Amended and Restated asoémber 2, 1997) (filed
Exhibit 4d to the Registration Statement on Forr8 G-ile No. 1-15885), Registration No. 383355, filed by Brus
Wellman Inc.), incorporated herein by reference.

2000 Reorganization Amendment, dated May 16, 2@0the 1997 Deferred Compensation Plan for Employee Director
(filed as Exhibit 4b to Post-Effective Amendment.Nb to Registration Statement (File No. 1-15885). M8363353),
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 (effective September 11, 2001h¢011992 Deferred Compensation Plan for amployee Directors (file
as Exhibit 4c to the Company’s Post-Effective Anmaedt No. 1 to Registration Statement (File No. 888 No. 333-
74296), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 2 (effective September 13, 2004t 1992 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Director
(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuarterlggRrt on Form 10-Q (File No. 15885) for the period ended Octobe
2004), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 3 (effective January 1, 2005) tolt882 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nemployee Directors (filed
Exhibit 10rr to the Company’s Annual Report on FotGK (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 4 (effective April 1, 2009) to the929Deferred Compensation Plan for Namployee Directors (filed :
Exhibit 10bb to the Company’s Annual Report on FdfrK (File No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 2(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated 2005 Deferred Compensatiom féta Nonemployee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nd.5B85) for the period ended September 26, 2008)yjporated herei
by reference.

Amended and Restated Materion Corporation 2006 &oployee Director Equity Plan (as Amended and Restas o
May 4, 2011) (filed as Appendix B to the RegistmnProxy Statement (File No.15885) filed on March 25, 201:
incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to the 2006 Non-employee Directquify Plan (as Amended and Restated as of May #41)20

Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compendatam |l (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compasmpuarterly Report ¢
Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the period endeardh 28, 2008), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Execleferred Compensation Plan Il (filed as Exhilibf to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No13885) for the year ended December 31, 2008), purated herein kb
reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Execiieferred Compensation Plan Il (filed as Exhitit2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File Nel5B85) for the period ended July 3, 2009), inccaiedt herein b
reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Execiieferred Compensation Plan Il, dated July 6,12(@ied as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report aorrr 10-Q (File No. 115885) for the period ending July 1, 201
incorporated herein by reference.



(10bg)* Trust Agreement between the Company and Fidelitgdtments dated September 26, 2006 for certaimrddfeompensatic
plans for Non-employee Directors of the Companiedfias Exhibit 99.4 to the Current Report on Ford @ile No. 1-
15885) filed by the Company on September 29, 2066prporated herein by reference.

(10bh)* Trust Agreement between the Company and Fidelitynddement Trust Company, dated June 25, 2009 rglatirthe
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan Il (filed akiBit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report omrd.0-Q (File No. 1-
15885) for the period ended July 3, 2009), incaapext herein by reference.
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(10bi)

(10bj)

(10bKk)

(10bl)

(10bm)

(10bn)

(10bo)

(10bp)

(10bq)

(10br)

(10bs)

(10bt)

(10bu)

(10bv)

Q1)#

Trust Agreement between the Company and Fifth TBadk N.A. dated September 25, 2006 relating toktag Employet
Share Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to the réot Report on Form 8-K (File No. 115885) filed by the Company !
September 29, 2006), incorporated herein by referen

Lease dated as of October 1, 1996, between Brudhm@fe Inc. and Toledd-ucas County Port Authority (filed as Exhi
10v to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ke(No. 115885) for the year ended December 31, 1996), pucatec
herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Inducement Agreement witPthéential Insurance Company of America dated M&y2B03 (filec
as Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Quarterly ReportFamm 10-Q (File No. 1t5885) for the period ended June 27, 2C
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Supply Agreement between RWKemY, Inc. and Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale pathase c
beryllium products (filed as Exhibit 10 to the Caang’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No13885) for the perio
ended September 26, 2003), incorporated hereiefleyence.

Supply Agreement between the Defense Logistics &gemd Brush Wellman Inc. for the sale and purchasieeryllium
products (filed as Exhibit 10tt to the Company’'sndal Report on Form 10-K (File No. 16885) for the year end
December 31, 2004), incorporated herein by referenc

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between William&Ackd Materials Inc. and Techvliet, Inc. dated December 20, 2(
(filed as Exhibit 10bw to the Company’s Annual Repmn Form 10-K (File No. 1:5885) for the year ended December
2007), incorporated herein by reference.

Consignment Agreement dated October 2, 2009 betBeesh Engineered Materials Inc. and Canadian lmap&ank of
Commerce and CIBC World Markets Inc. (filed as Bith10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No1%885) on October
2009), incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment No. 1 to the Consignment Agreement d&etbber 2, 2009 between Brush Engineered Matehmls anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Comparfytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885) on March 12, 2010), incorporated mebgi reference.

Amendment No. 2 to the Consignment Agreement ddtete 11, 2010 between Brush Engineered Materials dnc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarikéts Inc., (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Companiybrm 8K (File
No. 1-15885) filed on June 14, 2010), incorpordteckin by reference.

Amendment No. 3 to the Consignment Agreement daegtember 30, 2010 between Brush Engineered Miaténia anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarlkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Comparytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885), on October 4, 2010), incorporatecbindoy reference.

Amendment No. 4 to the Consignment Agreement dilimeember 10, 2010 between Brush Engineered Madelmal anc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worlarkéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Compariytsm 8K (File
No. 1-15885), on November 12, 2010), incorporakeetim by reference.

Amendment No. 5 to the Consignment Agreement ddedch 7, 2011 between Brush Engineered Materiats &mc
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC Worldrikéts Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compan@uarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 1-15885) for the pérended April 1, 2011), incorporated herein beirefice.

Amendment No. 6 to the Consignment Agreement d8egatember 13, 2011 between Materion CorporationGarthdial
Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC World Markets. I(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form §le No. 1-
15885) filed on September 16, 2011), incorporatxein by reference.

Amendment No. 7 to the Consignment Agreement dategust 24, 2012 between Materion Corporation anda@ear
Imperial Bank of Commerce and CIBC World Markets.]r(filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's ForrK 8ile No. 1-
15885) on August 31, 2012), incorporated hereindfigrence.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.



(23)#
(24y#
(BL1)#
(3L.2)#

(32)#

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Power of Attorney.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer requiregt Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
Certification of Chief Financial Officer require¢ Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chlghancial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. Sectiob0.3
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(95)# Mine Safety Disclosure Pursuant to Section 1508{#)e Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consurmetetion Act for
the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012.

101.INS)” XBRL Instance Document.
(
101.SCH)» XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

y
(101.CALN XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtne
(101.DEF)® XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
(101.LAB)™ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

(101.PRE)" XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

* Denotes a compensatory plan or arrangement.
# Filed herewith.
N XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) imfation is furnished and not filed or a part of gisgation statement

prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or 12 oStdwurities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed forgmses of section 18 of the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not sulifetiibility under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduoly authorized.

MATERION CORPORATION

By: /s/ RICHARD J. HIPPLE By: /s/  JOHN D. GRAMPA
Richard J. Hipple John D. Grampa
Chairman of the Board, President Senior Vice President Finance
and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

March 8, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpihe following persons on bet
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ttes indicated.

/s/  RICHARD J. HIPPLE Chairman of the Board, President, CI March 8, 2013
Executive Officer and Director (Princig

Richard J. Hipple Executive Officer)

/s/  JOHN D. GRAMPA Senior Vice President Finance and C March 8, 2013
Financial Officer (Principal Financial a

John D. Grampa Accounting Officer)

/s/  JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY* Director March 8, 2013

Joseph P. Keithley*

/s/  VINOD M. KHILNANI* Director March 8, 2013
Vinod M. Khilnani*

/sl  WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE* Director March 8, 2013
William B. Lawrence*

/sl N. MOHAN REDDY* Director March 8, 2013
N. Mohan Reddy*

/s/  WILLIAM R. ROBERTSON* Director March 8, 2013
William R. Robertson*

/s/  JOHN SHERWIN, JR.* Director March 8, 2013
John Sherwin, Jr.*

/s/ CRAIG S. SHULAR* Director March 8, 2013
Craig S. Shular*

/sl DARLENE J. S. SOLOMON* Director March 8, 2013
Darlene J. S. Solomon*

/sl  ROBERT B. TOTH* Director March 8, 2013
Robert B. Toth*

/sl GEOFFREY WILD* Director March 8, 2013
Geoffrey Wild*




* The undersigned, by signing his/her name hemdes sigh and execute this report on behalf di eithe aboveramed officers an
directors of Materion Corporation, pursuant to Paaaf Attorney executed by each such officer andator filed with the Securitie
and Exchange Commission.

By: /sl  JOHN D. GRAMPA
John D. Grampa
March 8, 2013 Attorney-in-Fact
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Materion Corporation and Subsidiaries
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

COL. A COL.B CoL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS
Balance at (2) 2)
Beginning of Charged to Costs Charged to Other Deduction- Balance at End
(Thousands) Period and Expenses Accounts-Describe Describe of Period

Year ended December 31, 2012
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable $ 1,49C $ 56C $ (30%) $ 34z (B) $ 1,40¢

Inventory reserves and obsolescence 5,00t 2,83¢ — 3,02¢ (C) 4,815
Year ended December 31, 2011
Deducted from asset accounts:

Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,452 28t — 247 (B) 1,49(
Inventory reserves and obsolescence 4,60¢ 87¢ — 48z (C) 5,00¢
Year ended December 31, 2010
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable 1,397 427 31 (A) 68: (B) 1,452
Inventory reserves and obsolescence 4,22¢ 3,30¢ 46  (A) 297, (C) 4,60¢

Note (A)-Beginning balance from acquisition
Note (B-Bad debts written-off, net of recoveries
Note (C-Inventory write-off
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Exhibit 10i
MATERION and SUBSIDIARIES
MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN
2013 PLAN YEAR

[. INTRODUCTION

The Management Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) provides incentive compensation to eligible employees based principally on
annual financial performance. Plan awards have a significant portion based on Company Performance and Business
Unit Performance (“Financial Performance”) and the remaining component that recognizes individual and combined
contributions toward personal/team objectives ("Personal/Team Performance”).

[I. DEFINITIONS
Base Compensation:
The participant's annual base salary in effect on September 30 of the Plan Year.

Business Unit Performance:

The Executive Staff will designate the Company’s business units/subsidiaries that are eligible for participation in the Plan
for the Plan Year. Each business unit has defined financial performance measures, which have in turn been approved by
the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors and/or the Executive Staff. For each of these
financial performance measures, a minimum goal, target goal and maximum goal will be established. Plan awards
include a Financial Performance component based on Company Performance alone, or Company Performance and/or
Business Unit Performance.

Company Performance :
The Company Performance portion of the Financial Performance component of Plan awards will consist of Operating
Profit measure (weighted at 85%) and a Value-added Sales measure (weighted at 15%).

Operating Profit (“OP”):
Profit or loss, before interest and taxes, for domestic and international operations. Operating Profit will include any
special write-off or accounting charge and accrued performance or incentive compensation.

Value-added Sales ("VAS"):

An amount equal to (1) the Company’s sales for the Plan Year minus (2) the aggregate cost to the Company for the Plan
Year of gold, silver, platinum, palladium and copper. The Compensation Committee will establish a minimum goal, target
goal and maximum goal for this VAS measure.

Other Metrics:

From time to time, other metrics may be adopted that are aligned with a business unit’s strategy and market challenges.
These metrics will be defined and tracked by the corporate accounting department, subject to approval by the Executive
Staff.

Personal/Team Performance:




An assessment is made of an individual's achievements and his/her contributions to work/project teams during the Plan
Year. This assessment is expressed as a percentage of base compensation. The Personal/Team Performance
component is distinct from the Financial Performance component.

Plan Year:
The fiscal year for which the Company’s Performance, Business Unit Performance and Personal/Team Performance,
and any Plan awards are calculated.

[ll. PARTICIPATION

At the beginning of the Plan Year, the Executive Staff will identify exempt, salaried employees whose responsibilities
affect progress on critical issues facing the Company, and those employees will participate in the Plan for the Plan Year.
Those individuals selected by the Executive Staff will be notified of their participation in the Plan, their performance
compensation grade and performance compensation opportunity, and their applicable business unit designation.

Following the beginning of the Plan Year, the Executive Staff may admit new hires or individuals who are promoted or
assigned additional and significant responsibilities to also participate in the Plan for the Plan Year. The Executive Staff
may also alter performance compensation grade assignments to reflect changed responsibilities of participants during
the Plan Year.

An employee who replaces or otherwise assumes the job functions or role of another employee does not automatically
assume the Plan participation characteristics that had applied to such other employee. Rather, participation by the new
or replacing employee must be individually considered and approved by the Executive Staff.

Participants who are newly employed before April 1 of the Plan Year are eligible for full participation in the Plan for such
Plan Year. Participants who are newly employed on or after April 1 of the Plan Year and before July 1 of the Plan Year
are eligible for half of any Plan award available based on Personal/Team Performance and Financial Performance for
the Plan Year.

Plan awards for participants who transfer from the Exempt Salaried Performance Compensation Plan to the
Management Incentive Plan for purposes of the Plan Year will be prorated to the beginning of the month following the
employee’s transfer to the Management Incentive Plan. The transferred employee’s eligibility under the Exempt Salaried
Performance Compensation Plan will cease for the Plan Year.

Changes in performance compensation grade assignments will result in prorated participation for Plan awards.

The eligibility of employees hired or with changed job responsibilities after June 30 of the Plan Year will not be
considered for participation in the Plan until a possible, subsequent Plan Year.

Normally, employees who are participants in any other annual incentive, commission or performance compensation plan
of the Company or as a subsidiary are not eligible. The Executive Staff may consider prorated participation in the Plan
for the Plan Year under special circumstances.




With two exceptions, participants must be employed on the last day of the Plan Year in order to be eligible for any Plan
award. For a participant who becomes eligible for and who elects a severance option under the Chronic Beryllium
Disease Policy as amended, any award under the Plan will be prorated to the beginning of the month after the employee
exercises the severance option. The second exception pertains to either the death of a participant or the retirement (at
age 65, or at age 55 or older with 10 years of service) of a participant, in which case, any Plan award will be prorated to
the beginning of the month following the employee’s death or the employee’s retirement date, as applicable. In no event
will a prorated Plan award be earned where the proration percent is 1/3 or less.

Eligible employees who have been on a leave of absence in excess of 13 weeks during the Plan Year will have their
Plan award reduced on a pro-rata basis to reflect their actual contribution.

IV. PLAN AWARD OPPORTUNITY FOR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE COMPONENT
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will establish minimum goals, target goals and maximum goals
for each Financial Performance component of Plan award opportunity.

The Executive Staff will assign participants to a specific business unit/subsidiary for the Financial Performance
component of Plan awards.

Below is a summary of the Plan award opportunities (as percentage of Base Compensation) for the Plan Year —:

Grade Financial Performance Personal/Team Performance
D 20% 0-14%
E 10% 0-14%

Opportunity for participants in Grades A, B and C will be individualized as determined by the Compensation Committee
or the Executive Staff.

The Financial Performance component of Plan awards (Business Unit, Company, sub-unit, and/or other measurement),
will begin once the Minimum level has been attained for Operating Profit. None of the other financial components will
result in an award unless the minimum level for Operating Profit has been met. Performance, which reaches or exceeds
the maximum goal of the measure, will result in awards at 200 percent of target opportunity. Award amounts for levels of
achievement between minimum and target goals and between target and maximum goals will be prorated according to
the level of achievement.

Financial Performance portion of awards will be prorated for transfers between units (or between business unit and
Corporate) according to the length of service by months in each unit during the Plan Year.

V. PLAN AWARD OPPORTUNITY FOR PERSONAL/TEAM PERFORM ANCE COMPONENT

An Operating Profit “threshold” may be established, which must be achieved in order to make available a bonus
opportunity to recognize the Personal/Team performance. If established, meeting this threshold would result in a
Personal/Team opportunity payout. This threshold can




be different than the minimum Operating Profit level necessary to create a Financial Performance opportunity. No
awards for Personal/Team performance will be paid if a Threshold is established and is not met.

The “total pool” for Personal/Team performance component of Plan awards for participants would typically average 10
percent of the Base Compensation of participants, if the OP meets or exceeds target. Performance below target could
result in the total pool being reduced to a lesser amount. The Business Unit Executive and the Executive Staff will decide
allocation of the pool among eligible participants based on their performance throughout the Plan year relative to
achieving established goals and objectives.

The Personal/Team achievement may be modified based on the Company’s Net Promoter Score (NPS). If NPS falls
below 34.0, the Personal/Team achievement will be reduced by 1% point. If NPS improves to 38.0 or greater, an
additional 1% point will be added to the Personal/Team final achievement.

VI. PAYMENT
Distribution of any payouts for Plan awards earned under the Plan to participants will be on or before March 15 of the
year following the Plan Year.

VIll. GENERAL PROVISIONS
The Executive Staff has authority to make administrative decisions in the interests of the Plan.

The Company’s Board of Directors, through its Compensation Committee, shall have final and conclusive authority for
interpretation, application, and possible maodification of this Plan or established targets. The Board of Directors reserves
the right to amend or terminate the Plan at any time. Subject to the preceding sentences, any determination by the
Company's independent accountants shall be final and conclusive as it relates to the calculation of financial results.

This Plan is not a contract of employment.



Exhibit 10aa
MATERION CORPORATION

Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Cash _ -Settled)

WHEREAS, , (the “Grantee”) is an employee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio corporation
(the “Corporation”) or a Subsidiary; and

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the form hereof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
a resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporation that was duly
adopted on February 6, 2013;

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Corporation’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the
Corporation hereby confirms to the Grantee the grant, effective on February __, 2013 (the “Date of Grant”), of
Restricted Stock Units (as defined in the Plan) (“RSUs”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the

following additional terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions:
Article |

DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial capital letters that are defined in the Plan shall have the meanings

assigned to them in the Plan when used herein with initial capital letters.
ARTICLE Il

CERTAIN TERMS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

1. RSUs Not Transferable . The RSUs covered by the Agreement shall not be transferable other than

by will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution prior to payment.

2. Vesting and Payment of RSUs .

(@) General . Subject to the provisions of Sections 2(b), 2(c) and 2(d) of this Article I, all of the RSUs

covered by this Agreement shall become nonforfeitable if the




Grantee shall have remained in the continuous employ of the Corporation or a Subsidiary for three years from the
Date of Grant and shall be payable in cash to the Grantee on such date.

(b) Death or Disability . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2(a) of this Article I, all of the RSUs

covered by this Agreement shall immediately become nonforfeitable and shall be immediately payable if the
Grantee dies or becomes permanently disabled (as hereinafter defined) while in the employ of the Corporation or
a Subsidiary during the three-year period from the Date of Grant. The Grantee shall be considered to have
become permanently disabled if the Grantee has suffered a permanent disability within the meaning of the long-
term disability plan in effect for, or applicable to, the Grantee and is “disabled” within the meaning of Section
409A(a)(2)(C) of the Code.
(c) Retirement.
() If the Grantee should Retire (as hereinafter defined) one year or more after the Date of Grant,
notwithstanding the requirement of continuous employment contained in Section 2(a) of this Article Il, the
RSUs covered by this Agreement shall continue to vest and shall become payable three years from the
Date of Grant, provided that the RSUs shall be paid on any earlier date when payment would otherwise
have been made under Section 2 of this Article Il if the Grantee had continued employment through such
date.
(i)  If the Grantee should Retire less than one year from the Date of Grant, the RSUs covered by
this Agreement shall be forfeited, unless the Committee determines that such RSUs will continue to vest

and become nonforfeitable three years from the Date of Grant.




(iif)

“Retire” shall mean the Grantee’s retirement from the Corporation or a Subsidiary at (A) age

65 or older or (B) at age 55 or older with 10 or more years of continuous employment with the Corporation

or a Subsidiary.

(d) Change in Control .

(i)

Notwithstanding Section 2(a) of this Article Il above, the RSUs granted hereby shall

immediately become nonforfeitable and payable if at any time during the employment of the Grantee and

prior to the end of the three-year vesting period:

(A)

(B)

a Change in Control (as defined in Section 2(g) of this Article II) shall occur after the Date
of Grant; and

within two years following the Change in Control the Grantee’'s employment with the
Corporation or a Subsidiary is terminated by the Grantee as a Termination for Good Cause
(as defined in Section 2(f) of his Article Il) or the Grantee is terminated by the Corporation
other than as a Termination for Cause (as defined in Section 2(e) of this Article II). If the
Change in Control constitutes a “change in control” for purposes of Section 409A of the
Code and if the Grantee incurs a “separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A of
the Code within two years following such Change in Control, payment for any RSUs which

are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture will be made upon the Grantee’s

separation from service, provided however , that if at such time the Grantee is a “specified
employee” as determined pursuant to the identification methodology adopted by the

Corporation in compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the




date of payment for the RSUs shall be the first business day of the seventh month after the
date of the Grantee’s separation from service (or if earlier the Grantee’s death). If payment
is not made pursuant to the preceding sentence because the Change in Control does not
constitute a “change-in-control” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, then payment
shall be made at the earliest date that payment would have been made under Section 2 of
Article Il if no Change in Control had occurred, assuming continued employment through
such date.

(i)  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2(d) to the contrary, in connection with a Business
Combination (as defined below in Section 2(g) of this Article Il) the result of which is that the Outstanding
Corporation Voting Stock (as defined below in Section 3(g) of this Article II) is exchanged for or becomes
exchangeable for securities of another entity, cash or a combination thereof, if the entity resulting from
such Business Combination does not assume the RSUs evidenced hereby and the Corporation’s
obligations hereunder, or replace the RSUs evidenced hereby with a substantially equivalent security of
the entity resulting from such Business Combination, then the RSUs evidenced hereby shall become

nonforfeitable as of immediately prior to such Business Combination. Payment for any RSUs which are no

longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture will be upon the Change in Control; provided , however , if
the Change in Control does not constitute a “change in control” for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v)
of the Code, then payment for the RSUs will be made upon the date that payment otherwise would have

been made




under Section 2 of this Article Il if no Change in Control had occurred, assuming continued employment

through such date.

(e) “Termination for Cause” means a termination of Grantee’s employment by the Corporation for
“Cause” (as defined in Section 7(f) of this Article I1).

() “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean the Grantee’s termination of the Grantee’s employment
with the Corporation or a Subsidiary as a result of the occurrence of any of the following:

() achange in the Grantee’s principal location of employment that is greater than 50 miles from
its location as of the date hereof without the Grantee’s consent; provided, however, that the Grantee
hereby acknowledges that the Grantee may be required to engage in travel in connection with the
performance of the Grantee’s duties hereunder and that such travel shall not constitute a change in the
Grantee’s principal location of employment for purposes hereof;

(i)  a material diminution in the Grantee’s base compensation;

(i) achange in the Grantee’s position with the Corporation without the Grantee’s consent such
that there is a material diminution in the Grantee’s authority, duties or responsibilities; or

(iv)  any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Corporation of the
agreement under which the Grantee provides services.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grantee’s termination of the Grantee’s employment with the Corporation as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall not constitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless (A) the Grantee gives
the Corporation written notice of such occurrence within 90 days of such occurrence and such occurrence is not cured

by the Corporation within 30 days of the date on which such written notice is received by the




Corporation and (B) the Grantee actually terminates his or her employment with the Corporation prior to the 365th day

following such occurrence.
(g) For purposes of this Agreement, “Change in Control” means:

() The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or

14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (a “Person”) of
beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of voting
securities of the Corporation where such acquisition causes such Person to own (A) 30% or more of the
combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities”) without the
approval of the Incumbent Board as defined in (ii) below or (B) 35% or more of the Outstanding Voting
Securities of the Corporation with the approval of the Incumbent Board; provided, however , that for
purposes of this subsection (i), the following acquisitions shall not be deemed to result in a Change of
Control: () any acquisition directly from the Corporation that is approved by the Incumbent Board (as
defined in subsection (ii), below), (II) any acquisition by the Corporation or a subsidiary of the Corporation,
(111 any acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the
Corporation or any corporation controlled by the Corporation, (IV) any acquisition by any Person pursuant
to a transaction described in clauses (A), (B) and (C) of subsection (iii) below, or (V) any acquisition by, or
other Business Combination (as defined in (iii) below) with, a person or group of which employees of the
Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation control a greater than 25% interest (a “MBQO") but only if

the Grantee is one of those employees of the Corporation or any subsidiary of the




Corporation that are participating in the MBO; provided, further , that if any Person’s beneficial ownership
of the Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities reaches or exceeds 30% or 35%, as the case may be,
as a result of a transaction described in clause (l) or (Il) above, and such Person subsequently acquires
beneficial ownership of additional voting securities of the Corporation, such subsequent acquisition shall
be treated as an acquisition that causes such Person to own 30% or 35% or more, as the case may be, of
the Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities; and provided, further , that if at least a majority of the
members of the Incumbent Board determines in good faith that a Person has acquired beneficial
ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 30% or more of the
Outstanding Corporation Voting Securities inadvertently, and such Person divests as promptly as
practicable a sufficient number of shares so that such Person beneficially owns (within the meanings of
Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) less than 30% of the Outstanding Corporation Voting
Securities, then no Change of Control shall have occurred as a result of such Person’s acquisition; or

(i) individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the Board (the “Incumbent Board” (as
modified by this clause (ii)) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided,
however , that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose election, or
nomination for election by the Corporation’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of
the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board (either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy
statement of the Corporation in which such person is named as a nominee for director, without objection

to such nomination) shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the




Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office
occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of
directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or

(i)  the consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other disposition of
all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation or the acquisition of assets of another corporation,
or other transaction (“Business Combination”) excluding, however, such a Business Combination
pursuant to which (A) the individuals and entities who were the ultimate beneficial owners of voting
securities of the Corporation immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, more than 65% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock and the
combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors, as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including, without
limitation, an entity that as a result of such transaction owns the Corporation or all or substantially all of
the Corporation’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries), (B) no Person (excluding any
employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Corporation, the Corporation or such entity resulting from
such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly (I) 30% or more, if such Business
Combination is approved by the Incumbent Board or (Il) 35% or more, if such Business Combination is
not approved by the Incumbent Board, of the combined voting power of the then outstanding securities
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of the entity resulting from such Business

Combination and




(C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial
agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv)  approval by the shareholders of the Corporation of a complete liquidation or dissolution of
the Corporation except pursuant to a Business Combination described in clauses (A), (B) and (C) of

subsection (iii), above.

3. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs . Except as otherwise provided for in Section 2 of Article lll,

payment for the RSUs shall be made in form of cash at the time the RSUs vest and become nonforfeitable or otherwise
become payable in accordance with Section 2 of this Article Il. The cash payment shall be equal to (a) Market Value per
Share on the date the RSUs vest and become nonforfeitable times (b) the number of RSUs covered by this Agreement
plus any dividend equivalents accrued on the RSUs since the Date of Grant (as provided below in Section 5 of this
Article II). Payments will be made in U.S. Dollars, less any applicable federal, state, local or foreign withholding taxes.
For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the Grantee be entitled to receive payment in any form other than cash,
and under no circumstances shall the Grantee be entitled to receive Common Shares or any other security hereunder.

4. Forfeiture of RSUs . The RSUs shall be forfeited, except as otherwise provided in Section 2(b), 2(c)

or 2(d) of this Article Il above, if the Grantee ceases to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiary prior to three
years from the Date of Grant.

5. Dividend Equivalents . From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (a) the time when the

RSUs vest and become nonforfeitable and payable in accordance with Section 2 of this Article 1l or (b) the time when the

Grantee’s right to receive




cash payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 4 of this Article Il, on the date that the Corporation
pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Shares generally, the Grantee shall be entitled to a number of
additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar amount of the cash dividend paid per
Common Share on such date and (B) the total number of RSUs (including dividend equivalents paid thereon) previously
credited to the Grantee as of such date, by (ii) the Market Value per Share on such date. Such dividend equivalents (if
any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and shall be paid or forfeited in the same manner and at the
same time as the RSUs to which the dividend equivalents were credited.

6. Effect of Detrimental Activity . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Grantee, either

during employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary or within one year after termination of such employment, shall
engage in any Detrimental Activity, (as hereinafter defined) and the Board shall so find, the Grantee shall:
(@) Forfeit all RSUs held by the Grantee.
(b)  With respect to any RSUs that have become nonforfeitable and been paid out pursuant to this
Agreement, pay to the Corporation in cash an amount equal to the payment Grantee received when the RSUs
became nonforfeitable.
(c) To the extent that the amount referred above to in Section 6(b) of Article Il are not paid to the
Corporation, the Corporation may set off the amounts so payable to it against any amounts that may be owing
from time to time by the Corporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whether as wages, deferred compensation or
vacation pay or in the form of any other benefit or for any other reason, except that no setoff shall be permitted

against any amount that constitutes “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.




7. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Detrimental Activity" shall include:

(@ (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of the Section entitled "Competitive Activity; Confidentiality;
Nonsolicitation" in the Severance Agreement between the Corporation and the Grantee, if such agreement is in
effect at the date hereof, or in violation of any corresponding provision in any other agreement between the
Corporation and the Grantee in effect on the date hereof providing for the payment of severance compensation;
or

(vi)  If no such severance agreement is in effect as of the date hereof or if a severance
agreement does not contain a Section corresponding to "Competitive Activity; Confidentiality;

Nonsolicitation":

(A) Competitive Activity During Employment. Competing with the Corporation anywhere within

the United States during the term of the Grantee's employment, including, without limitation:

()  entering into or engaging in any business which competes with the business of the
Corporation;

(I soliciting customers, business, patronage or orders for, or selling, any products or
services in competition with, or for any business that competes with, the business of the
Corporation;

(1 diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away any customers, business, patronage or
orders of the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

(IV)  promoting or assisting, financially or otherwise, any person, firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity engaged in any business which competes with the

business of the Corporation.




(B) Following Termination. For a period of one year following the Grantee's termination date:

()  entering into or engaging in any business which competes with the Corporation's
business within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafter defined);

(I soliciting customers, business, patronage or orders for, or selling, any products or
services in competition with, or for any business, wherever located, that competes with, the
Corporation's business within the Restricted Territory;

(1) diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away any customers, business, patronage or
orders of the Corporation within the Restricted Territory, or attempting to do so; or

(IV)  promoting or assisting, financially or otherwise, any person, firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity engaged in any business which competes with the
Corporation's business within the Restricted Territory.

For the purposes of Sections 7(a)(ii)(A) and (B) above, inclusive, but without limitation thereof, the
Grantee will be in violation thereof if the Grantee engages in any or all of the activities set forth
therein directly as an individual on the Grantee's own account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consultant, officer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or as a stockholder of any corporation in which the
Grantee or the Grantee's spouse, child or parent owns, directly or indirectly, individually or in the

aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock.




(C) "The Corporation." For the purposes of this Section 7(a)(ii) of Article Il, the "Corporation"

shall include any and all direct and indirect subsidiaries, parents, and affiliated, or related companies of
the Corporation for which the Grantee worked or had responsibility at the time of termination of the
Grantee's employment and at any time during the two year period prior to such termination.

(D) "The Corporation's Business." For the purposes of this Section 7 of Article Il inclusive, the

Corporation's business is defined to be the manufacture, marketing and sale of high performance
engineered materials serving the consumer electronics, industrial components and commercial
aerospace, defense and science, medical, energy, automotive electronics, telecommunications
infrastructure and appliance markets, as further described in any and all manufacturing, marketing and
sales manuals and materials of the Corporation as the same may be altered, amended, supplemented or
otherwise changed from time to time, or of any other products or services substantially similar to or readily
substitutable for any such described products and services.

(E) "Restricted Territory." For the purposes of Section 7(a)(ii)(B) of Article II, the Restricted

Territory shall be defined as and limited to:
()  the geographic area(s) within a one hundred mile radius of any and all of the
Corporation’s location(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to which the Grantee was
assigned or had any responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at the time of termination of the

Grantee's employment and at any time during the two-year period prior to such termination; and




(I all of the specific customer accounts, whether within or outside of the geographic
area described in (I) above, with which the Grantee had any contact or for which the Grantee had
any responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at the time of termination of the Grantee's
employment and at any time during the two-year period prior to such termination.

(F) Extension. If it shall be judicially determined that the Grantee has violated any of the
Grantee's obligations under Section 7(a)(ii)(B) of Article Il, then the period applicable to each obligation
that the Grantee shall have been determined to have violated shall automatically be extended by a period
of time equal in length to the period during which such violation(s) occurred.

(b) Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article I, Detrimental Activity

shall also include directly or indirectly at any time soliciting or inducing or attempting to solicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(s) or consultant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its parents, or its
other subsidiaries or affiliated or related companies to terminate their employment, representation or other
association with the Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsidiary or affiliated or related companies.

(c) Eurther Covenants. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article I, Detrimental Activity

shall also include:
() directly or indirectly, at any time during or after the Grantee's employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminating, making available or, except in the course of performing
the Grantee's duties of employment, using any trade secrets or confidential business and technical

information of the Corporation or its customers or vendors, including without




limitation as to when or how the Grantee may have acquired such information. Such confidential
information shall include, without limitation, the Corporation's unique selling, manufacturing and servicing
methods and business techniques, training, service and business manuals, promotional materials, training
courses and other training and instructional materials, vendor and product information, customer and
prospective customer lists, other customer and prospective customer information and other business
information. The Grantee specifically acknowledges that all such confidential information, whether
reduced to writing, maintained on any form of electronic media, or maintained in the Grantee's mind or
memory and whether compiled by the Corporation, and/or the Grantee, derives independent economic
value from not being readily known to or ascertainable by proper means by others who can obtain
economic value from its disclosure or use, that reasonable efforts have been made by the Corporation to
maintain the secrecy of such information, that such information is the sole property of the Corporation and
that any retention and use of such information by the Grantee during the Grantee's employment with the
Corporation (except in the course of performing the Grantee's duties and obligations to the Corporation)
or after the termination of the Grantee's employment shall constitute a misappropriation of the
Corporation's trade secrets.

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee's employment with the Corporation, for any reason, the
Grantee's failure to return to the Corporation, in good condition, all property of the Corporation, including
without limitation, the originals and all copies of any materials which contain, reflect, summarize, describe,

analyze or refer or relate to any items of information listed in Section 7(c)(i) of Article Il of this Agreement.




(d) Discoveries and Inventions. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include the failure or refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Corporation, its successors,
assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee's rights to any discoveries, inventions and improvements, whether
patentable or not, made, conceived or suggested, either solely or jointly with others, by the Grantee while in the
Corporation's employ, whether in the course of the Grantee's employment with the use of the Corporation's time,
material or facilities or that is in any way within or related to the existing or contemplated scope of the
Corporation's business. Any discovery, invention or improvement relating to any subject matter with which the
Corporation was concerned during the Grantee's employment and made, conceived or suggested by the
Grantee, either solely or jointly with others, within one year following termination of the Grantee's employment
under this Agreement or any successor agreements shall be irrebuttably presumed to have been so made,
conceived or suggested in the course of such employment with the use of the Corporation's time, materials or
facilities. Upon request by the Corporation with respect to any such discoveries, inventions or improvements, the
Grantee will execute and deliver to the Corporation, at any time during or after the Grantee's employment, all
appropriate documents for use in applying for, obtaining and maintaining such domestic and foreign patents as
the Corporation may desire, and all proper assignments therefor, when so requested, at the expense of the
Corporation, but without further or additional consideration.

(e) Work Made For Hire. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corporation's rights in any or all work papers, reports, documentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and masters therefore, prototypes and other materials (hereinafter,

"items"), including without limitation, any and all such items generated and maintained on any form of electronic




media, generated by Grantee during the Grantee's employment with the Corporation. The Grantee acknowledges
that, to the extent permitted by law, all such items shall be considered a "work made for hire" and that ownership
of any and all copyrights in any and all such items shall belong to the Corporation. The item will recognize the
Corporation as the copyright owner, will contain all proper copyright notices, e.g., "(creation date) [Corporation’s
Name], All Rights Reserved," and will be in condition to be registered or otherwise placed in compliance with
registration or other statutory requirements throughout the world.

() Termination for Cause. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of this Article II, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results in termination for Cause. For the purposes of this Section, "Cause"
shall mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involving fraud, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securities laws in connection with his duties or in the course of his
employment with the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation;

(i) committed intentional wrongful damage to property of the Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of secret processes or confidential information of
the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation;
and any such act shall have been demonstrably and materially harmful to the Corporation.

(g) Other Injurious Conduct. Detrimental Activity shall also include any action contributing to a

restatement of the Corporation’s financials if this award of RSUs to the Grantee is favorably affected by such

restatement as provided under Section 10D of the




Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission
or any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Common Shares may be
traded, and any other conduct or act determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejudicial to any significant
interest of the Corporation or any subsidiary unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonableness. The Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7 of

Article Il are reasonable in the context of the nature of the Corporation’s business and the competitive injuries
likely to be sustained by the Corporation if the Grantee were to violate such obligations. The Grantee further
acknowledges that this Agreement is made in consideration of, and is adequately supported by the agreement of
the Corporation to perform its obligations under this Agreement and by other consideration, which the Grantee

acknowledges constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consideration.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law . The Corporation shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable

federal and state securities laws.

2. Dilution and Other Adjustments . The Committee shall make such adjustments in the RSUs covered

by this Agreement as such Committee in its sole discretion, exercised in good faith, may determine is equitably required
to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of the Grantee that otherwise would result from (a) any stock dividend,
stock split, combination of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the Corporation, or (b) any

merger, consolidation, spin-off, reorganization, partial or complete




liquidation or other distribution of assets, or issuance of warrants or other rights to purchase securities, or (c) any other
corporate transaction or event having an effect similar to any of the foregoing. In the event of any such transaction or
event, the Committee may provide in substitution for this award of RSUs such alternative consideration as it may in good
faith determine to be equitable under the circumstances and may require in connection therewith the surrender of this
award of RSUs so replaced.

3. Continuous Employment . For purposes of this Agreement, the continuous employment of the

Grantee with the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deemed to have been interrupted, and the Grantee shall not be
deemed to have ceased to be an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, by reason of the transfer of his
employment among the Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of absence approved by the Board.

4. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate Employment . The grant of the RSUs to the Grantee is

a voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any
future awards. The grant of the RSUs and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other
compensation for purposes of any severance pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing in
this Agreement will give the Grantee any right to continue employment with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the
case may be, or interfere in any way with the right of the Corporation or a Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the
Grantee at any time.

5. Relation to Other Benefits . Any economic or other benefit to the Grantee under this Agreement or

the Plan shall not be taken into account in determining any benefits to which the Grantee may be entitled under any
profit-sharing, retirement or other benefit or compensation plan maintained by the Corporation or a Subsidiary and shall
not affect the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life insurance plan covering

employees of the Corporation or a Subsidiary.




6. Information . Information about the Grantee and the Grantee’s patrticipation in the Plan may be
collected, recorded and held, used and disclosed for any purpose related to the administration of the Plan. The Grantee
understands that such processing of this information may need to be carried out by the Corporation and its Subsidiaries
and by third party administrators whether such persons are located within the Grantee’s country or elsewhere, including
the United States of America. The Grantee consents to the processing of information relating to the Grantee and the
Grantee’s participation in the Plan in any one or more of the ways referred to above.

7. Amendments . Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement

to the extent that the amendment is applicable hereto; provided , however , that no amendment shall adversely affect the

rights of the Grantee under this Agreement without the Grantee’s consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitation
requiring the consent of a Grantee to certain amendments shall not apply to any amendment that is deemed necessary
by the Corporation to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

8. Severability . In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated
for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from
the other provisions hereof, and the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

9. Governing Law . This agreement is made under, and shall be construed in accordance with, the

internal substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the Code . To the extent applicable, it is intended that this

Agreement and the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, so that the income inclusion provisions
of Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantee. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a

manner consistent with




this intent. Reference to Section 409A of the Code is to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and will also include any regulations or any other formal guidance promulgated with respect to such Section
by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.

11. Relation to Severance Agreement . Section 2(d) of Article Il hereof shall supersede the provisions

of any Severance Agreement between the Grantee and the Corporation, in effect at the Date of Grant, providing for
earlier vesting of the RSUs granted hereby in the event of a Change in Control.
The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the award granted pursuant to this Agreement on the terms and

conditions set forth herein.

Dated: ___

Grantee
Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation at Mayfield Heights, Ohio as of this day of
, 2013.

MATERION CORPORATION

By

[NAME]
[TITLE]



Exhibit 10ab
MATERION CORPORATION

Restricted Stock Units Agreement (Stock  -Settled)

WHEREAS, , (the “Grantee”) is an employee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio corporation
(the “Corporation”) or a Subsidiary; and

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the form hereof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
a resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporation that was duly
adopted on February 6, 2013.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Corporation’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the
Corporation hereby confirms to the Grantee the grant, effective on February __, 2013 (the “Date of Grant”), of
Restricted Stock Units (as defined in the Plan) (“RSUs”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the

following additional terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions:
Article |

DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial capital letters that are defined in the Plan shall have the meanings

assigned to them in the Plan when used herein with initial capital letters.
ARTICLE Il

CERTAIN TERMS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

1. RSUs Not Transferable . The RSUs covered by the Agreement shall not be transferable other than

by will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution prior to payment.

2. Vesting and Payment of RSUs .

(@) General . Subject to the provisions of Sections 2(b), 2(c) and 2(d) of this Article I, all of the RSUs

covered by this Agreement shall become nonforfeitable if the




Grantee shall have remained in the continuous employ of the Corporation or a Subsidiary for three years from the
Date of Grant and shall be payable by the issuance of Common Shares to the Grantee on such date.

(b) Death or Disability . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2(a) of this Article I, all of the RSUs

covered by this Agreement shall immediately become nonforfeitable and shall be immediately payable if the
Grantee dies or becomes permanently disabled (as hereinafter defined) while in the employ of the Corporation or
a Subsidiary during the three-year period from the Date of Grant. The Grantee shall be considered to have
become permanently disabled if the Grantee has suffered a permanent disability within the meaning of the long-
term disability plan in effect for, or applicable to, the Grantee and is “disabled” within the meaning of Section
409A(a)(2)(C) of the Code.
(c) Retirement.
() If the Grantee should Retire (as hereinafter defined) one year or more after the Date of Grant,
notwithstanding the requirement of continuous employment contained in Section 2(a) of this Article Il, the
RSUs covered by this Agreement shall continue to vest and shall become payable three years from the
Date of Grant, provided that the RSUs shall be paid on any earlier date when payment would otherwise
have been made under Section 2 of this Article Il if the Grantee had continued employment through such
date.
(i)  If the Grantee should Retire less than one year from the Date of Grant, the RSUs covered by
this Agreement shall be forfeited, unless the Committee determines that such RSUs will continue to vest

and become nonforfeitable three years from the Date of Grant.




(iif)

“Retire” shall mean the Grantee’s retirement from the Corporation or a Subsidiary at (A) age

65 or older or (B) at age 55 or older with 10 or more years of continuous employment with the Corporation

or a Subsidiary.

(d) Change in Control .

(i)

Notwithstanding Section 2(a) of this Article Il above, the RSUs granted hereby shall

immediately become nonforfeitable and payable if at any time during the employment of the Grantee and

prior to the end of the three-year vesting period:

(A)

(B)

a Change in Control shall occur after the Date of Grant; and

within two years following the Change in Control the Grantee’'s employment with the
Corporation or a Subsidiary is terminated by the Grantee as a Termination for Good Cause
(as defined in Section 2(f) of this Article) or the Grantee is terminated by the Corporation
other than as a Termination for Cause (as defined in Section 2(e) of this Article II). If the
Change in Control constitutes a “change in control” for purposes of Section 409A of the
Code and if the Grantee incurs a “separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A of
the Code within two years following such Change in Control, payment for any RSUs which
are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture will be made upon the Grantee’s

separation from service, provided however , that if at such time the Grantee is a “specified

employee” as determined pursuant to the identification methodology adopted by the
Corporation in compliance with Section 409A of the Code, the date of payment for the

RSUs shall be the first business day of the




seventh month after the date of the Grantee’s separation from service (or if earlier the
Grantee’s death). If payment is not made pursuant to the preceding sentence because the
Change in Control does not constitute a “change-in-control” for purposes of Section 409A
of the Code, then payment shall be made at the earliest date that payment otherwise would
have been made under Section 2 of this Article Il if no Change in Control had occurred,
assuming continued employment through such date.

(i)  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2(d) to the contrary, in connection with a Business
Combination, the result of which is that the Outstanding Corporation Voting Stock is exchanged for or
becomes exchangeable for securities of another entity, cash or a combination thereof, if the entity
resulting from such Business Combination does not assume the RSUs evidenced hereby and the
Corporation’s obligations hereunder, or replace the RSUs evidenced hereby with a substantially
equivalent security of the entity resulting from such Business Combination, then the RSUs evidenced
hereby shall become nonforfeitable as of immediately prior to such Business Combination. Payment for
any RSUs which are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture will be upon the Change in

Control; provided , however , if the Change in Control does not constitute a “change in control” for

purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the Code, then payment for the RSUs will be made upon the date
that payment otherwise would have been made under Section 2 of this Article Il if no Change in Control

had occurred, assuming continued employment through such date.




(e) “Termination for Cause” means a termination of Grantee’s employment by the Corporation for
“Cause” (as defined in Section 7(f) of this Article I1).

(H  “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean the Grantee’s termination of the Grantee’s employment
with the Corporation or a Subsidiary as a result of the occurrence of any of the following:

() achange in the Grantee’s principal location of employment that is greater than 50 miles from
its location as of the date hereof without the Grantee’s consent; provided, however, that the Grantee
hereby acknowledges that the Grantee may be required to engage in travel in connection with the
performance of the Grantee’s duties hereunder and that such travel shall not constitute a change in the
Grantee’s principal location of employment for purposes hereof;

(i)  a material diminution in the Grantee’s base compensation;

(i)  achange in the Grantee’s position with the Corporation without the Grantee’s consent such
that there is a material diminution in the Grantee’s authority, duties or responsibilities; or

(iv)  any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Corporation of the
agreement under which the Grantee provides services.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grantee’s termination of the Grantee’s employment with the Corporation as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall not constitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless (A) the Grantee gives
the Corporation written notice of such occurrence within 90 days of such occurrence and such occurrence is not cured
by the Corporation within 30 days of the date on which such written notice is received by the Corporation and (B) the

Grantee actually terminates his or her employment with the Corporation prior to the 365th day following such occurrence.




3. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs . Except as otherwise provided for in Section 2 of Article lll,

payment for the RSUs shall be made in form of the Common Shares at the time the RSUs vest and become
nonforfeitable or otherwise become payable in accordance with Section 2 of this Article Il. To the extent that the
Corporation is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes in connection with the delivery of Common
Shares to the Grantee or any other person under this Agreement, the number of Common Shares to be delivered to the
Grantee or such other person shall be reduced (based on the Market Value per Share ) as of the date the RSUs are
reduced) to provide for the taxes required to be withheld, with any fractional shares that would otherwise be delivered
being rounded up to the next nearest whole share. The Committee may, at its discretion, adopt any alternative method of
providing for taxes required to be withheld.

4. Forfeiture of RSUs . The RSUs shall be forfeited, except as otherwise provided in Section 2(b), 2(c)

or 2(d) of this Article Il above, if the Grantee ceases to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiary prior to three
years from the Date of Grant.

5. Dividend Equivalents . From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (a) the time when the

RSUs vest and become nonforfeitable and payable in accordance with Section 2 of this Article 1l or (b) the time when the
Grantee’s right to receive Common Shares in payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 4 of this
Article Il, on the date that the Corporation pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Shares generally, the
Grantee shall be entitled to a number of additional whole RSUs determined by dividing (i) the product of (A) the dollar
amount of the cash dividend paid per Common Share on such date and (B) the total number of RSUs (including dividend
equivalents paid thereon) previously credited to the Grantee as of such date, by (ii) the Market Value per Share on such

date. Such dividend equivalents (if any) shall be subject to the same terms and conditions and




shall be paid or forfeited in the same manner and at the same time as the RSUs to which the dividend equivalents were
credited.

6. Effect of Detrimental Activity . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Grantee, either

during employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary or within one year after termination of such employment, shall
engage in any Detrimental Activity, (as hereinafter defined) and the Board shall so find, the Grantee shall:

(@) Forfeit all RSUs held by the Grantee.

(b) Return to the Corporation all Common Shares that the Grantee has not disposed of that were paid
out pursuant to this Agreement within a period of one year prior to the date of the commencement of such
Detrimental Activity.

(c) With respect to any Common Shares that the Grantee has disposed of that were paid out pursuant
to this Agreement within a period of one year prior to the date of the commencement of such Detrimental Activity,
pay to the Corporation in cash the value of such Common Shares on the date such Common Shares were paid
out.

(d) To the extent that the amounts referred to above in Section 6(b) and 6(c) of this Article Il are not
paid to the Corporation, the Corporation may set off the amounts so payable to it against any amounts that may
be owing from time to time by the Corporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whether as wages, deferred
compensation or vacation pay or in the form of any other benefit or for any other reason, except that no setoff
shall be permitted against any amount that constitutes “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section
409A of the Code.

7. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Detrimental Activity" shall include:

(@ (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of the Section entitled "Competitive Activity; Confidentiality;

Nonsolicitation" in the Severance Agreement




between the Corporation and the Grantee, if such agreement is in effect at the date hereof, or in violation of any
corresponding provision in any other agreement between the Corporation and the Grantee in effect on the date
hereof providing for the payment of severance compensation; or
(vi)  If no such severance agreement is in effect as of the date hereof or if a severance
agreement does not contain a Section corresponding to "Competitive Activity; Confidentiality;
Nonsolicitation":

(A) Competitive Activity During Employment. Competing with the Corporation anywhere within

the United States during the term of the Grantee's employment, including, without limitation:

()  entering into or engaging in any business which competes with the business of the
Corporation;

(I soliciting customers, business, patronage or orders for, or selling, any products or
services in competition with, or for any business that competes with, the business of the
Corporation;

(1 diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away any customers, business, patronage or
orders of the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

(IV)  promoting or assisting, financially or otherwise, any person, firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity engaged in any business which competes with the
business of the Corporation.

(B) Following Termination. For a period of one year following the Grantee's termination date:




() entering into or engaging in any business which competes with the Corporation's
business within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafter defined);

(I soliciting customers, business, patronage or orders for, or selling, any products or
services in competition with, or for any business, wherever located, that competes with, the
Corporation's business within the Restricted Territory;

(1) diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away any customers, business, patronage or
orders of the Corporation within the Restricted Territory, or attempting to do so; or

(IV)  promoting or assisting, financially or otherwise, any person, firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity engaged in any business which competes with the
Corporation's business within the Restricted Territory.

For the purposes of Sections 7(a)(ii)(A) and (B) above, inclusive, but without limitation thereof, the
Grantee will be in violation thereof if the Grantee engages in any or all of the activities set forth
therein directly as an individual on the Grantee's own account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consultant, officer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or as a stockholder of any corporation in which the
Grantee or the Grantee's spouse, child or parent owns, directly or indirectly, individually or in the
aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock.

(C) "The Corporation." For the purposes of this Section 7(a)(ii) of Article Il, the "Corporation"

shall include any and all direct and indirect




subsidiaries, parents, and affiliated, or related companies of the Corporation for which the Grantee
worked or had responsibility at the time of termination of the Grantee's employment and at any time
during the two year period prior to such termination.

(D) "The Corporation's Business." For the purposes of this Section 7 of Article Il inclusive, the

Corporation's business is defined to be the manufacture, marketing and sale of high performance
engineered materials serving the consumer electronics, industrial components and commercial
aerospace, defense and science, medical, energy, automotive electronics, telecommunications
infrastructure and appliance markets, as further described in any and all manufacturing, marketing and
sales manuals and materials of the Corporation as the same may be altered, amended, supplemented or
otherwise changed from time to time, or of any other products or services substantially similar to or readily
substitutable for any such described products and services.

(E) "Restricted Territory." For the purposes of Section 7(a)(ii)(B) of Article II, the Restricted

Territory shall be defined as and limited to:
()  the geographic area(s) within a one hundred mile radius of any and all of the
Corporation’s location(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to which the Grantee was
assigned or had any responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at the time of termination of the
Grantee's employment and at any time during the two-year period prior to such termination; and
(I all of the specific customer accounts, whether within or outside of the geographic
area described in (I) above, with which the Grantee had any contact or for which the Grantee had

any responsibility




(either direct or supervisory) at the time of termination of the Grantee's employment and at any

time during the two-year period prior to such termination.

(F) Extension. If it shall be judicially determined that the Grantee has violated any of the
Grantee's obligations under Section 7(a)(ii)(B) of Article Il, then the period applicable to each obligation
that the Grantee shall have been determined to have violated shall automatically be extended by a period
of time equal in length to the period during which such violation(s) occurred.

(b)  Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental Activity

shall also include directly or indirectly at any time soliciting or inducing or attempting to solicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(s) or consultant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its parents, or its
other subsidiaries or affiliated or related companies to terminate their employment, representation or other
association with the Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsidiary or affiliated or related companies.

(c) Eurther Covenants. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article I, Detrimental Activity

shall also include:
() directly or indirectly, at any time during or after the Grantee's employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminating, making available or, except in the course of performing
the Grantee's duties of employment, using any trade secrets or confidential business and technical
information of the Corporation or its customers or vendors, including without limitation as to when or how
the Grantee may have acquired such information. Such confidential information shall include, without
limitation, the Corporation's unique selling, manufacturing and servicing methods and business

techniques,




training, service and business manuals, promotional materials, training courses and other training and
instructional materials, vendor and product information, customer and prospective customer lists, other
customer and prospective customer information and other business information. The Grantee specifically
acknowledges that all such confidential information, whether reduced to writing, maintained on any form
of electronic media, or maintained in the Grantee's mind or memory and whether compiled by the
Corporation, and/or the Grantee, derives independent economic value from not being readily known to or
ascertainable by proper means by others who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use, that
reasonable efforts have been made by the Corporation to maintain the secrecy of such information, that
such information is the sole property of the Corporation and that any retention and use of such information
by the Grantee during the Grantee's employment with the Corporation (except in the course of performing
the Grantee's duties and obligations to the Corporation) or after the termination of the Grantee's
employment shall constitute a misappropriation of the Corporation's trade secrets.

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee's employment with the Corporation, for any reason, the
Grantee's failure to return to the Corporation, in good condition, all property of the Corporation, including
without limitation, the originals and all copies of any materials which contain, reflect, summarize, describe,
analyze or refer or relate to any items of information listed in Section 7(c)(i) of Article Il of this Agreement.

(d) Discoveries and Inventions. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include the failure or refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Corporation, its successors,

assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee's




rights to any discoveries, inventions and improvements, whether patentable or not, made, conceived or
suggested, either solely or jointly with others, by the Grantee while in the Corporation's employ, whether in the
course of the Grantee's employment with the use of the Corporation's time, material or facilities or that is in any
way within or related to the existing or contemplated scope of the Corporation's business. Any discovery,
invention or improvement relating to any subject matter with which the Corporation was concerned during the
Grantee's employment and made, conceived or suggested by the Grantee, either solely or jointly with others,
within one year following termination of the Grantee's employment under this Agreement or any successor
agreements shall be irrebuttably presumed to have been so made, conceived or suggested in the course of such
employment with the use of the Corporation's time, materials or facilities. Upon request by the Corporation with
respect to any such discoveries, inventions or improvements, the Grantee will execute and deliver to the
Corporation, at any time during or after the Grantee's employment, all appropriate documents for use in applying
for, obtaining and maintaining such domestic and foreign patents as the Corporation may desire, and all proper
assignments therefor, when so requested, at the expense of the Corporation, but without further or additional
consideration.

(e) Work Made For Hire. Except as otherwise provided in Section 7(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corporation's rights in any or all work papers, reports, documentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and masters therefore, prototypes and other materials (hereinafter,
"items"), including without limitation, any and all such items generated and maintained on any form of electronic
media, generated by Grantee during the Grantee's employment with the Corporation. The Grantee acknowledges
that, to the extent permitted by law, all such items shall be considered a "work made for hire" and that ownership

of any and all copyrights in any




and all such items shall belong to the Corporation. The item will recognize the Corporation as the copyright
owner, will contain all proper copyright notices, e.g., "(creation date) [Corporation’s Name], All Rights Reserved,"
and will be in condition to be registered or otherwise placed in compliance with registration or other statutory
requirements throughout the world.

() Termination for Cause. Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(i) of Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results in termination for Cause. For the purposes of this Section, "Cause"
shall mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involving fraud, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securities laws in connection with his duties or in the course of his
employment with the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation;

(i) committed intentional wrongful damage to property of the Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of secret processes or confidential information of
the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation;
and any such act shall have been demonstrably and materially harmful to the Corporation.

(g) Other Injurious Conduct. Detrimental Activity shall also include any action contributing to a

restatement of the Corporation’s financials if this award of RSUs to the Grantee is favorably affected by such
restatement as provided under Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any national securities exchange or national

securities association on which the Common Shares may be traded, and any other conduct or act




determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejudicial to any significant interest of the Corporation or any
subsidiary unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonableness. The Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee's obligations under this Section 7 of

Article Il are reasonable in the context of the nature of the Corporation’s business and the competitive injuries
likely to be sustained by the Corporation if the Grantee were to violate such obligations. The Grantee further
acknowledges that this Agreement is made in consideration of, and is adequately supported by the agreement of
the Corporation to perform its obligations under this Agreement and by other consideration, which the Grantee

acknowledges constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consideration.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law . The Corporation shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable

federal and state securities laws.

2. Dilution and Other Adjustments . The Committee shall make such adjustments in the RSUs covered

by this Agreement as such Committee in its sole discretion, exercised in good faith, may determine is equitably required
to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of the Grantee that otherwise would result from (a) any stock dividend,

stock split, combination of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the Corporation, or (b) any
merger, consolidation, spin-off, reorganization, partial or complete liquidation or other distribution of assets, or issuance
of warrants or other rights to purchase securities, or (c) any other corporate transaction or event having an effect similar

to any of the foregoing. In the event of any such transaction or event, the Committee may provide in




substitution for this award of RSUs such alternative consideration as it may in good faith determine to be equitable under
the circumstances and may require in connection therewith the surrender of this award of RSUs so replaced.

3. Continuous Employment . For purposes of this Agreement, the continuous employment of the

Grantee with the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deemed to have been interrupted, and the Grantee shall not be
deemed to have ceased to be an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, by reason of the transfer of his
employment among the Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of absence approved by the Board.

4. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate Employment . The grant of the RSUs to the Grantee is

a voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any
future awards. The grant of the RSUs and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other
compensation for purposes of any severance pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing in
this Agreement will give the Grantee any right to continue employment with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the
case may be, or interfere in any way with the right of the Corporation or a Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the
Grantee at any time.

5. Relation to Other Benefits . Any economic or other benefit to the Grantee under this Agreement or

the Plan shall not be taken into account in determining any benefits to which the Grantee may be entitled under any
profit-sharing, retirement or other benefit or compensation plan maintained by the Corporation or a Subsidiary and shall
not affect the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life insurance plan covering
employees of the Corporation or a Subsidiary.

6. Information . Information about the Grantee and the Grantee’s patrticipation in the Plan may be
collected, recorded and held, used and disclosed for any purpose related to the administration of the Plan. The Grantee

understands that such




processing of this information may need to be carried out by the Corporation and its Subsidiaries and by third party
administrators whether such persons are located within the Grantee’s country or elsewhere, including the United States
of America. The Grantee consents to the processing of information relating to the Grantee and the Grantee’s
participation in the Plan in any one or more of the ways referred to above.

7. Amendments . Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement

to the extent that the amendment is applicable hereto; provided , however , that no amendment shall adversely affect the

rights of the Grantee under this Agreement without the Grantee’s consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitation
requiring the consent of a Grantee to certain amendments shall not apply to any amendment that is deemed necessary
by the Corporation to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

8. Severability . In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated
for any reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from
the other provisions hereof, and the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

9. Governing Law . This agreement is made under, and shall be construed in accordance with, the

internal substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the Code . To the extent applicable, it is intended that this

Agreement and the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, so that the income inclusion provisions
of Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantee. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a
manner consistent with this intent. Reference to Section 409A of the Code is to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986, as amended, and will also include any regulations or any other formal guidance




promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.

11. Relation to Severance Agreement . Section 2(d) of Article Il hereof shall supersede the provisions

of any Severance Agreement between the Grantee and the Corporation, in effect at the Date of Grant, providing for
earlier vesting of the RSUs granted hereby in the event of a Change in Control.
The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the award granted pursuant to this Agreement on the terms and

conditions set forth herein.

Dated:

Grantee
Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation at Mayfield Heights, Ohio as of this day of
, 2013.

MATERION CORPORATION

By
[NAME]
[TITLE]



Exhibit 10ae
MATERION CORPORATION

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement

WHEREAS, (the “Grantee”) ieraployee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio

corporation (the “Corporation”), or a Subsidiarpda

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the foemeof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Catte®”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporatithat was duly
adopted on March 5, 2013.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Materion Corporafi006 Stock Incentive Plan (As Amended and
Restated as of May 4, 2011) (the “Plan”), and suttiethe terms and conditions thereof and the deand conditions
hereinafter set forth, the Corporation hereby aamgito the Grantee the grant of (1) a targeted rurob
performance-based Restricted Stock Units to beedaihat all, on the basis of the achievementefgortion of the
Management Objectives measured by ROIC goals dtinméerformance Period (as defined below) (thel@RO
PRSUs"), and (2) a targeted number of pedace-based Restricted Stock Units to be earhatall, on the
basis of the achievement of the portion of the M@naent Objectives measured by RTSR goals duringéinrmance
Period (the “RTSR PRSUSs” and, together with the RBRSUs, the “PRSUSs"), effective on March __, 2(h8 “Date
of Grant). Subject to the attainment of the Manag@n®bjectives described in Section 3 of Articlefithis Agreement
and the Statement of Management Objectives as aginy the Compensation Committee with respedied®RSUs on
the Date of Grant (the “Statement of ManagemeneQbjes”), the Grantee may earn from 0% and 200%e&ROIC

PRSUs and from 0% and 200% of the RTSR PRSUs.




ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial capital lettehat are defined in the Plan shall have the meaning
assigned to them in the Plan, and the followingtamdl terms, when used herein with initial capiédters, shall have
the following meanings:

1. “Committee Determination Date” means the dalieveng the end of the Performance Period on which
the Committee determines the level of attainmerthefManagement Objectives for the PerformanceoBeri

2. “Management Objectives” means the thresholdetaand maximum goals established by the
Committee for the Performance Period with respebtioth ROIC and RTSR as described in the Stateofent
Management Objectives. No adjustment of the Manage@bjectives shall be permitted in respect of BRBUS
granted to the Participant if at the Date of Glambr she is, or is determined by the Committdmetbkely to become, a
“covered employee” within the meaning of Sectio2(6) of the Code (or any successor provision) dhsadjustment
would result in the loss of an otherwise availabiemption under Section 162(m) of the Code.

3. “Performance Period” means the three-year perimdmencing January 1, 2013 and ending on
December 31, 2015.

4. “Relative Total Shareholder Return” or “RTSR’sithe meaning as set forth in the Statement of
Management Objectives.

5. “Return on Invested Capital” or “ROIC” has theaning as set forth in the Statement of Management

Objectives.

ARTICLE I
CERTAIN TERMS OF PRSUS




1. Payment of PRSUsThe PRSUs covered by this Agreement shall bequayable to the Grantee if they

become nonforfeitable in accordance with Sectigrs 8 or 6 of Article Il.

2. PRSUs Norrransferable The PRSUs covered by this Agreement and anyesténerein may be

transferred or assigned only by will or pursuanti® laws of descent and distribution prior to pawpbtherefor.

3. Normal Vesting of PRSUsSubject to the terms and conditions of Sectiqrisahd 6 of Article Il, the

Grantee’s right to receive a cash payment for téRPRSUs and/or Common Shares (and possibly apaasghent) for
the RTSR PRSUs, as applicable, shall become naitfaiofe with respect to (a) 0% to 200% of the RGRSUs on the
basis of the achievement of the portion of the M@naent Objectives measured by ROIC goals durindg#dréormance
Period, and (b) 0% and 200% of the RTSR PRSUs@bhdkis of the achievement of the portion of the&fgment
Objectives measured by RTSR goals during the Redgnce Period, in each case as set forth in therSésit of
Management Objectives. Except as otherwise provigeein, the Grantegright to receive a cash payment for the R
PRSUs and/or Common Shares (and possibly a cashepd)yfor the RTSR PRSUS, as applicable, is coahhgpon his
or her remaining in the continuous employ of thenpany or a Subsidiary until the end of the PerfaroeaPeriod.

4. Effect of Termination due to Death or Disabilitiotwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 ofiéle I,

100% of the PRSUs shall immediately become nontatite and payable at the time described in Se&iohArticle II
if the Grantee dies or becomes permanently disaklel@ in the employ of the Corporation or a Sulzsig before the

Committee Determination Date. The Grantee shafldmsidered to have become permanently




disabled if the Grantee has suffered a permansability within the meaning of the long-term didapiplan in effect
for, or applicable to, the Grantee and is “disabieithin the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) oétlode.

5. Effect of Termination due to Retiremeritiotwithstanding the continuous employment pr@nsof Section

3 of Article Il above, but subject to the provissoof Section 6 of Article Il below, if the Granteseat the time of such
termination (a) at least age 65 or (b) at leastzgand has completed at least 10 years of cont;xamployment with
the Corporation or a Subsidiary, the PRSUs covbyetthis Agreement shall continue to be eligibldézome
nonforfeitable in accordance with Section 3 of thiticle Il (and payable in accordance with Sectiaof Article 1) as if
the Grantee continued to be employed until theadride Performance Period.

6. Change in Contral Notwithstanding Sections 3 and 5 of Article Ibabk, the following alternative

nonforfeitability provisions will apply to the PRSUh the event of a Change in Control occurringratie Date of Grant

and prior to the PRSUs becoming nonforfeitablecicoadance with Section 3 of Article II:

€) Upon the Change in Control, 100% of the PR3i3dl ¥ecome nonforfeitable and payable in
accordance with Section 8 of Article II, excepthe extent that an award meeting the requiremdrgction 6(b) of
Article 1l (a “Replacement Award”) is provided the Grantee in accordance with Section 6(b) of Aatitto replace or
adjust the award of PRSUs covered by this Agreeifteat'‘Replaced Award”).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacemerdard” means an award (i) of the same type
(e.g., performance-based restricted stock units) aR#maced Award, (ii) that has a value at leastaktpthe value of

the Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly




traded equity securities of the Corporation ositscessor in the Change in Control or anotheryethidt is affiliated witt
the Corporation or its successor following the QGeaim Control, (iv) if the Grantee holding the Regg#d Award is
subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Ctiaetax consequences of which to such Grantee uheé&ode are not
less favorable to such Grantee than the tax coesegs of the Replaced Award, and (v) the otherdema conditions
of which are not less favorable to the Granteeihglthe Replaced Award than the terms and conditairihe Replaced
Award (including the provisions that would applytire event of a subsequent Change in Control). pldRement Awar
may be granted only to the extent it does not téisuhe Replaced Award or Replacement Award fgilim comply with
or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. WitHouiting the generality of the foregoing, the Regment Award
may take the form of a continuation of the Repla&edrd if the requirements of the two precedingteroes are
satisfied. The determination of whether the condgiof this Section 6(b) of Article Il are satisfi@ill be made by the
Committee, as constituted immediately before thar@le in Control, in its sole discretion.

(c) If, upon receiving a Replacement Award, therBa’s employment with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary (or any of their successors) (as applicahe “Successor”) is terminated by the Graatea Termination for
Good Cause or if the Grantee is terminated by tlee&ssor other than as a Termination for Causennatiperiod of two
years after the Change in Control, 100% of the &=sphent Award will become nonforfeitable and pagaibl
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il with respaxthe performance-based restricted stock uoiered thereby.

(d) “Termination for Cause” means a terminatiorGoéntee’s employment by the Successor for

“Cause” (as defined in Section 10(f) of Article.ll)




(e) “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean therBa’s termination of the Grantee’s

employment with the Successor as a result of tharoence of any of the following:
0] a change in the Grantee’s principal locatioreofployment that is greater than 50 miles

from such location as of the date of this Agreenwatiiout the Grantee’s consent; providdtbwever,

that the Grantee hereby acknowledges that the & anay be required to engage in travel in connectio
with the performance of the Granteeluties hereunder and that such travel shallomdtitute a change
the Grantee’s principal location of employmentgarposes hereof;

(i) a material diminution in the Grantee’s basenpensation;

(iii) a change in the Grantee’s position with the&essor without the Grantee’s consent
such that there is a material diminution in ther@ea’s authority, duties or responsibilities; or

(iv) any other action or inaction that constituéenaterial breach by the Successor of the

agreement, if any, under which the Grantee provsaegices to the Successor or its subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grar’'s termination of the Grantee’s employment with $wecessor as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall naistitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless {#8 Grantee gives
the Successor written notice of such occurrenceinvl0 days of such occurrence and such occuriienca cured by
the Successor within 30 days of the date on which svritten notice is received by the Successor(Bjdhe Grantee

actually terminates his or her employment with$uecessor prior to the 365th day following suchuo@nce.




) If a Replacement Award is provided, notwithstang anything in this Agreement to the
contrary, any outstanding PRSUs which at the tifrtt@ Change in Control are not subject to a “safsl risk of
forfeiture” (within the meaning of Section 409Atbe Code) will be deemed to be nonforfeitable attiime of such

Change in Control and will be paid as providedifoBection 8(b) of Article II.

7. Forfeiture of PRSUsThe PRSUs shall be forfeited to the extent tlagiytd become nonforfeitable as of the

Committee Determination Date and, except as otlsergiovided in Sections 4, 5 or 6 of Article lithe Grantee ceases
to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiagng time prior to such PRSUs becoming nonforfééaor to the
extent they are forfeited as provided in Sectiaf Article II.

8. Form and Time of Payment of PRSUs

(@) General Except as otherwise provided for in Section ZAicle 111, and subject to Section 7 and
Section 8(b) of Article Il, payment for the PRSWbiatthave become nonforfeitable in accordance wetttiéns 3, 4, 5 or
6 of Article Il shall be made in the form of (i)stafor up to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs, (ii) Commomrgk for up to
100% of the RTSR PRSUs, and (ii) cash for gredtan tL00% of the RTSR PRSUSs, in each case betweearjal,
2016 and March 15, 2016. Any cash payment for RBWBs will be equal to the Market Value per Shar¢hendate the
applicable PRSUs become nonforfeitable times tmelaur of such PRSUs, plus any dividend equivalecitsugd on
such PRSUs since the Date of Grant (as providemhbiel Section 11 of this Article I1). The cash pagmhwill be made
in U.S. Dollars, less applicable taxes.

(b) Alternative Payment EventdNotwithstanding Section 8(a) of Article Il, andcept as otherwise

provided for in Section 2 of Article Ill, to the ®nt that PRSUs have




become nonforfeitable, then any issuance of ther@@mShares underlying such PRSUs (or payment obdrer form
of consideration into which the Common Shares ugiohey such PRSUs may have been converted) andasty ¢
payment for the PRSUs will be made on an earligz da follows:
(i) Death. To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of Grantee’s death, payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantdeath;,
(i)  Disability . To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable endite the Grantee becomes
“disabled”within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) of thede, payment for the PRSUs will be m
on the date the Grantee becomes disabled,;

(i)  Separation from ServiceTo the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of

Grantee’s “separation from service” (determinedgoordance with Section 409A of the Code), payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grant&sparation from service”; provided, however, tifiat
the Grantee on the date of separation from seiviaé€'specified employee” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code determined using the ileation methodology selected by the Company from
time to time), payment for the PRSUs will be madéele first day of the seventh month after the déhte

Grantee’s separation from service or, if earlieg, date of Grantee’s death; and

(iv) Change of Contral To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable enddite of a Change in
Control, payment for the PRSUs will be made ondate of the Change of Control; provided, however,

that if such Change in Control




would not qualify as a permissible date of disttitw under Section 409A(a)(2)(A) of the Code, amel t
regulations thereunder, and where Section 409A®{ode applies to such distribution, payment vell
made on the date that would have otherwise appliesuant to Section 8.

9. Effect of Detrimental Activity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafryhe Grantee, either durir

employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary dhiwione year after termination of such employmehéll engage in
any Detrimental Activity (as defined in Sectionld€low) and the Board shall so find, then the Grastell, upon notice
of such finding:

(@) Forfeit all PRSUs held by the Grantee.

(b)  With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfatabt for which a cash payment was made
under this Agreement, pay to the Corporation irh@samount equal to the payment Grantee recedresith PRSUSs.

(c) With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfeitabt were paid pursuant to this Agreement,
return to the Corporation any and all Common Sheraswere paid out under this Agreement that then€@e has not
then disposed of.

(d)  With respect to any and all Common Shares sulgeittes PRSUs covered by this Agreement the
became nonforfeitable and were paid pursuant oAgreement within a period of one year prior t® date of the
commencement of such Detrimental Activity andtfi¢ Grantee has disposed of, pay to the Corpor#t®moash value
of such Common Shares on the date the respecti$&BPRere paid.

(e) To the extent that such amounts are not paid t€trporation, the Corporation may, to the extent

permitted by law, set off the amounts so payabiedgainst any




amounts that may be owing from time to time by@uweporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whedlserages,
deferred compensation or vacation pay or in thenfof any other benefit or for any other reasongexthat no such set-
off shall be permitted against any amount that tares “deferred compensation” within the meanofi@ection 409A

of the Code.

10. Definition of Detrimental Activity. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “DetritakActivity” shall

include:

(& (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of tisection entitled “Competitive Activity;
Confidentiality; Nonsolicitation” in the Severandgreement between the Corporation and the Graiitaey
such agreement is in effect on the date of thissAgrent, or in violation of any corresponding primnsn any
other agreement between the Corporation and thet&ran effect on the date of this Agreement priogjdor the
payment of severance compensation; or

(i) If no such severance agreement is in effect aseoflate of this Agreement, or if such
severance agreement does not contain a secticgsponding to “Competitive Activity; Confidentiality

Nonsolicitation”:

A. Competitive Activity During EmploymentCompeting with the Corporation anywhere withia th

United States during the term of the Grantee’s egrpent, including, without limitation:

() entering into or engaging in any business wigiempetes with the business of the
Corporation;

(2) soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business that cotegeawith, the business of the

Corporation;




(3)

(4)

diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtouners, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the business of

Corporation.

Following Termination For a period of one year following the Gransetermination dat

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

entering into or engaging in any business wigigmpetes with the Corporation’s business
within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafterided);

soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business, wherelegated, that competes with, the
Corporation’s business within the Restricted Teryit

diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtouners, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation within the Restricted Territory,attempting to do so; or

promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the Corporation’s

business within the Restricted Territory.




For the purposes of Sections 10(a)(ii)(A) and (B)\ee, inclusive, but without limitation thereof,
the Grantee will be in violation thereof if the @Gtae engages in any or all of the activities sehi
therein directly as an individual on the Grante®igy account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consutificer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or agoakholder of any corporation in which the Grar
or the Grantee’s spouse, child or parent ownsctiyrer indirectly, individually or in the
aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the antbhg stock.

The*Corporation” For the purposes of this Section 10(a)(ii) ofié&le II, the “Corporation” shall

include any and all direct and indirect subsidgrigarents, and affiliated, or related companies of
the Corporation for which the Grantee worked or resonsibility at the time of termination of
the Grantee’s employment and at any time duringwioeyear period prior to such termination.

The" Corporations Business’ For the purposes of this Section 10 of Artidlénclusive, the

Corporation’s business is defined to be the manufacmarketing and sale of high performance
engineered materials serving the consumer elecspmdustrial components and commercial
aerospace, defense and science, medical, enetgyative electronics, telecommunications
infrastructure and appliance markets as furthecrite=d in any and all manufacturing, marketing

and sales manuals and materials of the Corporaidhe same may be altered,




amended, supplemented or otherwise changed froettirtime, or of any other products or
services substantially similar to or readily sulossible for any such described products and

services.

“ Restricted Territory’ For the purposes of Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Alé II, the “Restricted

Territory” shall be defined as and limited to:

(5) the geographic area(s) within a one hundrdd radius of any and all Corporation location
(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to g¥ththe Grantee was assigned or had any
responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at time of termination of the Grantee’s
employment and at any time during the two-yearqgakepirior to such termination; and

(6) all of the specific customer accounts, whethignin or outside of the geographic area
described in (1) above, with which the Grantee dxaygcontact or for which the Grantee
had any responsibility (either direct or superw3at the time of termination of the
Grantee’s employment and at any time during theytear period prior to such terminatic

“ Extension” If it shall be judicially determined that the &1tee has violated any of the Grantee’s

obligations under Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Articledf this Agreement, then the period applicable to

each obligation that the Grantee shall have betarrdaed to have violated shall automatically be

extended by a period of time equal in length topg&eod during which such violation(s) occurred.




(b) Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include directly or indirectiBt any time soliciting or inducing or attemptingstalicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(grmudtant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its pé&sear its other
subsidiaries or affiliated or related companietetminate their employment, representation or odsspciation with the
Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsyda affiliated or related companies.

(c) Further CovenantsExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article 11, Detrimental

Activity shall also include:

(i) directly or indirectly, at any time during or aftéwe Grantee’s employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminatingking available or, except in the course of penfog
the Grantee's duties of employment, using any tsadeets or confidential business and technical
information of the Corporation or its customersendors, including without limitation as to whenhmw
the Grantee may have acquired such informationh $anfidential information shall include, without
limitation, the Corporation's unique selling, maaxtfiring and servicing methods and business teahs.
training, service and business manuals, promotimérials, training courses and other training and
instructional materials, vendor and product infotiorg customer and prospective customer lists,rothe
customer and prospective customer information daherdusiness information. The Grantee specifically
acknowledges that all such confidential informatiwhether reduced to writing, maintained on anyrfor
of electronic media, or maintained in the Grant@esd or memory and whether compiled by the

Corporation, and/or the Grantee, derives




independent economic value from not being readilgvikn to or ascertainable by proper means by others
who can obtain economic value from its disclosurase, that reasonable efforts have been madeeby th
Corporation to maintain the secrecy of such infdroma that such information is the sole propertyhedf
Corporation and that any retention and use of gafohmation by the Grantee during the Grantee’s
employment with the Corporation (except in the sewf performing the Grantee’s duties and obligtio
to the Corporation) or after the termination of @eantee’s employment shall constitute a
misappropriation of the Corporation’s trade secrets

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee’s employment with €Corporation, for any reason, the
Grantee’s failure to return to the Corporationgaod condition, all property of the Corporatiorgliding
without limitation, the originals and all copiesafy materials which contain, reflect, summarize,
describe, analyze or refer or relate to any itefsformation listed in Section 10(c)(i) of Articlé.

(d) Discoveries and Invention€Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(@f(Article I,

Detrimental Activity shall also include the failuoe refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Cotpmraits successors,
assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee’s rightmipdiscoveries, inventions and improvements, drgbatentable or
not, made, conceived or suggested, either solglyimty with others, by the Grantee while in ther@oration’s employ,
whether in the course of the Grantee’s employmeéttt thre use of the Corporation’s time, materiafamilities or that is
in any way within or related to the existing or tamplated scope of the Corporation’s business. disgovery,

invention or improvement relating to any subject




matter with which the Corporation was concernedrduthe Grantes employment and made, conceived or suggest
the Grantee, either solely or jointly with othesgthin one year following termination of the Graa®employment und:
this Agreement or any successor agreements shatelbettably presumed to have been so made, ceeater suggeste
in the course of such employment with the use efGbrporation’s time, materials or facilities. Upaguest by the
Corporation with respect to any such discoveriagmtions or improvements, the Grantee will exeauig deliver to the
Corporation, at any time during or after the Gratg@mployment, all appropriate documents for nsapplying for,
obtaining and maintaining such domestic and forgigtents as the Corporation may desire, and gliggrassignments
therefor, when so requested, at the expense @ahgoration, but without further or additional catesation.

(e) Work Made For Hire Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article II, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corgtion’s rights in any or all work papers, repodsgcumentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and makerefor, prototypes and other materials (heréenafitems”),
including without limitation, any and all such itergenerated and maintained on any form of electnm&dia, generated
by Grantee during the Grantee’s employment withGbeporation. The Grantee acknowledges that, t@xtent
permitted by law, all such items shall be considexéwork made for hire” and that ownership of amg all copyrights
in any and all such items shall belong to the Cafon. The item will recognize the Corporationtlas copyright owne
will contain all proper copyright notices,g., “(creation date) [Corporation Name], All Righteserved,” and will be in
condition to be registered or otherwise placedoimgliance with registration or other statutory reginents throughout

the world.




(H Termination for CauseExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(hgreement, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results termination for Cause. For the purposes of thigiSn 10, “Cause” shall
mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involvingird, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securitiaslan connection with his duties or in the courkbis
employment with the Corporation or any affiliatetbé Corporation;

(i)  committed intentional wrongful damage to propeltyh@ Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of segeicesses or confidential information of

the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation

and

any such act shall have been demonstrably and ialgtérarmful to the Corporation.

(g) Other Injurious ConductDetrimental Activity shall also include any otleanduct or act

determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejialito any significant interest of the Corporatmmany subsidiary
unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in anerame or she reasonably believed to be in or ppbsed to the best
interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonablenesd’he Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee’satiwigs under this Section 10 of

Article 1l of this Agreement are reasonable in toatext of the nature of the Corporation’s busireess the competitive
injuries likely to be sustained by the Corporatiithe Grantee were to violate such obligationse Grantee further

acknowledges that this Agreement is made in corgida of, and is adequately supported by the agesee of the




Corporation to perform its obligations under thigréement and by other consideration, which the Beaacknowledge
constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consitilena

11. Dividend Equivalents From and after the Date of Grant and until thdiexeof (a) the time when the

PRSUs become nonforfeitable and are paid in acooedaith Sections 3 and 8 of Article Il or (b) tirme when the
Grantee’s right to receive Common Shares (or Com8tares and cash) in payment of the PRSUs is tedf@
accordance with Section 7 of Article I, on theedtitat the Corporation pays a cash dividend (i) éamyolders of
Common Shares generally, the Grantee shall bdezhtd a number of additional whole PRSUs deterchimgdividing
(x) the product of (i) the dollar amount of the lealsvidend paid per Common Share on such dateigntd total
number of PRSUs (including dividend equivalentsighereon) previously credited to the Grantee asioh date, by (ii)
the Market Value per Share on such date. Suchetdaquivalents (if any) shall be earned in theesaranner, and sh
be paid in cash or forfeited at the same timehad?RSUs to which the dividend equivalents werditzé.

12. Relation to Severance Agreeme@ections 6 and 8 of Article Il shall supersedeglovisions of any

severance agreement between the Grantee and ther@won in effect on the Date of Grant that previdr earlier

vesting or payment of the PRSUs covered by thiségrent in the event of a Change in Control.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law The Corporation shall make reasonable effortotaply with all applicable federal

and state securities laws; providdmbwever, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agremt, the Corporation

shall not be obligated to issue any Common




Shares pursuant to this Agreement if the issudmeof would result in a violation of any such law.

2. Dilution and Other AdjustmentsSubject to the terms of the Plan, the Committex snake or provide for

such adjustments in the Management Objectives aRfR&Us covered by this Agreement as the Commiittés sole
discretion, exercised in good faith, may deternignequitably required to prevent dilution or enkmgent of the rights of
the Grantee that otherwise would result from (g) gtock dividend, stock split, combination of signmecapitalization ¢
other change in the capital structure of the Catian, or (b) any merger, consolidation, spin-sffin-out, split-off,
split-up, reorganization, partial or complete ldg@iion or other distribution of assets, or issuasfogarrants or other
rights to purchase securities, or (c) any othepaxate transaction or event having an effect simdany of the
foregoing. In the event of any such transactioavant, the Committee may provide in substitutiantifie PRSUs such
alternative consideration (including cash) as iynmagood faith determine to be equitable underdiheumstances and
may require in connection therewith the surrendéh® PRSUs so replaced.

3. Withholding Taxes If the Corporation or any Subsidiary shall beuiegd to withhold any federal, state,

local or foreign tax in connection with any issuaneesting or payment of Common Shares or othenges, or cash,
pursuant to this Agreement, the Grantee shall payax or make arrangements that are satisfaatahetCorporation or
such Subsidiary for the payment thereof. With respethe PRSUs, the Grantee may elect to satisbr any part of an
such withholding obligation by surrendering to @arporation or such Subsidiary a portion of the Gmn Shares
subject to the PRSUs that are covered by this Agee¢ and the Common Shares so surrendered by #a@rshall be

credited against any




such withholding obligation at the Market Value frare of such Common Shares on the date of sugnder. In no
event shall the Market Value per Share of the Com@lmares to be withheld and/or delivered pursuatitis Section 3
of Article Il to satisfy applicable withholding xas in connection with the benefit exceed the mimmamount of taxes
required to be withheld.

4. Continuous EmploymentFor purposes of this Agreement, the continuougleyment of the Grantee with

the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deetoddve been interrupted, and the Grantee shablexdeemed to ha
ceased to be an employee of the Corporation obai@ary, by reason of the transfer of his emplogh@nong the
Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of mbs@pproved by the Board.

5. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate EmplopteThe grant of the PRSUs covered by this

Agreement to the Grantee is a voluntary, discratipmward being made on a one-time basis and & doeconstitute a
commitment to make any future awards. The gratih@PRSUs under this Agreement and any payments mad
hereunder will not be considered salary or othenmensation for purposes of any severance pay diasiallowance,
except as otherwise required by law. Nothing is thjreement will give the Grantee any right to awnt employment
with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the ¢aag be, or interfere in any way with the rightleé Corporation or a
Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grart any time.

6. Information. Information about the Grantee and the Granteg‘8gpation in the Plan may be collected,
recorded and held, used and disclosed for any parpgated to the administration of the Plan. Then@e understands

that such processing of this information may neellet carried out by the Corporation and its Subsiel and by third

party




administrators whether such persons are locatddniite Grantee’s country or elsewhere, includhmgWnited States of
America. The Grantee consents to the processingaination relating to the Grantee and the Grdatparticipation in
the Plan in any one or more of the ways referreabtove.

7. Amendments Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed tolzereendment to this Agreement to the

extent that the amendment is applicable heretwiged, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect thesigh

of the Grantee under this Agreement without then@eis consent ( providedhowever, that the Grantee’s consent shall

not be required to an amendment that is deemedsageby the Corporation to comply with Section4@39 the Code).

8. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisidnthis Agreement shall be invalidated for any
reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, argvgion so invalidated shall be deemed to be sépafeom the other
provisions hereof, and the remaining provisiongbgshall continue to be valid and fully enforcesabl

9. Governing Law This agreement is made under, and shall be emttn accordance with, the internal

substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the CodE€o the extent applicable, it is intended thas thgreement ar

the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 408Ahe Code, so that the income inclusion provisiof Section
409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantdes Agreement and the Plan shall be administeredmanner
consistent with this intent. Reference to Sectid8Alof the Code is to Section 409A of the IntedfRalenue Code of

1986, as amended, and will also include any prapydsenporary or final regulations, or any




other guidance promulgated with respect to sucti®@eby the U.S. Department of the Treasury orlttternal Revenue
Service.

11. Subject to Clawback PolicyNotwithstanding anything in this Agreement to tdoatrary, subject to any

contrary determination by the Committee, the PR&w®red by this Agreement are subject to the temasprovisions
of the Corporation’s clawback policies as may beffect from time to time to the extent provided émder such

policies.
[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]




The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the awavdsed by this Performance-Based Restricted Stock

Units Agreement on the terms and conditions sé¢ foerein.

Dated:___

Grantee

Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Cartpmr at Cleveland, Ohio as of this day of

March, 2013.
MATERION CORPORATION

By

Michael C.
Hasychak

Vice President,
Treasurer and Secretary




Statement of Management Objectives

This Statement of Management Objectives appli¢gse@erformance-based Restricted Stock Units gilantéhe
Grantee on the Date of Grant and applies with i@dpehe Performance-Based Restricted Stock gteement
between the Company and the Grantee (thAgréeement’). Capitalized terms used in the Agreement thatreot
specifically defined in this Statement of Managet@hbjectives have the meanings assigned to theheirgreement ¢
in the Plan, as applicable.

Section 1.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Definitions For purposes here

“Peer Group” means, of a benchmark group of 20 entities, tmes of which are attached hereto as
Annex A, those entities that remain in the Peer Groud #secend of the Performance Period after
application of the Peer Group Adjustment Protocol.

“ Peer Group Adjustment Protocdlmeans: (i) if an entity listed in Annex fles for bankruptcy and/:
liquidation, is operating under bankruptcy protecti or is delisted from its primary stock exche
because it fails to meet the exchange listing reguent, then such entity will not remain in the
Group and RTSR for the Performance Period will dlewdated as if such entity had never been a me
of the Peer Group; (ii) if, as of the last datetlod Performance Period, an entity listed in Annexnd
longer exists as a business entity for any reasloar dhan under subsection (iii) below, then suctity
will not remain in the Peer Group and RTSR for Begformance Period will be calculated as if sudity
had never been a member of the Peer Group; anddjiipurposes of this Statement of Managel
Objectives, for each of the entities listed in Axre, such entity shall be deemed to include any ssc
to all or substantially all of the primary businedsuch entity, whether or not the same legakygrdi en:
of the Performance Period.

“ Relative Total Shareholder Returhor * RTSR” means the percentile rank of the Corporation’sal’o
Shareholder Return among the Total Shareholderfetf all members of the Peer Group, ranked in
descending order, at the end of the Performanded&ercentile will be calculated using the Miafis
Excel Percentile Function method.

“Return on Invested Capitdl or “* ROIC " means the Corporation’s 2015 annual operatindjtdvefore
tax divided by the sum of averages of monthly skemnh debt, long-term debt and equity for 2015hwit
the term “equity” excluding the items within oth@ymprehensive income (namely, pension valuation
adjustment, derivative valuation adjustment andctiraulative translation adjustment). The monthly
averages described in the immediately precedingesea will be computed using the values from
December 31, 2014 and each month in 2015.

“Total Shareholder Returri means, with respect to each of the Common Sreardghe common stock
of each of the members of the Peer Group, a ratet@m




reflecting stock price appreciation, plus the restment of dividends in additional shares of stérdm

the beginning of the Performance Period througtetiteof the Performance Period. For purposes of
calculating Total Shareholder Return for each ef@mpany and the members of the Peer Group, the
beginning stock price will be based on the avedgging stock price for the 30 calendar days
immediately preceding January 1, 2013 on the graigtock exchange on which the stock then trade
the ending stock price will be based on the avecdmgng stock price for the 30 calendar days
immediately preceding January 1, 2016 on the graigtock exchange on which the stock then trades.

Section zPerformance Matrices

From 0% to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs will be earnesktdaon achievement of the portion of the Management
Objectives measured by ROIC goals during the Padorce Period, and from 0% to 200% of the RTSR PREIUbe
earned based on achievement of the portion of theagement Objectives measured by RTSR goals dilréng
Performance Period, in each case as follows:

Performance Level Return on Invested Capital ROIC PRSUs Earne:
Below Threshold Below 11.25% 0%
Threshold 11.25% 25%
Target 13.50% 100%
Maximum 15.75% or greater 200%
Performance Level Relative Total Shareholder Return RTSR PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Ranked below 25ercentile 0%
Threshold Ranked at Z5percentile 50%
Target Ranked at 30percentile 100%
Maximum Ranked at or above 8(ercentile 200%

Section 3.

(@)

Number of PRSUs Earnet. Following the Performance Period, on the Commietermination Date, the
Committee shall determine whether and to what éxkengoals relating to the Management Objectives
have been satisfied for the Performance Periocshall determine the number of PRSUs that shall
become nonforfeitable hereunder and under the Aggaeon the basis of the following:

Below ThresholdIf, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the Performance Peri
falls below the threshold level, as set forth ia Berformance Matrices, no ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable and (ii) RTSR for the Performancei®falls below the threshold level, as set fartlhe
Performance Matrices, no RTSR PRSUs shall becomforisitable.




(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(f)

Threshold If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period eqt
the threshold level, as set forth in the Perforreavatrices, 25% of the ROIC PRSUs (rounded down to
the nearest whole number of ROIC PRSUSs) shall beaoonforfeitable, and (i) RTSR for the
Performance Period equals the threshold levekt®egh in the Performance Matrices, 50% of theSRT
PRSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole numbRT8R PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable.

Between Threshold and Targdt, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the threshold levelshess than the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 25%@0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the threshold
level, but is less than the target level, as s¢hfo the Performance Matrices, a percentage 180%
and 100% (determined on the basis of straightsiiaghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBUW) shall become nonforfeitable.

Target If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period equals
target level, as set forth in the Performance Mas;i 100% of the ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable, and (ii) RTSR for the Performanegi®d equals the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, 100% of the RTSR PRSUs bealbme nonforfeitable.

Between Target and Maximurif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the target level, besssthan the maximum level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 10092G0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the target level,
but is less than the maximum level, as set fortinénPerformance Matrices, a percentage betwee¥h 100
and 200% (determined on the basis of straightriia¢ghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

Equals or Exceeds Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period equals or exceeds the maximeh ks set forth in the Performance Matrices, 200%
of the ROIC PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable, @h& TSR for the Performance Period equals or
exceeds the maximum level, as set forth in theoPadnce Matrices, 200% of the RTSR PRSUs shall
become nonforfeitable.




Before all or any portion of any Qualified Performsa-Based Award of PRSUs shall become nonforfeitabl
paid in accordance with this Statement of Managé®éjectives or the Agreement, the Committee sletitrmine in
writing that the Management Objectives have beénsfeal.




Annex A

Peer Group
Company Name Ticker Symbol

[I-VI Incorporated VI
Atmel Corporation ATML
Cabot Corporation CBT
Castle, A. M. Castle
Coherent Inc. COHR
CTS Corporation CTS
Entegris Incorporated ENTG
Ferro Corporation FOE
Haynes International Inc. HAYN
Integrated Device Tech Inc. IDTI
Kemet Corporation KEM
Kraton Performance Polymers Inc. KRA
Minerals Technologies Inc. MTX
OM Group Inc. OMG
PolyOne Corporation POL
Quaker Chemical Corporation KWR
RF Micro Devices Inc. RFMD
Rogers Corporation ROG
RTI International Metals Inc. RTI
Skyworks Solutions Inc. SWKS




Exhibit 10ad
MATERION CORPORATION

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement

WHEREAS, (the “Grantee”) ieraployee of Materion Corporation, an Ohio

corporation (the “Corporation”), or a Subsidiarpda

WHEREAS, the execution of an agreement in the foemeof (this “Agreement”) has been authorized by
resolution of the Compensation Committee (the “Catte®”) of the Board of Directors of the Corporatithat was duly
adopted on March 5, 2013.

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Materion Corporafi006 Stock Incentive Plan (As Amended and
Restated as of May 4, 2011) (the “Plan”), and suttiethe terms and conditions thereof and the deand conditions
hereinafter set forth, the Corporation hereby aamgito the Grantee the grant of (1) a targeted rurob
performance-based Restricted Stock Units to beedaihat all, on the basis of the achievementefgortion of the
Management Objectives measured by ROIC goals dtineméerformance Period (as defined below) (thel@RO
PRSUs”) and (2) a targeted number of pedace-based Restricted Stock Units to be earnatlaif, on the
basis of the achievement of the portion of the M@naent Objectives measured by RTSR goals duringéinrmance
Period (the “RTSR PRSUSs” and, together with the RBRSUs, the “PRSUSs"), effective on March ___, 2(0h8 “Date
of Grant). Subject to the attainment of the Manag@n®bjectives described in Section 3 of Articlefithis Agreement
and the Statement of Management Objectives as agpiny the Compensation Committee with respedied®RSUs on
the Date of Grant (the “Statement of ManagemeneQbjes”), the Grantee may earn from 0% to 200%hefROIC

PRSUs and from 0% to 200% of the RTSR PRSUSs.




ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

All terms used herein with initial capital lettehat are defined in the Plan shall have the meaning

assigned to them in the Plan, and the followingtaathl terms, when used herein with initial capiédters, shall have
the following meanings:

1. *“Committee Determination Date” means the date foihg the end of the Performance Period on which the
Committee determines the level of attainment ofMfamagement Objectives for the Performance Period.

2. “Management Objectives” means the threshold, teagdtmaximum goals established by the Committee fo
the Performance Period with respect to both ROICRIASR as described in the Statement of Manage@igettives.
No adjustment of the Management Objectives shalidseitted in respect of any PRSUs granted to #rédipant if at
the Date of Grant he or she is, or is determinethbyCommittee to be likely to become, a “coveneghlyee”within the
meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (or any sssxmeprovision) if such adjustment would resulthe loss of an
otherwise available exemption under Section 162(inthe Code.

3. “Performance Period” means the three-year periodneencing January 1, 2013 and ending on December
31, 2015.

4. “Relative Total Shareholder Return” or “RTSR” hhs tneaning as set forth in the Statement of
Management Objectives.

5. “Return on Invested Capital” or “ROIC” has the megnas set forth in the Statement of Management

Objectives.




ARTICLE Il

CERTAIN TERMS OF PRSUS

1. Payment of PRSUsThe PRSUs covered by this Agreement shall bequagable to the Grantee if they

become nonforfeitable in accordance with Sectigrs 8 or 6 of Article |Il.

2. PRSUs Norrlransferable The PRSUs covered by this Agreement and anyesténerein may be

transferred or assigned only by will or pursuanti® laws of descent and distribution prior to papbtherefor.

3. Normal Vesting of PRSUsSubiject to the terms and conditions of Sectigrisahd 6 of Article 11, the

Grantee’s right to receive a cash payment for REPs shall become nonforfeitable with respect J@#a to 200% of
the ROIC PRSUs on the basis of the achievemeteoportion of the Management Objectives measureR@WC goals
during the Performance Period, and (b) from 0%0@°%2 of the RTSR PRSUs on the basis of the achientaf¢he
portion of the Management Objectives measured b$mRgoals during the Performance Period, in each asset forth
in the Statement of Management Objectives. Exceptlaerwise provided herein, the Grantee’s righeteive any cash
payment for the PRSUs is contingent upon his ordémaining in the continuous employ of the Compang Subsidiar
until the end of the Performance Period.

4. Effect of Termination due to Death or Disabilitiotwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 ofiéle I,

100% of the PRSUs shall immediately become nontatite and payable at the time described in Se&iohArticle II
if the Grantee dies or becomes permanently disaklel@ in the employ of the Corporation or a Sulzsig before the

Committee Determination Date. The Grantee shafldmsidered to have become permanently




disabled if the Grantee has suffered a permansability within the meaning of the long-term didapiplan in effect
for, or applicable to, the Grantee and is “disabieithin the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) oétlode.

5. Effect of Termination due to Retiremeritiotwithstanding the continuous employment pr@nsof Section

3 of Article Il above, but subject to the provissoof Section 6 of Article Il below, if the Granteseat the time of such
termination (a) at least age 65 or (b) at leastzgand has completed at least 10 years of cont;xamployment with
the Corporation or a Subsidiary, the PRSUs covbyetthis Agreement shall continue to be eligibldézome
nonforfeitable in accordance with Section 3 of thiticle Il (and payable in accordance with Sectiaof Article 1) as if
the Grantee continued to be employed until theadride Performance Period.

6. Change in Contral Notwithstanding Sections 3 and 5 of Article Ibabk, the following alternative

nonforfeitability provisions will apply to the PRSUh the event of a Change in Control occurringratie Date of Grant
and prior to the PRSUs becoming nonforfeitablecicoadance with Section 3 of Article II:

(@) Upon the Change in Control, 100% of the PRSUs &ledbme nonforfeitable and payable in
accordance with Section 8 of Article II, excepthe extent that an award meeting the requiremdrection 6(b) of
Article Il (a “Replacement Award”) is provided the Grantee in accordance with Section 6(b) of Aatitto replace or
adjust the award of PRSUs covered by this Agreeifteat'‘Replaced Award”).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacement Aivareans an award (i) of the same typed.,
performance-based restricted stock units) as tipdaBed Award, (i) that has a value at least etuéte value of the

Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly




traded equity securities of the Corporation osutscessor in the Change in Control or anotheryethigt is affiliated witt
the Corporation or its successor following the Gjeim Control, (iv) if the Grantee holding the Reqdd Award is
subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Ctaetax consequences of which to such Grantee uheé&ode are not
less favorable to such Grantee than the tax coesegs of the Replaced Award, and (v) the otherdema conditions
of which are not less favorable to the Granteeihglthe Replaced Award than the terms and conditadrihe Replaced
Award (including the provisions that would applytire event of a subsequent Change in Control). pldRement Awar
may be granted only to the extent it does not téisuhe Replaced Award or Replacement Award fgilim comply with
or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. WitHouaiting the generality of the foregoing, the Raggment Award
may take the form of a continuation of the Repla&edrd if the requirements of the two precedingteroes are
satisfied. The determination of whether the condsiof this Section 6(b) of Article 1l are satisfieill be made by the
Committee, as constituted immediately before thar@le in Control, in its sole discretion.

(c) If, upon receiving a Replacement Award, the Graatemployment with the Corporation or a
Subsidiary (or any of their successors) (as applécahe “Successor”) is terminated by the Graatea Termination for
Good Cause or if the Grantee is terminated by tlee&ssor other than as a Termination for Causennatiperiod of two
years after the Change in Control, 100% of the &=gyhent Award will become nonforfeitable and pagaivl
accordance with Section 8 of Article Il with respaxthe performance-based restricted stock uoiered thereby.

(d) “Termination for Cause” means a termination of Geais employment by the Successor for

“Cause” (as defined in Section 10(f) of Article.ll)




(e) “Termination for Good Cause” shall mean the Grastemination of the Grantee’s employment

with the Successor as a result of the occurreneaypbf the following:
(i) achange in the Grantee’s principal location of layipent that is greater than 50 miles from

such location as of the date of this Agreementauithhe Grantee’s consent; providdwbwever, that the

Grantee hereby acknowledges that the Grantee meggbéed to engage in travel in connection with th
performance of the Grantee’s duties hereundertzatdstich travel shall not constitute a changeen th
Grantee’s principal location of employment for ppsps hereof;
(i)  a material diminution in the Grantee’s base comaens;
(i) achange in the Grantee’s position with the Suaresghout the Grantee’s consent such
that there is a material diminution in the Grantesithority, duties or responsibilities; or
(iv) any other action or inaction that constitutes aemialtbreach by the Successor of the
agreement, if any, under which the Grantee provsaegices to the Successor or its subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Grar’s termination of the Grantee’s employment with $weccessor as a result of
the occurrence of any of the foregoing shall naistitute a “Termination for Good Cause” unless {#8 Grantee gives
the Successor written notice of such occurrenceinvl0 days of such occurrence and such occuriienca cured by
the Successor within 30 days of the date on which svritten notice is received by the Successor(Bjdhe Grantee

actually terminates his or her employment with$uecessor prior to the 365th day following suchuo@nce.




(N If a Replacement Award is provided, notwithstandamgthing in this Agreement to the contrary,
outstanding PRSUs which at the time of the Chandggantrol are not subject to a “substantial riskaofeiture” (within
the meaning of Section 409A of the Code) will berded to be nonforfeitable at the time of such CeangControl and
will be paid as provided for in Section 8(b) of iake II.

7. Forfeiture of PRSUsThe PRSUs shall be forfeited to the extent tlagiytd become nonforfeitable as of the

Committee Determination Date and, except as otlsergiovided in Sections 4, 5 or 6 of Article lithe Grantee ceases
to be employed by the Corporation or a Subsidiagng time prior to such PRSUs becoming nonforfdéaor to the
extent they are forfeited as provided in Sectiaf Brticle Il.

8. Form and Time of Payment of PRSUs

(@) General Except as otherwise provided for in Section Auicle 111, and subject to Section 7 and
Section 8(b) of Article Il, payment for the PRSWbiatthave become nonforfeitable in accordance wetttiéns 3, 4, 5 or
6 of Article Il shall be made in form of cash beemelanuary 1, 2016 and March 15, 2016. The caghegraywill be
equal to the Market Value per Share on the dat®B®Us become nonforfeitable times the numberadi 8IRSUs plus
any dividend equivalents accrued on such PRSUg sirecDate of Grant (as provided below in Sectiboflthis Article
I1). Payments will be made in U.S. Dollars, lesplagable taxes.

(b) Alternative Payment EventdNotwithstanding Section 8(a) of Article Il, andcept as otherwise

provided for in Section 2 of Article Ill, to the #nt that PRSUs have become nonforfeitable, thercdlsh payment for

the PRSUs will be made on an earlier date as fallow




(i) Death. To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erddite of Grantee’s death, payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Grantde&th;

(i)  Disability . To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite the Grantee becomes
“disabled”within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(C) of thede, payment for the PRSUs will be m
on the date the Grantee becomes disabled;

(i)  Separation from ServiceTo the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable erdidite of

Grantee’s “separation from service” (determineddnordance with Section 409A of the Code), payment
for the PRSUs will be made on the date of Granté&ssparation from service”; provided, however, tiat
the Grantee on the date of separation from seivia€'specified employee” (within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code determined using the ileation methodology selected by the Company from
time to time), payment for the PRSUs will be madédle first day of the seventh month after the déhte
Grantee’s separation from service or, if earlieg, date of Grantee’s death; and

(iv) Change of Contral To the extent that PRSUs are nonforfeitable enddite of a Change in

Control, payment for the PRSUs will be made ondhe of the Change of Control; provided, however,
that if such Change in Control would not qualifyaagermissible date of distribution under Sectio@At
(@)(2)(A) of the Code, and the regulations thereundnd where Section 409A of the Code appliesith s

distribution, payment will be made on the date thatild have otherwise applied pursuant to Section 8




9. Effect of Detrimental Activity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafryhe Grantee, either durir
employment by the Corporation or a Subsidiary dhiwione year after termination of such employmehall engage in
any Detrimental Activity (as defined in Sectionli€low) and the Board shall so find, then the Grasteall, upon notice
of such finding:

(@) Forfeit all PRSUs held by the Grantee.

(b)  With respect to any PRSUs that became nonforfetabtl for which payment was made under this
Agreement, pay to the Corporation in cash an ameguél to the payment Grantee received for such.BRS

(c) To the extent that such amounts are not paid t€trporation, the Corporation may, to the extent
permitted by law, set off the amounts so payabiedgainst any amounts that may be owing from timmgéme by the
Corporation or a Subsidiary to the Grantee, whedlsawages, deferred compensation or vacation piaytbe form of
any other benefit or for any other reason, exdegtho such seidff shall be permitted against any amount that Gtutes
“deferred compensation” within the meaning of Satd09A of the Code.

10. Definition of Detrimental Activity. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “DetritakActivity” shall

include:

(@ (1) Engaging in any activity in violation of tisection entitled “Competitive Activity;
Confidentiality; Nonsolicitation” in the Severandgreement between the Corporation and the Graiftary
such agreement is in effect on the date of thissAgrent, or in violation of any corresponding prmnsn any
other agreement between the Corporation and thet&ran effect on the date of this Agreement priogjdor the

payment of severance compensation; or




(v) If no such severance agreement is in effect alseoflate of this Agreement, or if such
severance agreement does not contain a sectiogsporrding to “Competitive Activity; Confidentiality
Nonsolicitation”:

A. Competitive Activity During EmploymentCompeting with the Corporation anywhere withia th

United States during the term of the Grantee’s egmpént, including, without limitation:

(2) entering into or engaging in any business Wwigiempetes with the business of the
Corporation;

(2) soliciting customers, business, patronageders for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business that cotepewith, the business of the
Corporation;

(3) diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtamers, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation or attempting to do so; or

4) promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the business of
Corporation.

B. Following Termination For a period of one year following the Gransetermination dat

() entering into or engaging in any business wigiempetes with the Corporation’s business

within the Restricted Territory (as hereinafteridefl);




(2) soliciting customers, business, patronage@ers for, or selling, any products or services
in competition with, or for any business, wherelegated, that competes with, the
Corporation’s business within the Restricted Teryit

(3) diverting, enticing or otherwise taking away angtamers, business, patronage or orde
the Corporation within the Restricted Territory,attempting to do so; or

(4) promoting or assisting, financially or othes@j any person, firm, association, partnership,
corporation or other entity engaged in any busimdssh competes with the Corporation’s
business within the Restricted Territory.

For the purposes of Sections 10(a)(ii)(A) and (B)\ee, inclusive, but without limitation thereof,

the Grantee will be in violation thereof if the Gtae engages in any or all of the activities sehi

therein directly as an individual on the Grante®mig account, or indirectly as a partner, joint
venturer, employee, agent, salesperson, consutiticer and/or director of any firm, association,
partnership, corporation or other entity, or asoakholder of any corporation in which the Grar
or the Grantee’s spouse, child or parent ownsctiyrer indirectly, individually or in the
aggregate, more than five percent (5%) of the antBhg stock.

The*Corporation” For the purposes of this Section 10(a)(ii) ofié&le I, the “Corporation” shall

include any and all direct and indirect subsidgrigarents, and affiliated, or related companies of

the Corporation for which




the Grantee worked or had responsibility at thestohtermination of the Grantee’s employment

and at any time during the two-year period priosdch termination.

The"Corporations Business’ For the purposes of this Section 10 of Artidlénklusive, the

Corporation’s business is defined to be the manufacmarketing and sale of high performance
engineered materials serving the consumer elecspimdustrial components and commercial
aerospace, defense and science, medical, enetgyative electronics, telecommunications
infrastructure and appliance markets as furthecrieesd in any and all manufacturing, marketing
and sales manuals and materials of the Corporatidhe same may be altered, amended,
supplemented or otherwise changed from time to,tonef any other products or services
substantially similar to or readily substitutabde &ny such described products and services.

“ Restricted Territory’ For the purposes of Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Alé II, the “Restricted

Territory” shall be defined as and limited to:

(1) the geographic area(s) within a one hundrdd radius of any and all Corporation location
(s) in, to, or for which the Grantee worked, to g¥hthe Grantee was assigned or had any
responsibility (either direct or supervisory) at time of termination of the Grantee’s

employment and at any time during the two-yearqgakepirior to such termination; and




(2) all of the specific customer accounts, whethignin or outside of the geographic area
described in (1) above, with which the Grantee dragcontact or for which the Grantee
had any responsibility (either direct or superw3a@t the time of termination of the
Grantee’s employment and at any time during theyrear period prior to such terminatit

F. “ Extension” If it shall be judicially determined that the &1tee has violated any of the Grantee’s
obligations under Section 10(a)(ii)(B) of Articledf this Agreement, then the period applicable to
each obligation that the Grantee shall have betrrdaed to have violated shall automatically be
extended by a period of time equal in length topg&eod during which such violation(s) occurred.

(b) Non-Solicitation. Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article I, Detrimental

Activity shall also include directly or indirectBt any time soliciting or inducing or attemptingstlicit or induce any
employee(s), sales representative(s), agent(9rmudtant(s) of the Corporation and/or of its pé&sear its other
subsidiaries or affiliated or related companietetminate their employment, representation or oéissociation with the
Corporation and/or its parent or its other subsyda affiliated or related companies.

(c) FEurther CovenantsExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article 1l, Detrimental

Activity shall also include:
(i) directly or indirectly, at any time during or aftéye Grantee’s employment with the
Corporation, disclosing, furnishing, disseminatingking available or, except in the course of panfog

the Grantee's duties of




employment, using any trade secrets or confidehtialness and technical information of the Corponat
or its customers or vendors, including without tettion as to when or how the Grantee may have eex
such information. Such confidential information kveclude, without limitation, the Corporation'sique
selling, manufacturing and servicing methods argirtass techniques, training, service and business
manuals, promotional materials, training coursabsather training and instructional materials, vanaiod
product information, customer and prospective qustolists, other customer and prospective customer
information and other business information. TherBa specifically acknowledges that all such
confidential information, whether reduced to wigtimaintained on any form of electronic media, or
maintained in the Grantee’s mind or memory and twretompiled by the Corporation, and/or the
Grantee, derives independent economic value franb@iag readily known to or ascertainable by proper
means by others who can obtain economic value fi®disclosure or use, that reasonable efforts have
been made by the Corporation to maintain the sgaksuch information, that such information is the
sole property of the Corporation and that any t&erand use of such information by the Granteendur
the Grantee’s employment with the Corporation (pkaethe course of performing the Grantee’s duties
and obligations to the Corporation) or after thenieation of the Grantee’s employment shall contita
misappropriation of the Corporation’s trade secrets

(i)  Upon termination of the Grantee’s employment with €Corporation, for any reason, the

Grantee’s failure to return to the Corporation, in




good condition, all property of the Corporatiorgluding without limitation, the originals and abgies of
any materials which contain, reflect, summarizescdbe, analyze or refer or relate to any items of
information listed in Section 10(c)(i) of Articlé. |

(d) Discoveries and InventionExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article II,

Detrimental Activity shall also include the failuoe refusal of the Grantee to assign to the Cotpmraits successors,
assigns or nominees, all of the Grantee’s rightmipdiscoveries, inventions and improvements, drgbatentable or
not, made, conceived or suggested, either solglyimtty with others, by the Grantee while in ther@oration’s employ,
whether in the course of the Grantee’s employmeéifit tve use of the Corporation’s time, materiafamilities or that is
in any way within or related to the existing or teamplated scope of the Corporation’s business. disgovery,
invention or improvement relating to any subjectterawith which the Corporation was concerned dytime Grantee’s
employment and made, conceived or suggested b@rduetee, either solely or jointly with others, viittone year
following termination of the Grantee’s employmenter this Agreement or any successor agreemeritdsha
irrebuttably presumed to have been so made, cosd@ivsuggested in the course of such employmehttixe use of th
Corporation’s time, materials or facilities. Up@ayuest by the Corporation with respect to any slistoveries,
inventions or improvements, the Grantee will exeard deliver to the Corporation, at any time dyonafter the
Grantee’s employment, all appropriate documentsigerin applying for, obtaining and maintaininglsdomestic and
foreign patents as the Corporation may desire giqtoper assignments therefor, when so requeatdte expense of

the Corporation, but without further or additiosahsideration.




(e) Work Made For Hire Except as otherwise provided in Section 10(af(Article Il, Detrimental

Activity shall also include violation of the Corgtion’s rights in any or all work papers, repodsgcumentation,
drawings, photographs, negatives, tapes and makerefor, prototypes and other materials (herésnafitems”),
including without limitation, any and all such itergenerated and maintained on any form of eleatnoidia, generated
by Grantee during the Grantee’s employment withGbeporation. The Grantee acknowledges that, t@xtent
permitted by law, all such items shall be considexéwork made for hire” and that ownership of amg all copyrights
in any and all such items shall belong to the Crafion. The item will recognize the Corporationtlas copyright owne
will contain all proper copyright notices,g., “(creation date) [Corporation Name], All Righteserved,” and will be in
condition to be registered or otherwise placedoimgliance with registration or other statutory riegnents throughout
the world.

() Termination for CauseExcept as otherwise provided in Section 10(a)f(hgreement, Detrimental

Activity shall also include activity that results termination for Cause. For the purposes of teigiSn 10, “Cause” shall
mean that, the Grantee shall have:

(i) been convicted of a criminal violation involvingird, embezzlement, theft or violation of
federal antitrust statutes or federal securitiaslan connection with his duties or in the courkis
employment with the Corporation or any affiliatetbé Corporation;

(i)  committed intentional wrongful damage to propeiftyhe@ Corporation or any affiliate of the
Corporation; or

(i)  committed intentional wrongful disclosure of segeicesses or confidential information of

the Corporation or any affiliate of the Corporation

and




any such act shall have been demonstrably and iadgtérarmful to the Corporation.

(g) Other Injurious ConductDetrimental Activity shall also include any otleenduct or act

determined to be injurious, detrimental or prejuaito any significant interest of the Corporatmmnany subsidiary
unless the Grantee acted in good faith and in anerame or she reasonably believed to be in or ppbsed to the best
interests of the Corporation.

(h) Reasonablenesdhe Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee’satiwigs under this Section 10 of

Article 1l of this Agreement are reasonable in toatext of the nature of the Corporation’s busireess the competitive
injuries likely to be sustained by the Corporatifotihe Grantee were to violate such obligationse Grantee further
acknowledges that this Agreement is made in corgid@ of, and is adequately supported by the ageee of the
Corporation to perform its obligations under thigréement and by other consideration, which the Beaacknowledge
constitutes good, valuable and sufficient consitilena

11. Dividend Equivalents From and after the Date of Grant and until thdiexeof (a) the time when the

PRSUs become nonforfeitable and are paid in acoosdwith Sections 3 and 8 of Article 1l or (b) tiirae when the
Grantees right to receive cash in payment of the PRSUWarfeited in accordance with Section 7 of Articledn the dat
that the Corporation pays a cash dividend (if dayjolders of Common Shares generally, the Grastia# be entitled to
a number of additional whole PRSUs determined kidatig (x) the product of (i) the dollar amounttbk cash dividend
paid per Common Share on such date and (i) tla noimber of PRSUs (including dividend equivalgyda&l thereon)
previously credited to the Grantee as of such dgtéij) the Market Value per Share on such datehlividend
equivalents (if any) shall be earned in the samermag and shall be paid in cash or forfeited atstree time, as the

PRSUs to which the dividend equivalents were ceeldit




12. Relation to Severance Agreemeections 6 and 8 of Article Il shall supersedeglovisions of any

severance agreement between the Grantee and ther&@awn in effect on the Date of Grant that previdr earlier

vesting or payment of the PRSUs covered by thisAgrent in the event of a Change in Control.
ARTICLE Il

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Compliance with Law The Corporation shall make reasonable effortotaply with all applicable federal
and state securities laws.

2. Dilution and Other AdjustmentsSubject to the terms of the Plan, the Committex snake or provide for

such adjustments in the Management Objectives aRfR&Us covered by this Agreement as the Commiittés sole
discretion, exercised in good faith, may deternignequitably required to prevent dilution or enkmgent of the rights of
the Grantee that otherwise would result from (g) gtock dividend, stock split, combination of signmecapitalization ¢
other change in the capital structure of the Cation, or (b) any merger, consolidation, spin-sffin-out, split-off,
split-up, reorganization, partial or complete ld@iion or other distribution of assets, or issuasfogarrants or other
rights to purchase securities, or (c) any othepaxate transaction or event having an effect simdany of the
foregoing. In the event of any such transactioavant, the Committee may provide in substitutiantifie PRSUs such
alternative consideration (including cash) as iynmagood faith determine to be equitable underdiheumstances and
may require in connection therewith the surrendéh® PRSUs so replaced.

3. Withholding Taxes If the Corporation or any Subsidiary shall beuiegd to withhold any federal, state,

local or foreign tax in connection with any issuaeesting or




payment of cash pursuant to this Agreement, that@eashall pay the tax or make arrangements thagadisfactory to
the Corporation or such Subsidiary for the payntieeteof.

4. Continuous EmploymentFor purposes of this Agreement, the continuougleyment of the Grantee with

the Corporation or a Subsidiary shall not be deetoddve been interrupted, and the Grantee shablexdeemed to ha
ceased to be an employee of the Corporation obai@ary, by reason of the transfer of his emplogth@nong the
Corporation and its Subsidiaries or a leave of mts@pproved by the Board.

5. No Employment Contract; Right to Terminate EmplopteThe grant of the PRSUs covered by this

Agreement to the Grantee is a voluntary, discratipmward being made on a one-time basis and & doeconstitute a
commitment to make any future awards. The gratih@PRSUs under this Agreement and any payments mad
hereunder will not be considered salary or othenmensation for purposes of any severance pay diasiallowance,
except as otherwise required by law. Nothing is thgreement will give the Grantee any right to aot employment
with the Corporation or any Subsidiary, as the e¢aag be, or interfere in any way with the rightteé¢ Corporation or a
Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grart any time.

6. Information. Information about the Grantee and the Granteg‘8gpation in the Plan may be collected,
recorded and held, used and disclosed for any parpgated to the administration of the Plan. Then@e understands
that such processing of this information may neebet carried out by the Corporation and its Subsigs and by third
party administrators whether such persons areddoaithin the Grantee’s country or elsewhere, iditlg the United

States of America. The Grantee consents to theepsireg of information




relating to the Grantee and the Grantee’s participan the Plan in any one or more of the wayemefd to above.
7. Amendments Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed tolzereendment to this Agreement to the

extent that the amendment is applicable heretwiged, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect thesigh

of the Grantee under this Agreement without then@eis consent_( providedhowever, that the Grantee’s consent shall

not be required to an amendment that is deemedsageby the Corporation to comply with SectionA@39 the Code).
8. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisiohnthis Agreement shall be invalidated for any
reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, argvmion so invalidated shall be deemed to be sépafeom the other

provisions hereof, and the remaining provisiongbgshall continue to be valid and fully enforcesabl

9. Governing Law This agreement is made under, and shall be emttn accordance with, the internal
substantive laws of the State of Ohio.

10. Compliance with Section 409A of the CodEo the extent applicable, it is intended thas thgreement ar

the Plan comply with the provisions of Section 408Ahe Code, so that the income inclusion provisiof Section
409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Grantdes Agreement and the Plan shall be administeredmanner
consistent with this intent. Reference to Sectid8Atof the Code is to Section 409A of the IntefRalvenue Code of
1986, as amended, and will also include any prapdsenporary or final regulations, or any otherdguce promulgated

with respect to such Section by the U.S. Departroétite Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.




11. Subject to Clawback PolicyNotwithstanding anything in this Agreement to tdoatrary, subject to any

contrary determination by the Committee, the PR&w®red by this Agreement are subject to the temasprovisions
of the Corporation’s clawback policies as may beffect from time to time to the extent provided émder such

policies.
[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]




The undersigned Grantee hereby accepts the awavdsed by this Performance-Based Restricted Stock

Units Agreement on the terms and conditions sé¢ foerein.

Dated:___

Grantee

Executed in the name of and on behalf of the Cartpmr at Cleveland, Ohio as of this day of

March, 2013.
MATERION CORPORATION

By _
Michael C.
Hasychak
Vice President,

Treasurer and Secretary




Statement of Management Objectives

This Statement of Management Objectives appli¢sd@erformance-based Restricted Stock Units gilantéhe
Grantee on the Date of Grant and applies with i@dpehe Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agteement
between the Company and the Grantee (thAgréeement’). Capitalized terms used in the Agreement thatreot
specifically defined in this Statement of Manageti@bjectives have the meanings assigned to theheikgreement ¢
in the Plan, as applicable.

Section 1.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Definitions For purposes here

“Peer Group” means, of a benchmark group of 20 entities, drmaes of which are attached hereto as
Annex A, those entities that remain in the Peer Groud &secend of the Performance Period after
application of the Peer Group Adjustment Protocol.

“ Peer Group Adjustment Protocdlmeans: (i) if an entity listed in Annex fles for bankruptcy and/:
liquidation, is operating under bankruptcy protecti or is delisted from its primary stock exche
because it fails to meet the exchange listing reguent, then such entity will not remain in the
Group and RTSR for the Performance Period will lewdated as if such entity had never been a me
of the Peer Group; (ii) if, as of the last datetlod Performance Period, an entity listed in Annexnd
longer exists as a business entity for any reasloar dhan under subsection (iii) below, then suctity
will not remain in the Peer Group and RTSR for Begformance Period will be calculated as if sudiitye
had never been a member of the Peer Group; anddjiipurposes of this Statement of Managel
Objectives, for each of the entities listed in Axre, such entity shall be deemed to include any ssc
to all or substantially all of the primary businedsuch entity, whether or not the same legakgrdit en
of the Performance Period.

“ Relative Total Shareholder Returhor * RTSR” means the percentile rank of the Corporation’sal’o
Shareholder Return among the Total Shareholderfetf all members of the Peer Group, ranked in
descending order, at the end of the Performanded&ercentile will be calculated using the Miarfis
Excel Percentile Function method.

“Return on Invested Capitdl or “* ROIC ” means the Corporation’s 2015 annual operatindjtdvefore
tax divided by the sum of averages of monthly stemnh debt, long-term debt and equity for 2015hwit
the term “equity” excluding the items within oth@mprehensive income (namely, pension valuation
adjustment, derivative valuation adjustment andctiraulative translation adjustment). The monthly
averages described in the immediately precedingsea will be computed using the values from
December 31, 2014 and each month in 2015.

“Total Shareholder Returri means, with respect to each of the Common Srerdghe common stock
of each of the members of the Peer Group, a ratet@n




reflecting stock price appreciation, plus the restment of dividends in additional shares of stérdm

the beginning of the Performance Period througtetiteof the Performance Period. For purposes of
calculating Total Shareholder Return for each ef@mpany and the members of the Peer Group, the
beginning stock price will be based on the avedgging stock price for the 30 calendar days
immediately preceding January 1, 2013 on the graigtock exchange on which the stock then trade
the ending stock price will be based on the avecdmgng stock price for the 30 calendar days
immediately preceding January 1, 2016 on the graigtock exchange on which the stock then trades.

Section zPerformance Matrices

From 0% to 200% of the ROIC PRSUs will be earnesktdaon achievement of the portion of the Management
Objectives measured by ROIC goals during the Padorce Period, and from 0% to 200% of the RTSR PREIUbe
earned based on achievement of the portion of theagement Objectives measured by RTSR goals dilréng
Performance Period, in each case as follows:

Performance Level Return on Invested Capital ROIC PRSUs Earne:
Below Threshold Below 11.25% 0%
Threshold 11.25% 25%
Target 13.50% 100%
Maximum 15.75% or greater 200%
Performance Level Relative Total Shareholder Return RTSR PRSUs Earne
Below Threshold Ranked below 25ercentile 0%
Threshold Ranked at Z5percentile 50%
Target Ranked at 30percentile 100%
Maximum Ranked at or above 8(ercentile 200%

Section 3.

(@)

Number of PRSUs Earnet. Following the Performance Period, on the Commietermination Date, the
Committee shall determine whether and to what éxkengoals relating to the Management Objectives
have been satisfied for the Performance Periocshall determine the number of PRSUs that shall
become nonforfeitable hereunder and under the Aggaeon the basis of the following:

Below ThresholdIf, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the Performance Peri
falls below the threshold level, as set forth ia Berformance Matrices, no ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable and (ii) RTSR for the Performancei®falls below the threshold level, as set fartlhe
Performance Matrices, no RTSR PRSUs shall becomforisitable.




(b)

()

(d)

(e)

(f)

Threshold If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period eqt
the threshold level, as set forth in the Perforreavatrices, 25% of the ROIC PRSUs (rounded down to
the nearest whole number of ROIC PRSUSs) shall beaoonforfeitable, and (i) RTSR for the
Performance Period equals the threshold levekt®egh in the Performance Matrices, 50% of theSRT
PRSUs (rounded down to the nearest whole numbRT8R PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable.

Between Threshold and Targdt, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the threshold levelshess than the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 25%@0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the threshold
level, but is less than the target level, as s¢hfo the Performance Matrices, a percentage 180%
and 100% (determined on the basis of straightsiiaghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBUW) shall become nonforfeitable.

Target If, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the Performance Period equals
target level, as set forth in the Performance Mas;i 100% of the ROIC PRSUs shall become
nonforfeitable, and (ii) RTSR for the Performanegi®d equals the target level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, 100% of the RTSR PRSUs bealbme nonforfeitable.

Between Target and Maximurif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period exceeds the target level, besssthan the maximum level, as set forth in the
Performance Matrices, a percentage between 10092G0% (determined on the basis of straight-line
mathematical interpolation) of the ROIC PRSUs (aethdown to the nearest whole number of ROIC
PRSUSs) shall become nonforfeitable, and (ii) RT8Rilie Performance Period exceeds the target level,
but is less than the maximum level, as set fortinénPerformance Matrices, a percentage betwee¥h 100
and 200% (determined on the basis of straightriia¢ghematical interpolation) of the RTSR PRSUs
(rounded down to the nearest whole number of RTRBW) shall become nonforfeitable.

Equals or Exceeds Maximunif, upon the conclusion of the Performance PerfgdROIC for the
Performance Period equals or exceeds the maximeh ks set forth in the Performance Matrices, 200%
of the ROIC PRSUs shall become nonforfeitable, @h& TSR for the Performance Period equals or
exceeds the maximum level, as set forth in theoPadnce Matrices, 200% of the RTSR PRSUs shall
become nonforfeitable.




Before all or any portion of any Qualified Performsa-Based Award of PRSUs shall become nonforfeitabl
paid in accordance with this Statement of Managé®éjectives or the Agreement, the Committee sletitrmine in
writing that the Management Objectives have beénsfeal.




Annex A

Peer Group
Company Name Ticker Symbol

[I-VI Incorporated V1
Atmel Corporation ATML
Cabot Corporation CBT
Castle, A. M. Castle
Coherent Inc. COHR
CTS Corporation CTS
Entegris Incorporated ENTG
Ferro Corporation FOE
Haynes International Inc. HAYN
Integrated Device Tech Inc. IDTI
Kemet Corporation KEM
Kraton Performance Polymers Inc. KRA
Minerals Technologies Inc. MTX
OM Group Inc. OMG
PolyOne Corporation POL
Quaker Chemical Corporation KWR
RF Micro Devices Inc. RFMD
Rogers Corporation ROG
RTI International Metals Inc. RTI
Skyworks Solutions Inc. SWKS




Exhibit 10al

AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO
MATERION CORPORATION
SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Materion Corporation, an Ohio corporation, heretgms this Amendment No. 1 to the Materion

Corporation Supplemental Retirement Benefit Plae (Plan").

Schedule | of the Plan is amended to provide #isariorm attached hereto.

The changes to the Plan by this amendment shalifeetive December 5, 2012.

* k% %

Executed this 24th day of January, 2013.

MATERION CORPORATION

By: /s/ Michael C. Hasychak
Title: Vice President, Treasurer & Secretary




Schedule |

Schedule of Participants, Offset Amounts, and $p&iediting Provisions

Participant Offset Amount Special Calculation Provisions
Michael D. Anderson $246,25!
Gregory R. Chemnitz $C
Stephen Freeman $496,30:
John D. Grampa $530,001
Michael C. Hasychak $212,98!
Richard J. Hipple $842,25I In addition to the Prevented Benefit determinedMior

Hipple pursuant to Section 2(j), an additional antou
shall be included in the amount payable to him unde
Section 4, determined as follows:

* Mr. Hipple's Prevented Benefit shall be determined
pursuant to Section 2(j).

e Such amount shall be divided by his number of Y
of Benefit Service under the Pension Plan.

» The resulting amount shall be multiplied by 5.

Donald G. Klimkowicz $140,41:
Alfonso T. Lubrano $358,92!
Walter G. Maxwell $86,16!
Richard W. Sager $291,73!

Daniel A. Skoch $943,12:



Exhibit 10bb
MATERION CORPORATION

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO THE
2006 NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR EQUITY PLAN
(AS AMENDED AND RESTATED AS OF MAY 4, 2011)

This First Amendment to the 2006 Non-employee DaeEquity Plan (As Amended and Restated as of ¥May
2011) (this “Amendment’) is made as of February 6, 2013 by the GovernamceOrganization Committee (the “
Committe€’) of the Board of Directors (theBoard”) of Materion Corporation, an Ohio corporationgthCompany”).
This Amendment is operationally effective as Jun20lL2 as described herein.

WHEREAS, on March 2, 2011, the Board approved almpted, subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the Company’s 2011 annual meetisiganeholders, the 2006 Non-employee Director fg¢lian (As
Amended and Restated as of May 4, 2011) (td@06 Director Plan’);

WHEREAS, on May 4, 2011, the Company’s shareholdpmoved the 2006 Director Plan;

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Company to amérd2006 Director Plan, operationally effective &dume 1,
2012, by the Amendment to revise the method ofitngddividend equivalents on Deferred Stock Uitits defined in
the 2006 Director Plan) credited to participant@unts under the 2006 Director Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Committee may amend the 2006 Direetan under Section 12 of the 2006 Director Plan to
make the change described above.

NOW, THEREFORE, the 2006 Director Plan is herebgaded by this Amendment as follows:

1. Amendment to Section 8(c) of the 2006 Director Plarsection 8(c) of the 2006 Director Plan is
hereby amended and restated in its entirety aswell

“Each Participant will be credited with dividendugeplents in an amount equal to the amount of ashc
dividends declared and paid by the Company on tirar@on Shares underlying the Deferred Stock Unithen
Participant’s account during the deferral periagctsdividend equivalents, which shall likewise bedited with
dividend equivalents, shall be deferred until thd ef the deferral period for the Deferred Stockt§with
respect to which the dividend equivalents wereitgddand shall be paid out in Common Shares.”




2. Miscellaneous Except as amended by this Amendment, the 2006 Dir&an shall remain unchanged and
in full force and effect. Capitalized terms used mot defined in this Amendment have the respectieanings ascribed
thereto in the 2006 Director Plan.



Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of Registrant

The Company has the following subsidiaries, alivbfch are wholly owned and included in the consatkd financial statements.

State or County of

Name of Subsidiary Incorporation
Aerospace Metal Composites Limited England
Materion Advanced Chemicals Inc. Wisconsin
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/NMetherlands BV Netherlands
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/Buzhou Ltd. China
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/icorp. New Mexico
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/lear East PTE Ltd. Singapore
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/iac. New York
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Ses/Bhanghai Co. Ltd. China
Materion Advanced Materials Technologies and Sessitaiwan Co. Ltd. Taiwan
Materion Brewster LLC New York
Materion Brush (Japan) Ltd. Japan
Materion Brush (Singapore) PTE Ltd. Singapore
Materion Brush GmbH Germany
Materion Brush Inc. Ohio
Materion Brush International Inc. Ohio
Materion Brush Ltd. England
Materion Ceramics Inc. Arizona
Materion Czech S.R.O. Czech Republic
Materion Ireland Limited Ireland
Materion Large Area Coatings LLC Delaware
Materion Natural Resources Inc. Utah
Materion Precision Optics (Korea) LLC Korea
Materion Precision Optics (Shanghai) Limited China
Materion Precision Optics (Japan) GK Japan
Materion Precision Optics (U.K.) Limited England
Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatingsiooation California
Materion Precision Optics and Thin Film Coatings.In Massachusetts
Materion Services Inc. Ohio
Materion Technical Materials Inc. Ohio
Materion Technologies Inc. Arizona



Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

We consent to the incorporation by reference infdllewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement Number 333-88994 omF88 dated May 24, 200
(2) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-74296 on Forr@ &ated November 30, 20!
3) Post-Effective Amendment Number 5 to RegigiraStatement Number 2-64080 on Forr8 8ated May 17, 200
4) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63355 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(5) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 33-28605 on Forr@ ated May 17, 200
(6) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63353 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(7 Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-63357 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(8) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 333-52141 on Forr@ &ated May 17, 200
(9) Post-Effective Amendment Number 1 to RegigiraStatement Number 2-90724 on Forr8 8ated May 17, 200
(20) Registration Statement Number 333-63353 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(11) Registration Statement Number 333-63355 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(12) Registration Statement Number 333-63357 amF®8 dated September 14, 19
(13) Registration Statement Number 333-52141 amF®8 dated May 5, 199
(14) Registration Statement Number 33-28605 omF88 dated May 5, 198
(15) Registration Statement Number 2-90724 on Fé8dated April 27, 198
(16) Post-Effective Amendment Number 3 to RegigtraStatement Number 2-64080 on Forr8 8ated April 22, 198
a7) Registration Statement Number 333-114147amFS3 dated July 1, 200
(18) Registration Statement Number 333-127130@mFS8 dated August 3, 20C
(29) Registration Statement Number 333-133428a@mFs8 dated April 20, 200
(20) Registration Statement Number 333-133429@mFs8 dated April 20, 200
(21) Registration Statement Number 333-145149@mFS8 dated August 6, 20C
(22) Registration Statement Number 333-173915armFS8 dated May 4, 201
(23) Registration Statement Number 333-173916a@mFsS8 dated May 4, 201
(24) Registration Statement Number 333-173917@mFS8 dated May 4, 2011; a
(25) Registration Statement Number 333-184723@mFS3 dated November 2, 20

of our report dated March 8, 2013, with respedht consolidated financial statements of MaterianpOration and subsidiaries and our re
dated March 8, 2013, with respect to the effectdasnof internal control over financial reportinghdéterion Corporation and subsidiaries t
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Mater Corporation and subsidiaries for the year eridecember 31, 2012.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 8, 2013



Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedersigned directors and officers of MATERION CORRPXRON, an Ohic
corporation (the “Corporation”hereby constitutes and appoints Richard J. Hippdan D. Grampa, Michael C. Hasychak and Miche
Solecki, and each of them, their true and lawftdrakey or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor them and in the
names, place and stead, to sign on their behalfd®ctor or officer, or both, as the case mayobéhe Corporation, an Annual Report pursi
to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangedk 1934 on Form 16¢ for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012,targign any and ¢
amendments to such Annual Report, and to file Hraes with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsonnection therewith, with t
Securities and Exchange Commission granting unitb &#orney or attorneys-ifact, and each of them, full power and authoritydto ant
perform each and every act and thing requisitereawtssary to be done in and about the premisdallyaso all intents and purposes as t
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying arahfirming all that said attorney or attorneysfarct or any of them or their substitute
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereuattheir hands as of the 6th day of February, 2013.

/sl RICHARD J. HIPPLE /sl WILLIAM R. ROBERTSON
Richard J. Hipple, Chairman of the Board, President William R. Robertson, Director
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl JOHN D. GRAMPA /s/  JOHN SHERWIN, JR.
John D. Grampa, Senior Vice President Johnv@hedr., Director
Finance and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s JOSEPH P. KEITHLEY /s/ CRAIG S. SHULAR

Joseph P. Keithley, Director Craig S. Shulare€or

/s/ VINOD M. KHILNANI /s/ DARLENE J. S. SOLOMON
Vinod M. Khilnani, Director Darlene J. S. Solom Director

/s/  WILLIAM B. LAWRENCE /s/ ROBERT B. TOTH

William B. Lawrence, Director Robert B. TothirEctor

/si  N. MOHAN REDDY /sl  GEOFFREY WILD

N. Mohan Reddy, Director Geoffrey Wild, Directo



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard J. Hipple, certify that:

1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f#aterion Corporation (the “registrant”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgt® under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cdher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfie periods presented in this report;

4) The registran’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesig procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéhav
a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedurks ttesigned under ¢

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared;

b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atawce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and presémtius report our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmal$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyethis report based «
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the stegmts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesff, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5) The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal @braver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmancial information
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Richard J. Hipple

Dated: March 8, 2013 Richard J. Hipple

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

[, John D. Grampa, certify that:

1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16f#aterion Corporation (the “registrant”);

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgt® under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cdher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfie periods presented in this report;

4) The registran’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesig procedures (.
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagti@as defined in Exchange Act Ru
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéhav
a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and procedurks ttesigned under ¢

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared;

b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atawce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSclosure controls and procedures and presémtius report our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contmal$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyethis report based «
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the stegmts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesff, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5) The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal @braver financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmancial information
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 8, 2013 /s/ John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedignoirso Section 906 of the Sarbari@dey Act of 2002, in connection with the filing die
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Materion Corporatitine “Company”)for the year ended December 31, 2012, as filed thighSecurities a1

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R@paach of the undersigned officers of the Compasitifies, that, to such offices’
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangedk 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m
780(d)), and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly @ets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgutdeghe Report.

Dated: March 8, 2013

/sl Richard J. Hipple

Richard J. Hipple

Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John D. Grampa

John D. Grampa

Senior Vice President Finance and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 95
Materion Corporation

Mine Safety Disclosure Pursuant to Section 1503(af the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act for the Fiscal Quarter Endel December 31, 2012

Materion Natural Resources Inc., a wholly ownedsgdibry, operates a beryllium mining complex in 8tate of Utah which is regulated
both the U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administrat{t™™miSHA”) and state regulatory agencies. We endeavor to cormdy mining and oth
operations in compliance with all applicable fedlestate and local laws and regulations. We presdotmation below regarding certain min
safety and health citations which MSHA has levigthwespect to our mining operations.

Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Raf@and Consumer Protection Act (“Section 1503(a@quires the Company to pres
certain information regarding mining safety inperiodic reports filed with the Securities and Exae Commission.

The following table reflects citations, orders aradices issued to Materion Natural Resources mdMBHA during the fiscal quarter enc
December 31, 2012 (the “Reporting Perio@dhd contains certain additional information as megl by Section 1503(a) and Item 104
Regulation S-K, including information regarding tnig-related fatalities, proposed assessments from M&hkthlegal actions (“Legal Actions”
before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Reviewn@ssion, an independent adjudicative agency thatiges administrative trial a
appellate review of legal disputes arising underNtine Act.

Included below is the information required by Sewrtl503(a) with respect to the beryllium mining gdex (MSHA Identification Numbe
4200706) for the Reporting Period:

(A) Total number of alleged violations of mandatoryltrear safety standards that could significantlg aabstantially
contribute to the cause and effect of a mine safehealth hazard under Section 104 of the Mineféictvhich Materion

Natural Resources Inc. received a citation from MSH 0
(B) Total number of orders issued under Section 10f(the Mine Act 0
©) Total number of citations and orders for allegedrammantable failure by Materion Natural Resouraes to comply with

mandatory health or safety standards under Setfid(d) of the Mine Act 0
(D) Total number of alleged flagrant violations undect®n 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act 0
(E) Total number of imminent danger orders issued uBeetion 107(a) of the Mine Act 0
(3] Total dollar value of proposed assessments from M8hter the Mine Act $0
(G) Total number of mining-related fatalities 0
H) Received notice from MSHA of a pattern of violasaimder Section 104(e) of the Mine Act No
() Received notice from MSHA of the potential to haveattern of violations under Section 104(e) ofittiee Act No
J) Total number of Legal Actions pending as of the ¢k of the Reporting Period 0
(K) Total number of Legal Actions instituted during fReporting Period 0
L) Total number of Legal Actions resolved during thepBrting Period 0



